






















Branch By-Law 5 

Duties of a Secretary of a Sub-Branch 

The Sub-Branch Secretary, must, amongst other things: 

(a) attend all meetings of the Sub-Branch;

Bylaw 5 -1 

(b) record or cause to be recorded accurate minutes of the proceedings of meetings;

(c) when required, furnish the Sub-Branch, the Chief Executive Officer or his
representative, with information from Sub-Branch records.

(d) prepare and sign all notices and other documents required by the rules of the Branch
or by the by-laws and directions of the Sub-Branch;

(e) give up to the president or to the Sub-Branch Committee, or to any authorised
committee, when requested so to do, all documents, monies, property belonging to the
Sub-Branch, and upon the Sub-Branch becoming defunct, and upon request, give up
to the Chief Executive Officer or his representative, to hold on behalf of veterans'
interests in the district, all documents, monies, property in his possession belonging to
the late Sub-Branch, and deliver such documents, monies and property to the
president, the Sub-Branch Committee, or to the Chief Executive Officer within twenty­
four hours of receiving a notice so to do;

(f) prepare all returns and Statements required by the Branch, and forward same to the
Chief Executive Officer forthwith;

(g) at the commencement of each Sub-Branch meeting draw the chairperson's attention to
the presence of any person not entitled to be present, and advise him of the
requirement of a quorum;

(h) under the direction of the president or the Sub-Branch Committee, conduct all
correspondence of the Sub-Branch;

(i) perform such other duties as the Sub-Branch Committee may from time to time
require; and

(j) be a signatory to cheques, or electronic funds transfer documents, drawn upon the
accounts of the Sub-Branch.

Vl.8-1 
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1. Definitions
In these Rules – 

 “Agency account”  The RSL Sub-Branch bank account acting as the agent for General 
Appeals Patriotic Fund   

“Agent” RSL Sub-Branch as Agent for General Appeals Patriotic Fund B86 
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“Agency Statement”  is a report where the Sub-Branch provides details of all income and 
expenditure occurring in the Agency bank account during the period 
of 1st January to 31st December   

“ANZAC Appeal 
Statement”   

is a record of all monies raised for ANZAC Appeal (including Gunfire 
Breakfast and Two-up), request of reimbursement of up to 50% and 
record of stock count   

“ACNC”  Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission 

“AGM” Annual General Meeting 

“ATO”  Australian Taxation Office 

“CAV”  Consumer Affairs Victoria 

“Dependent”   a person who relies on another, especially a family member, for 
financial support 

“Descendant”  someone who is related to a person, or to a family, such as a child or 
grandchild 

“DGR”   Deductible Gift Recipient 

“Financial Statement”  a Profit and Loss Statement or full set of Financial Statements 
(statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
statement of financial position, statement of changes in equity, 
statement of cash flows and notes to the financial statements) 

“RSL GAPF”  Returned & Services League of Australia (Victorian Branch) General 
Appeals Patriotic Fund B86 

“GST”  Goods and Services Tax 

“PBI” Public Benevolent Institution. A PBI is a particular type of charity that 
has additional tax benefits to those available to other charities  

“Poppy Appeal 
Statement”   

is a record of all monies raised for Poppy Appeal, request of 
reimbursement of up to 50% and record of stock count  

“Principal” Returned & Services League of Australia (Victorian Branch) Inc. as 
trustee of the RSL General Appeals Patriotic Fund B86  

“Principal-Agent 
relationship” 

The principal-agent relationship is an arrangement in which one 
entity legally appoints another to act on its behalf. In a principal-agent 
relationship, the agent (Sub-Branch Agency account) acts on behalf 
of the principal (RSL State Branch) and must not have a conflict of 
interest in carrying out the actions. 

“RSL State Branch”  Returned & Services League of Australia (Victorian Branch) Inc. 
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“Sub-Branch 
General/Trading”  

RSL Sub-Branch General / Trading bank account. The Sub-Branch 
bank account which receives membership income and pays for the 
running costs of the Sub-Branch 

“Unused monies” any amount in excess of the current year reimbursed Poppy Appeal 
money at the end of the calendar year  

2. Introduction
The RSL network of Sub-Branches dedicates itself to the task of raising much needed money for the 
RSL’s primary objective of providing support to veterans and their families when they need help. The 
RSL supports and engages with veterans from all generations. The granting of an RSL Sub-Branch 
Charter carries with it important obligations, particularly working in support of veterans and raising 
money for veteran welfare through the ANZAC and Poppy Appeals. The donating public expects that 
their money will be directed, by the RSL, to benevolent veteran welfare assistance.   

3. Authority
(a) The General Appeals Patriotic Fund Agency Agreement between Returned & Services League

of Australia (Victorian Branch) Incorporated and the RSL Sub-Branch sets out the terms of the
Agency Agreement between the RSL State Branch as Trustee of the RSL GAPF and the Sub-
Branch. The RSL GAPF is a registered charity with the ACNC and is registered as a Patriotic
Fund with CAV. The RSL GAPF is registered with the ATO as a PBI with DGR status.

(b) The DGR status represents one of the ATO’s highest taxation concessions, these concessions
bring with them a high level of regulation by the ATO. As well as the ATO, the RSL GAPF is
also regulated by CAV and ACNC.

(c) In practice, the Sub-Branch Agency account operates as an agent for the RSL GAPF. By
accepting the Agent’s role, the Sub-Branch agrees to operate under limited agency authority
granted and guided by RSL State Branch in its capacity as trustee of the RSL GAPF. See
definitions “Principal-Agent relationship”. The RSL State Branch State Executive is the
responsible authority of the RSL GAPF.

4. Objective of the RSL General Appeals Patriotic Fund
RSL GAPF monies, wherever these monies are raised, are reserved for the benevolent welfare of 
veterans and their dependents when in need.  

5. Deductible Gift Recipient Status
(a) By virtue of the DGR status afforded to the RSL GAPF, donations (either from badge sales or

cash donations) made by the public to the Sub-Branch Agency account enable the public to
claim that donation as a personal tax deduction.

(b) To satisfy the DGR requirements, all monies raised must to be remitted to the RSL GAPF.
(c) To allow the donor to claim the donation as a tax deduction, the ATO requires the Sub-Branch

to:
a. Deposit all monies raised for benevolent veteran welfare into the Sub-Branch Agency

account
b. Provide a receipt to the donor. Receipts can be in the form of the Appeals merchandise

backing card or by issuing a tax receipt in the name of the RSL Sub-Branch as Agent
for General Appeals Patriotic Fund B86 from the prescribed receipt book. (Official DGR
receipt books are issued and supplied by RSL State Branch.)

c. Remit the full amount of monies raised to RSL GAPF.
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6. Fundraising for Benevolent Veteran Welfare
(a) All monies raised at or by a Sub-Branch, in the name of veteran welfare, whether that purpose

is stated overtly or implied, must be deposited into the Sub-Branch Agency account* and be
subject to the accounting and reporting requirements in place for the ANZAC and Poppy
Appeals.
*If the Sub-Branch does not have an Agency bank account, monies must be deposited into the
Sub-Branch General/Trading account and 100% remitted to RSL GAPF with no option for
reimbursement. If the Sub-Branch wishes to open an Agency account, please contact the
Patriotic Funds Accountant at RSL State Branch.

(b) This requirement includes monies raised through:
a. the sale of ANZAC Appeal and/or Poppy Appeal merchandise
b. donations made during the ANZAC Appeal and Poppy Appeal periods
c. other donations received where the purpose of the donation is veteran welfare related,

regardless of the timing of the donation
d. Proceeds from a Gunfire Breakfast or Two-up

(c) The ANZAC and Poppy Appeal brands are important assets of the RSL.  Considerable time,
effort and money has been invested, and continues to be invested, in promoting and
supporting these brands, their associated logos and imagery and the purpose they support.

(d) Sub-Branches must only use the ANZAC and Poppy Appeal stock items and collateral
provided to fundraise for the ANZAC and Poppy Appeals.

(e) Using RSL State Branch stock and collateral:
a. strongly reinforces the brand and messaging for our Appeals
b. unites the RSL Victoria network in the one effort to fundraise for veterans
c. ensures that our approved imagery is used
d. assists with stock control measures
e. provides approved tax deductibility messaging and acts as the receipt

(f) The RSL ANZAC and Poppy Appeal range of stock is proudly owned by RSL State Branch
and developed with the collaboration of the RSL Sub-Branch network.  The RSL ANZAC and
Poppy Appeal stock is provided and dispatched at nil cost to Sub-Branches. Sub-Branches
must not spend Agency or Patriotic Fund monies on non-RSL merchandise. The RSL Victoria
ANZAC and Poppy Appeals do not intend to be a competitor in the commercial, promotional
merchandise space.

6.1. ANZAC and Poppy Appeals Process 
(a) After depositing the monies into the Agency account, 100% of the monies raised for the

ANZAC Appeal and the Poppy Appeal must be remitted to RSL GAPF account. This
remittance fulfills the RSL’s obligation to the ATO and ensures compliance as a DGR charity.
The details of the RSL GAPF bank account, into which the monies must be transferred are:

(b) NAME: RSL General Appeals Patriotic Fund 
BSB:    013-030  
ACCOUNT:  8372-79576  

(c) A Sub-Branch may request up to 50% of monies raised, to be reimbursed to the Agency
account. Remittance of monies will only occur once the RSL State Branch Appeals
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Department is in receipt of the accurately completed ANZAC/Poppy Appeals Statement (see 
calendar – item 13). There is no requirement or obligation for a Sub-Branch to have monies 
reimbursed to the Sub-Branch Agency account.   

(d) The deadline for expenditure of ANZAC Appeal monies is 31st December of the ANZAC
Appeal year and for Poppy Appeal monies it is 31st December of the year following the Appeal.

(e) All unspent monies must be remitted to the RSL GAPF. This calculation is provided in the
Agency Statement.

6.2. Donations Received 
All donations received by the Sub-Branch Agency account must be remitted to the RSL GAPF to 
ensure that the DGR status is maintained. Upon donor request, a tax receipt can be provided. The 
prescribed form of tax receipt for a donor is either the Appeals merchandise backing card or the 
official Sub-Branch Agent for RSL GAPF tax receipt book supplied by State Branch.   

7. Fundraising for Other Purposes
(a) It is acknowledged that some Sub-Branches will, from time to time, need to raise money for

their Sub-Branch General/Trading account to cover expenditure which is not veteran welfare
related.  Such non-veteran welfare fundraising must be conducted in a way which does not, in
any way, cause any confusion in the mind of the public about the purpose of the fundraising,
the destination of the money and the intended use of the money raised.  Being clear about the
purpose of the fundraising is of paramount importance.  This can be achieved by:

a. conducting non-veteran welfare related fundraising at times other than the ANZAC
Appeal and/or Poppy Appeal

b. eliminating words and language which could imply a veteran welfare purpose
c. eliminating use of the ANZAC Appeal or Poppy Appeal logos or associated imagery

which could imply a veteran welfare related purpose
d. being very clear to potential donors about the purpose of the fundraising activity.

(b) It is also understood that Sub-Branches may wish to support other charitable organisations,
from time to time. It is important that fundraising for other charitable organisations (not related
to veteran welfare or the work of the RSL) is undertaken with consideration to the following:

a. Avoid using any merchandise, branding or language which might cause the donor to
think that the fundraiser is for veteran welfare.

b. Avoid any and all confusion in the minds of the donors as to the purpose of the
fundraising and the use of the monies raised.

c. Make clear to the donor what the purpose of the fundraising is and the charitable
organisation which is being supported.

d. Conducted at times which do not clash with the RSL Appeals.

8. Spending Guidelines
(a) Because of the DGR status, spending of money must be applied towards benevolent (in need)

veteran and dependant welfare. Expenses related to the RSL Sub-Branch running costs and
building expenses must not be paid by the Agency account.

(b) RSL State Branch relies on the Sub-Branch’s judgement when making a payment for
benevolent veteran welfare expenses out of the Agency account. The primary activities
undertaken by a Sub-Branch are to assist sick, helpless, wounded, vulnerable, aged, destitute
and needy veterans and their dependants.
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(c) This assistance can be applied to the entire Victorian veteran community and not only to
veteran members of the Sub-Branch. According to the ACNC, benevolent relief includes
working for the relief of poverty or distress (such as sickness, disability, destitution, suffering,
misfortune or helplessness). The degree of distress is also important, as benevolent charities
meet a need that is:

a. Significant enough (and the circumstances difficult enough) to arouse compassion in
people in the community

b. Beyond the suffering experienced as part of ordinary daily life, and
c. Concrete enough – aimed at helping people who are recognisably in need of

benevolence.
(d) The Sub-Branch needs to consider the following before providing assistance from the Agency

account:
a. Who is the recipient of the assistance?

The recipient must be any of the following: a veteran, a veteran dependent or a veteran
carer. Being a descendant of a veteran does not necessarily classify the person as a
dependent. A person is only classified as veteran dependent if the person is financially
dependent on a veteran.  It is the Sub-Branch responsibility to investigate and confirm
whether a person is dependent on a veteran.

b. What is the nature of the condition? Is the veteran suffering with any of the following:
i. Physical and mental distress. For example: sickness (such as PTSD), social

exclusion, anxiety, poverty
ii. Financial distress. For example: Unable to pay rent, bills, home

maintenance/garden, or unable to purchase food/medications
c. What is the monetary value of the assistance required?

An individual claim may compromise a significant proportion of the existing Agency
monies. In this instance, the Sub-Branch may contact the RSL State Branch Pensions,
Advocacy and Welfare Support department for assistance.

(e) Further information on spending guidelines and examples of expenses that can be paid by the
Agency account can be found in the Sub-Branch Charity Manual and on the Agency
Statement.

9. Applying for Additional Agency Monies
A Sub-Branch may apply for additional Agency monies when the Sub-Branch Agency bank account is 
depleted. For guidance with this process please contact the RSL State Branch Patriotic Funds 
Accountant.  

10. Requests from Other Charities
(a) A Sub-Branch must always act in the best interests of the RSL charitable objects, that is,

ensuring that veterans in need will be assisted by either the RSL Sub-Branch or RSL State
Branch.

(b) First priority must be given to the RSL’s own cause, supporting RSL programs funded by the
RSL GAPF. These programs ensure, amongst other things, that a veteran in need will be
assisted with relieving of financial hardship, required household repairs and maintenance,
advocacy, DVA compensation claims, employment pathways and transition, crisis
accommodation, opportunities to combat social isolation and veteran engagement programs.
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(c) External charities that approach a Sub-Branch requesting to divert money away from RSL
GAPF, should be directed to RSL State Branch Chief Executive Officer for consideration and
qualification of possible broader support.

(d) If a Sub-Branch wishes to donate to external veteran related charities, it may donate no more
than $1,000 in any one calendar year and approval must be obtained by CAV and RSL State
Branch prior to the transfer of monies.

(e) The Sub-Branch should consider the following before applying for a transfer/donation:
a. The Sub-Branch Committee endorse the donation
b. Ensure that the donation is 100% applicable to Veterans
c. Gather profile information about the entity that will be the recipient of the proposed

donation/transfer:
i. ABN number - Check the proper name of the entity
ii. If the entity has DGR status
iii. If the entity is a charity registered with ACNC
iv. If the entity is a Patriotic Fund
v. If the entity is located in Victoria

(f) RSL State Branch will consider the Sub-Branch Committee’s donations/transfers request by
accepting a CAV 606/607 transfer application form(s) prior to the actual transfer being made.

(g) All Patriotic Fund donations/transfers, of any amount, must be approved by CAV and RSL
State Branch.

(h) Once CAV and RSL State Branch approvals are granted, the Sub-Branch will be informed in
due course and the transfer of monies must be executed in full within the same calendar year
of approval.

(i) If a Sub-Branch has an initiative or has an exceptional request to transfer/donate that is not
covered in the above terms, the circumstance will need to be brought to the RSL State Branch
State Executive’s attention for formal approval.

(j) For guidance/assistance with this process and to obtain the CAV transfer application forms,
contact the RSL State Branch Patriotic Funds Accountant.

11. GST
(a) Where a Sub-Branch Agency account receives an invoice greater than $1,000, the Agency

account may pass the GST obligation to the RSL GAPF.
(b) The process to pass the GST obligation to RSL GAPF requires the Sub-Branch to forward the

tax invoice together with a payment for the invoiced amount excluding GST to the RSL State
Branch Accounts department. This process is not applicable if the tax invoice is in the name of
a veteran or veteran dependent. Contact the RSL State Branch Finance Manager for further
guidance on claiming GST through the RSL State Branch.

(c) It is not appropriate to claim GST through the Sub-Branch General/Trading account for
benevolent welfare tax invoices which will be reimbursed from the Agency account.



BRANCH BY-LAW 8 

V1.2 SX (23-05-2024) 

12. Administration, Audit and Financial Reporting

12.1. Agency Account
The Sub-Branch Agency account is a sub-account of the RSL GAPF conducted as an Agent for the 
RSL GAPF and its bank account must be registered under the RSL GAPF ABN 85 107 546 293.  

12.2. Administration of Monies 
(a) The Sub-Branch must keep all Agency account financial records that:

a. record and explain its transactions, financial position and performance, and
b. allow the preparation of 'true and fair' financial information/statements.

(b) Financial records include:
a. invoices
b. receipts
c. cheques
d. documents which record the above (including bank statements)
e. working papers and other documents that explain how financial statements are

prepared.
(c) The Sub-Branch should maintain and update these records throughout the year as it receives

and uses monies and must keep all financial records for a period of seven years.

12.3. Agency Statement – Report to RSL State Branch 
(a) The Agency Statement is provided to the Sub-Branch Secretary in December each year, along

with financial advice issued by RSL State Branch.
(b) RSL GAPF relies on the Sub-Branch accurately completing and submitting the Agency

Statement prior to its due date (see calendar – item 13), allowing time for the RSL State
Branch verification process to occur. After a thorough verification process, the RSL GAPF
reports the information collected from the Sub-Branches’ Agency Statements to the regulators.

 12.4. Audit Requirements 
As per audit requirements established by CAV, the Agency Statement must be signed off by an 
auditor if the total income for the year exceeds $10,000. For annual total income under $10,000, it is 
best practice to audit the Agency account.  

12.5. Financial Statements – Report to Members 
The Committee must ensure that a Financial Statement disclosing the financial performance and 
position for the Agency account is prepared and presented to the Sub-Branch members at the Sub-
Branch AGM (see calendar – item 13). The Statement can be prepared in the form of an Excel 
spreadsheet, Word document, or using an appropriate financial package.   

12.6. Unused Monies 
(a) An ATO condition of holding DGR status is that a Sub-Branch Agency account cannot

accumulate monies. In order to meet this condition, at year end, a Sub-Branch should remit
unused monies (excluding current year reimbursed Poppy Appeal) to the RSL GAPF. The
calculation of unused monies is on the Agency Statement sent to Sub-Branches each
December. Refer to section 6.1 (d) and the following calendar section for further information.
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(b) The unused monies remittance cheque or copy of the EFT must be enclosed with the Agency
Statement submission.

13. Calendar
Form Due Date Submit to 

Poppy Appeal Statement and 
Stock on Hand Confirmation  11th December RSL State Branch - Appeals Department 

Agency Statement 16th February RSL State Branch - Patriotic Funds Accountant 

Financial Statement At Sub-Branch 
AGM  RSL Sub-Branch - Members 

ANZAC Appeal Statement and 
Stock on Hand Confirmation 25th May RSL State Branch - Appeals Department 

Appeal Period to expend monies from Agency 

ANZAC Appeal By 31st December of current year 

Poppy Appeal By 31st December of following year 
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1 NAME 

***** RSL SUB-BRANCH INCORPORATED 

RULES 

The name of the Sub-Branch shall be the ***** RSL Sub-Branch Incorporated. 
 
 

2.1 STATEMENT OF PURPOSES OF THE SUB-BRANCH 

The objects for which the Sub-Branch is established are: 

(a) Provide for the sick, helpless, wounded, aged, disabled, destitute and needy among 

those who are serving or who have served in the Australian Defence Forces, the 

various British Commonwealth Defence Forces, members of allied Defence Forces 

and their dependents; 

(b) Perpetuate the close and kindly ties of friendship created by the mutual service in 

the Australian Defence Forces or in the forces of nations traditionally allied with 

Australia and the recollections associated with that experience; 

(c) Maintain a proper standard of dignity and honour among all past and present members 

of the Australian Defence Forces and set an example of public spirit and noble hearted 

endeavour; 

(d) Preserve the memory and records of those who suffered and died for Australia, erect 

monuments to their valour, provide them with suitable burial places, and establish and 

preserve, in their honour, the annual commemoration day known as ANZAC Day; 

(e) Encourage loyalty to Australia and secure patriotic service in the interests of Australia; 

(f) Protect the good name and preserve the interests and standing of members of the 

Australian Defence Forces; 

(g) Encourage a member as a citizen, to serve Australia with that spirit of self-sacrifice 

and loyalty with which they served as members of the Australian Defence Forces; 

(h) The promotion of a social organisation and Sub-Branch of the Branch composed of 

those who are serving or who have served in the Australian Defence Forces, the 

various British Commonwealth Defence Forces, Members of Allied Defence Forces, 

their dependents and such other persons who from time to time may be admitted to 

membership in accordance with these Rules. 

(i) To establish, maintain and conduct a Sub-Branch of a non-political and non- sectarian 

character and to provide, furnish, equip and maintain Sub-Branch rooms, reading 
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rooms, recreation rooms and refreshment facilities; to establish and maintain facilities 

for lawful games, sporting facilities and recreation for its Members for the maintenance 

and improvement of friendly relationships amongst the Members and generally to 

afford to Members and their friends and guests all the usual privileges, advantages, 

conveniences and facilities of a Sub-Branch. 

(j) To provide means of social interaction between persons who are Members of the 

League and in particular Members of the ***** RSL Sub-Branch of the Branch and 

their friends and guests. 

(k) To make contributions to any charitable relief benefit commemoration or memorial 

fund of any kind whatsoever as the Committee may deem advisable. 

(l) To further the interests of and to support the Branch. 

(m) To provide for the sick, helpless, wounded, aged, disabled, destitute and needy. 
 
 

2.2 POWERS OF THE SUB-BRANCH 

(a) To take over and acquire and take a transfer of all the assets and the liabilities of the 

present unincorporated association known as ***** RSL Sub-Branch and/or ***** RSL 

Club. 

(b) To purchase, take on lease or in exchange or otherwise to acquire any land, 

buildings, easements of property real or personal which may be required for the 

purposes of or be conveniently used in connection with any of the objects of the Sub- 

Branch and for the purpose of managing revenue the better to finance the operations 

of the Sub-Branch and the maintenance of any premises owned by it to lease, sell, 

demise, mortgage, give in exchange or otherwise dispose of the same or any part 

thereof from time to time and to grant easements in, through, over or upon any land 

and to acquire easements or other rights of any kind or nature over any other real or 

personal property provided that if the Sub-Branch takes or holds any property which is 

subject to any Trusts the Sub-Branch must deal with the property in such a manner 

as is allowed by law having regard to such Trusts. 

(c) To borrow or raise money or to secure the repayment of any debt, liability or 

engagement incurred, undertaken or entered into by the Sub-Branch by the issue of 

bonds, debentures, bills of exchange, promissory notes or other obligations or 

securities of the Sub-Branch or by way of overdraft or by mortgage or charge on all 

or any part of the property and assets of the Sub-Branch. 



Bylaw 10A - 3 

V4 (SC 27/07/2024) 

 

 

(d) To encourage the fullest liaison and co-operation with other responsible persons and 

organisations in the community as the Committee shall decide, with particular 

emphasis to encouraging the use of the rooms of the Sub-Branch when such use shall 

be calculated to benefit the community. 

(e) To draw, make, accept, endorse, discount, execute and issue promissory notes, bills of 

exchange, warrants, debentures and other negotiable or other transferable interests. 

(f) To invest and deal with the money of the Sub-Branch not immediately required upon 

such securities and investments, generally in such manner, and in accordance with the 

overall policy of the League as may from time to time be determined. 

(g) To undertake and execute any trusts which may seem to the Sub-Branch conducive to 

any of its objects and in accordance with the overall policy of the League. 

(h) To engage, employ, dismiss and remunerate professional advisers, secretaries, 

accountants, managers, brokers, experts and such other persons, officers and 

employees as may be necessary or desirable for the purpose of carrying on the 

business of the Sub-Branch or furthering any or all of the objects herein set out. 

(i) To place any money or deposit with any banking or other non-banking institutions, to 

open accounts and to pay money into and withdraw money from such accounts or to 

overdraw such accounts. 

(j) To establish and maintain funds for relief, scholarships, insurance, mortuary, sickness 

or other benefits and/or for the assistance or advantage of members or their 

dependents or the dependents of deceased members contributing thereto from any of 

the revenues of the Sub-Branch. 

(k) To encourage the formation of a Women's Auxiliary and youth and other subsidiary 

associations. 

(l) With the written consent of the State Executive to enter into any arrangements with any 

government or authority that are incidental or conducive to the attainment of the objects 

and the exercise of the powers of the Sub-Branch, to obtain from any such government 

or authority any rights, privileges, concessions, licenses, permits or registrations which 

the Sub-Branch may think it desirable to obtain, and to carry out, exercise and comply 

with any such rights, privileges, concessions or licenses. 

(m) To construct, improve, maintain, furnish, develop, work, manage, carry out, alter or 

control any houses, buildings, clubrooms, information bureaux, libraries, literary, social, 

educational and benevolent institutions, grounds, works or conveniences which directly 
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or indirectly advance the Sub-Branch's interests, and to contribute to, subsidise or 

otherwise assist and take part in the above; 

(n) With the written consent of the State Executive to take or hold mortgages, liens or 

charges, to secure payment of the purchase price, or any unpaid balance of the 

purchase price, of any part of the Sub-Branch's property of whatsoever kind sold by the 

Sub-Branch, or any money due to the Sub-Branch from purchasers and others; 

(o) To take any gift of property whether subject to any special trust or not, for any one or 

more of the objects of the Sub-Branch but subject to paragraph (g); 

(p) To sell, improve, manage, develop, exchange, lease, dispose of, turn to account or 

otherwise deal with all or any part of the property and rights of the Sub-Branch; 

(q) To make grants, donations, gifts and give assistance to such persons, trusts, groups, 

associations, societies, institutions or other entities as the Sub-Branch thinks fit; 

(r) To make application pursuant to the appropriate legislation from time to time enacted 

and currently in force, or any re-enactment or amendment thereof, to: 

(1) The Victorian Commission for Gambling and Liquor Regulation for a Club 

Licence or any other licence, permit or authority issued under the Liquor Control 

Reform Act or any re-enactment or amendment thereof, or for a Venue 

Operator's Licence or any other licence, permit or authority issued under the 

Gambling Regulation Act or any amendment or re-enactment thereof. 

(s) To do all such other things as are incidental or conducive to the attainment of the 

objects and the exercise of the powers of the Sub-Branch. 

 
3 ALTERATIONS OF THESE RULES 

(a) Subject to the provisions of Rule 3(b), and (c) of these Rules, the Rules of the Sub- 

Branch (including the Statement of Purposes of the Sub-Branch) shall not be altered 

except in accordance with the Act. 

(b) The Sub-Branch shall not, without the consent in writing of the State Executive, make 

any new Rule, alteration or variation to the Rules of the Sub-Branch. No new Rule, 

alteration or variation of these Rules shall take effect unless and until the new Rule, 

alteration or variation has been approved in writing by the State Executive. 

(c) No new Rule, alteration or variation of these Rules shall have effect unless and until 

such new Rule, alteration or variation has been approved by the Registrar of 

Incorporated Associations. 
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(d) Inconsistency 

If there is inconsistency between these Rules and the Branch Constitution and/or the 

National Constitution, the Branch Constitution and the National Constitution shall 

prevail to the extent that the Branch Constitution and the National Constitution do not 

conflict with the requirements of the Liquor Control Reform Act, the Gambling 

Regulation Act and/or any other relevant Act. In the event that there is any 

inconsistency between the Branch Constitution and the National Constitution, then 

the provisions of the National Constitution shall prevail. 

 
4 POLICY 

The Policy of the Sub-Branch shall be national and non-sectarian and in relation to 
questions of party politics non-partisan. 

 
 

5.1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 

In these Rules - 

"Act" means the Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012 (Vic). 
 

"Affiliate/s" means an Affiliate of the Branch admitted pursuant to the rules of the 
Branch, and is a member of the Sub-Branch. 

"Branch" shall mean The Returned & Services League of Australia (Victorian 
Branch) Inc. 

"Branch Constitution" means the Statement of Purposes and the Rules and 
Bylaws of the Branch. 

"Casino Control Act" means the Casino Control Act 1991 (Vic) or any amendment 
or re-enactment thereof. 

"Chief Executive Officer of the Branch" means the person appointed from time to 
time under Branch Rule 9.7 (a) by the State Executive. 

"Committee" or "Sub-Branch Committee" means the Committee of the Sub-
Branch constituted under Rule 19. 

“Company Secretary” means the person appointed from time to time under Rule 
9.8 of the Rules of the Branch by the State Executive. 

 
"Financial Year" means the year ending 31 December. 

 
"Gambling Regulation Act" means the Gambling Regulation Act 2003 or any 
amendment or re-enactment thereof. 

"In Writing" and "Written" include typing or printing, lithography, photography and 
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other modes of representing or reproducing words and figures in visible form. 
 

"League" means the Returned and Services League of Australia Limited A.C.N. 008 
488 097. 

"League member" means a Life member or a Service member of the League, and 
is a member of the Sub-Branch. 

"Liquor Control Reform Act" means the Liquor Control Reform Act 1998 or any 
amendment or re-enactment thereof. 

"members" shall mean all persons admitted pursuant to these Rules to any of the 
following classes of membership: 

Service members 

Life members 

Associate members 

Affiliate/s 

Honorary members 

Social members and 

Community members 

"National Constitution" means the National Rules and Bylaws of the League. 
 

"National Rules" means the National Constitution of the League. 
 

"Patriotic Funds" means those Funds described in Part 4 of the Veterans Act 
(Vic). 

"Regulations" mean the Regulations under the Act. 
 

"State Branch Tribunal" means the Tribunal established by the Branch under Rule 
4.18 and National Bylaw 8. 

 
"State Executive" means the Body constituted under Rule 7.2 (a) of the Branch. 

 
"Sub-Branch" shall mean the ***** Sub-Branch. 

 
"Sub-Branch Secretary" or "Secretary of the Sub-Branch" means the Secretary 
of the Sub-Branch. 

"Veterans Act" means the Veterans Act 2005 (Vic) or any amendment or re- 
enactment thereof. 

"Victorian Veterans Council" means the Council established by section 4 of the 
Veterans Act. 

"Victorian Veterans Fund" means the Fund established by section 20 of the 
Veterans Act. 
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"Victorian Commission for Gambling and Liquor Regulation" means the 
Victorian Commission for Gambling and Liquor Regulation established under the 
Victorian Commission for Gambling and Liquor Regulation Act 2011 (Vic). 

 

 
5.2 INTERPRETATION 

In these Rules, unless the context otherwise requires: 

(a) headings, underlining and the table of contents are for convenience only and do not 

affect the interpretation of these Rules; 

(b) words importing the singular include the plural and vice versa; 

(c) words importing a gender include any gender; 

(d) other parts of speech and grammatical forms of a word or phrase defined in these 

Rules have corresponding meanings; 

(e) a reference to any thing includes a part of that thing; 

(f) a reference to these Rules includes a reference to any appendix, annexure, exhibit or 

schedule to these Rules; 

(g) a reference to a statute, regulation, proclamation, ordinance or bylaw includes all 

statutes, regulations, proclamations, ordinances or bylaws amending, consolidating 

or replacing it, and a reference to a statute includes all regulations, proclamations, 

ordinances and bylaws issued under that statute; 

(h) a reference to a document includes all amendments or supplements to, or 

replacements of, that document; 

(i) a covenant or agreement on the part of two or more persons binds them jointly and 

severally; 

(j) an expression importing a natural person includes any company, partnership, 

association, corporation or other body corporate and any governmental agency; and 

(k) where the day on or by which any thing is to be done is not a Business Day, that thing 

must be done on or by the preceding Business Day. 

 
6 SUB-BRANCH COLOURS 

The colours of the Sub-Branch shall be such as the Committee of the Sub-Branch may from 
time to time determine. 
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7 SUB-BRANCH STRUCTURE AND POWERS 
In addition to any new duties, functions, discretions and authorities conferred on the Sub- 
Branch under the National Constitution, the Branch Constitution and these Rules, the Sub- 
Branch is to be vested with such duties, powers, functions, discretions and authorities as 
the State Executive may decide. 

 
 

8 MINIMUM MEMBERSHIP 
The minimum membership of the Sub-Branch is to be fifteen (15) Life, Service members 
and Affiliates, unless the State Executive approves otherwise. 

 
 

9 AGE REQUIREMENT 
No person under the age of eighteen (18) years shall be admitted to membership of the 
Sub-Branch. 

 
 

10 MEMBERSHIP 
The Sub-Branch shall comprise the following categories of membership: 

Service members 

Life members 

Associate members 

Affiliates 

Honorary members 

Social members 

Community members 

10.1 Service members 
A person who is a Service member of the League or who has applied to be a Service 
member of the League may apply to be a Service member of the Sub-Branch. 

(a) It shall be a prerequisite to Service membership of the Sub-Branch that the applicant 

declares: 

- I hereby agree if elected a member to be bound by and comply with 
the Rules and Bylaws of the Sub-Branch; and 

- I hereby declare that I am not a member of any other organisation 
whose objectives are incompatible with the objects of the League; 
and 

- I hereby further declare that I am prepared to swear/affirm loyalty to 
the Commonwealth of Australia and its Head of State and to uphold 
the Constitution of the Commonwealth. 

(b) Lodgment of application to be admitted as a Service member of the League and 

Service member of the Sub-Branch. 
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(1) An application to be admitted as a Service member of the League and as a 

Service member of the Sub-Branch must comply with the National Constitution 

and the Branch Constitution and these Rules. An Applicant for Service 

membership of the League and Service membership of the Sub-Branch must 

be nominated by a person who is a Service or Life member of the Sub-Branch 

and seconded by a member who is also a Service or Life member of the Sub-

Branch. 

A person who applies to be a Service member of the League and a Service 

member of the Sub-Branch must lodge the application with the Secretary of the 

Sub-Branch in writing in the form from time to time approved. Not less than two 

(2) weeks shall elapse between the date of nomination and the date of election 

of a Service member of the League and a Service member of the Sub-Branch. 

(2) Application for membership of the League and membership of the Sub- Branch 

shall be accompanied by the payment of the Annual Subscription determined 

by the Annual Conference of the Branch and any further subscription as set by 

the Sub-Branch at a General Meeting and hereafter referred to in these Rules. 

No applicant who is admitted to membership shall be entitled to a refund of 

such amount, but where an applicant is not eligible under the National 

Constitution to be admitted, the Sub-Branch must return the Annual 

Subscription. 

(3) The Committee may require an applicant for membership to produce such 

evidence, as it thinks fit as to their qualification for membership. 

(4) If the Sub-Branch Committee resolves that an Applicant is eligible under the 

National Constitution to be admitted as a Service member of the League and is 

a fit and proper person to be admitted as a Service member of the League then 

the Applicant must be admitted as a Service member of the League and as a 

Service member of the Sub-Branch within sixty (60) days of the date the 

application was lodged. 

(5) If the Sub-Branch Committee resolves that an Applicant applying to be admitted 

as a Service member of the League and a Service member of the Sub-Branch 

is not eligible under the National Constitution to be admitted as a Service 

member of the League the Committee of the Sub-Branch must within fourteen 

(14) days from the resolution forward the application, supporting documentation, 

the annual subscription and the reasons for the resolution to the Branch and 
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the application shall then be dealt with by the Branch under the Branch 

Constitution. 

(6) If the Branch resolves that the Applicant is eligible under the National 

Constitution to be admitted as a Service member of the League the Branch 

must direct the Sub-Branch to admit the applicant as a Service member of the 

League and thereupon the Sub-Branch must admit the Applicant as a Service 

member of the League and as a Service member of the Sub-Branch. 

(7) If the Branch resolves that the person applying to be admitted as a Service 

member of the League is not eligible under the National Constitution to be 

admitted the Branch must: 

(i) Reject the application; and 

(ii) Within fourteen (14) days of the date of rejection advise the Applicant of 

the decision, the reasons for the decision and their right of appeal to 

the State Branch Tribunal. 

(8) A Service or Life member of the Sub-Branch shall be entitled to one vote at the 

election of members of the committee of the Sub-Branch and at any meeting of 

the Sub-Branch in respect of any matter. 

10.2 Life members 

(a) A Service member of the Sub-Branch who is elected as a Life member of the League 

in accordance with the National Constitution and the Branch Constitution shall 

automatically become a Life member of the Sub-Branch. 

(b) The rights, privileges and obligations of a Service member of the Sub-Branch who 

becomes a Life member of the Sub-Branch under Rule 10.2(a) shall not be disturbed 

by their becoming a Life member of the Sub-Branch save and except that they shall 

not be liable to pay an Annual Subscription either to the League, the Branch or the 

Sub-Branch as the case may be. 

10.3 Honorary members of a Sub-Branch 

(a) A person is entitled to be elected as an Honorary member of the Sub-Branch (for 

such time as the Committee of the Sub-Branch shall determine) if they are eighteen 
(18) years of age or older and are: 

(1) a Service, Life or Honorary member of the League; 
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(2) a member of an association or organisation which is a member of the British 

Commonwealth Ex-Services League during their presence in Victoria, but not 

exceeding a period of three months; 

(3) a member of a State parliament, the parliament of the Commonwealth of 

Australia or a Councillor of the municipality in which the Sub-Branch is situated; 

(4) A current serving member of the ADF, upon presentation of a Service 

Identification Card, such honorary membership shall operate whilst the serving 

member is present on the Sub-Branch premises. 

(5) a member of a sporting, social or cultural body visiting the Sub-Branch for the 

day, but subject to the approval of the committee of the Sub-Branch; or 

(6) a person who has applied in writing to become a member of the Sub- Branch 

shall be a temporary Honorary member of the Sub-Branch until the application 

to become a member has been dealt with by the Committee. Such membership 

applications must be dealt with by the Committee in an expeditious manner. 

(b) An honorary member of the Sub-Branch is not entitled to vote: 

(1) at the election of the members of the Committee of the Sub-Branch; or 

(2) on any other matter. 

(3) An Honorary member shall not be required to pay an annual subscription. 

(4) A person shall not be admitted as an Honorary or Temporary member of the 
Sub-Branch unless the person is of a class specified in the Rules and the 
admission is in accordance with the Rules. 

10.3 A Temporary Honorary Membership for Visiting League Members 

(a) The Sub-Branch shall grant reciprocal rights to use Sub-Branch facilities as a 

temporary honorary member to any person who is a Service or Life member or 

Affiliate of the Returned & Services League of Australia. The Sub-Branch shall grant to 

such temporary honorary member under this rule the same price discounts as that are 

given at that time to similar classes of members of the Sub-Branch in relation to food, 

beverage, and entertainment. Such person shall be required to establish their 

entitlement to the right by producing a current ‘RSL Card’. 

(b) This right may not be granted to a person who is at the time of the visit suspended 

under the Rules of the Sub-Branch from the Sub-Branch of which they are a member. 
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(c) This right may not be granted to a person where the Committee of the Sub-Branch 

has resolved not to grant the right to that person because of the prior conduct of 

that person. 

10.4 Social members 

(a) A person is eligible to be a Social member of the Sub-Branch if they: 

(1) are not eligible to be a Service member of the League; and 

(2) are over the age of eighteen (18) years; and 

(3) are proposed by the President of the Sub-Branch at the request of at least two 

(2) Service members of the Sub-Branch and is approved at a meeting of the 

Committee of the Sub-Branch; and 

(4) has signed a Social member Application Form, prescribed by the State Branch, 

and has lodged it with the Sub-Branch Secretary; and 

(5) has paid the annual membership subscription, as is determined, including an 

amount equal to the applicable Minimum Subscription Fee as is determined 

from time to time by the State Executive pursuant to Branch Rule 5.17(a)(2). 

(b) A social member of the Sub-Branch may be a member of the Committee of the Sub-

Branch provided however: 

(1) A social member of the Sub-Branch may not be elected to any Executive 

position (that is, President, Vice President/s, Secretary and/or Treasurer) on a 

Sub-Branch Committee [subject to the provisions of Rule 19(g)]. Social 

members may not hold more than one position on the Committee of a Sub- 

Branch. A social member on the Committee of a Sub-Branch may only vote on 

matters relating to the operation of Sub-Branch facilities available to Social 

members of the Sub-Branch. 

(c) Subject to the provisions of these Rules a Service member or Life member or Affiliate 

or social member of the Sub-Branch may nominate a social member for election to 

the Committee of the Sub-Branch (other than an Executive position). A social member 

is not entitled to vote on any matter other than in respect of the election of a social 

member to the Committee of the Sub-Branch. 

(d) A person is eligible to be a student social member if they are aged 18 to 26 years and 

attended a recognized tertiary educational institution. Student social members have 

the same rights and obligations as social members of the Sub- Branch as provided for 

in this rule. The fee for a student social member shall be $11.00, including GST, 
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unless otherwise decided by a General Meeting of the Sub-Branch. On attaining the 

age of 27 years, a student social member shall become a social member of the Sub- 

Branch and shall subscribe by way of membership fee the amount fixed as a social 

member’s fee by the Sub-Branch. 

10.5 Community members 

(a) A person is eligible to be a Community member of the Sub-Branch if they: 

(1) are not eligible to be a Service member of the League; and 

(2) are over the age of eighteen (18) years; and 

(3) are approved at a meeting of the Committee of the Sub-Branch; and 

(4) 

(i) have paid the annual membership subscription as is determined, 

including an amount equal to the applicable Minimum Subscription Fee 

as is determined from time to time by the State Executive, pursuant to 

Branch Rule 5.17(a)(2); and 

(ii) the name and address of any person who is elected a Community 

member shall be entered in a book kept for that purpose and such entry 

shall be made by the Secretary at the time at which the person is so 

elected or as soon as practicable thereafter; and 

(iii) are elected for a period of not more than twelve (12) months. 

(b)  

(1) The Committee may at any time revoke the Community membership of any 

person and upon such revocation being made such person shall cease to be a 

Community member. 

(2) When the Community membership of any person is revoked by the Committee 

the Secretary shall record such revocation in the book kept in accordance with 

Rule 10.5(a)(2) and shall advise such revocation in writing to the person whose 

Community membership has been revoked. 

(c) A Community member of the Sub-Branch is not entitled to vote: 

(1) at the election of the members of the Committee of the Sub-Branch; or 

(2) in respect of any other matter. 

(d) A Community member of the Sub-Branch is not entitled to be elected as a member of 

the Committee of the Sub-Branch or to any other position in the Sub-Branch. 
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(e) A Community member is entitled to utilise the bar and dining facilities and gaming 

machines within the Sub-Branch but is not entitled to utilize those facilities set aside 

only for use by Service and/or Life and/or Affiliate and/or Honorary and/or Social 

members. 

10.6 Associate members 

(a) A Service member, Life member or Affiliate, who is also a member of a Sub- Branch, 

shall not be eligible to be a member of another Sub-Branch but may apply to be 

admitted as an Associate thereof. Such an application shall be lodged with the 

Secretary of that other Sub-Branch and if the Committee accepts their application, 

and they are admitted, they shall be known as an Associate of that other Sub-Branch. 

(b) An Associate member of a Sub-Branch may only remain an Associate member of the 

Sub-Branch if they continue to be a Service member, Life member or Affiliate. 

(c)  

(1) A Service member, Life member or Affiliate who is also an Associate member 

of a Sub-Branch, shall only be entitled to hold office, vote and speak on any 

matter at a meeting of not more than one Sub-Branch and at the same time of 

application to become an Associate member must declare which Sub-Branch 

they wish to hold office, vote and speak at. 

(2) The annual subscription payable by an associate of that other Sub- Branch 

shall be the annual subscription payable by a Servicemember or Affiliate, of that 

Sub-Branch, less Minimum Subscription. 

(3) A Service member, Life member or Affiliate, to whom Rule10.6(c)(1) applies, 

shall: 

(i) elect in writing the Sub-Branch in which they wish to be eligible to hold 

office, vote and speak; 

(ii) deliver such election to all the Sub-Branches of which they are a 

member and associate with a copy to be lodged with the Company 

Secretary of the Branch. 

(4) Until they have complied with Rule 10.6(c)(3) they shall only be entitled to hold 

office, vote and speak at the Sub-Branch of which they are a Service member, 

Life member or Affiliate, and such election shall not be able to be revoked 

during the membership year in which it is made. 
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(d) The Committee of the Sub-Branch may at any time revoke the Associate 

membership of a person and upon such revocation being made such person shall 

cease to be an Associate member of the Sub-Branch. 

10.7 Affiliate of the Branch 

(a) No person who is eligible for Service membership of the League shall be admitted as 

an Affiliate. 

(b) The eligible persons who may be elected as Affiliates are those who do not qualify for 

Service membership and comply with the following: 

(1) a person who is not eligible to be a Service member; 

(2) is eighteen years of age or older and; 

(3) a person who is any relative of a person (living or deceased) who is or was 

eligible to be a League member; 

(4) for the purposes of this rule, a relative of a League member shall be a spouse, 

blood relative, step relative or in-law of the person who is or was eligible to be a 

League member (as the case may be); 

(5) or a person who has been awarded the Certificate of Merit or a National or State 

Certificate of Appreciation for giving valuable service to the League; 

(6) or a person who is, or has been, a member for at least six months, of one of the 

following: 

A State or Federal Police Force; 

An Ambulance Service or Brigade; 

A Fire Brigade or Fire Authority; 

A State Emergency Service; 

A Bronze Medallion member of a Surf Life Saving Club; 

A Corrections/Prisons Officer; or 

A member of the Commonwealth or allied Merchant Navy; 

(7) and has signed an Affiliate application form, as prescribed by the State Branch 

and has lodged it with the Sub-Branch Secretary. 

(c) The Affiliate application form shall be considered at a meeting of the Committee of the 

Sub-Branch. 

(d) An Affiliate may be a member of the Committee of the Sub-Branch, subject to the 

following: 
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(1) a. An Affiliate, may not be elected to the positions of President or Senior 

Vice President or if there is no position of Senior Vice President, then 

the Vice President (League member), but may be elected to any other 

position on the committee, shown in rule 19(b). 

b. That an Affiliate Vice President shall have no right to succeed the 
President of the Sub-Branch in the event that Office becoming vacant. 

(2) An Affiliate on the Committee of a Sub-Branch may speak and vote on all 

matters, save and except the matters referred to in sub-rule (e). 

(e) An Affiliate may speak and vote at a meeting of the Sub-Branch on any Sub- Branch 

matter, including voting for all Sub-Branch Committee positions, save and except 

that an Affiliate may not speak or vote on any matter relating to the alteration or 

amendment to the National Constitution, the Branch Constitution or vote for the 

elections of Branch positions. 

(f) The Annual Subscription Fee payable by an Affiliate is shown in Rule 11. The effect of 

not paying the Annual Subscription is shown in Rule 11A. 

10.8 Reciprocal Rights 

(a) The Sub-Branch shall grant reciprocal rights to use Sub-Branch facilities as a 

temporary honorary member to any person who is a Service member, Life member, 

Affiliate, Social member, or Community member, of any other RSL Sub-Branch, or 

the HQ Unattached List, under the jurisdiction of the Victorian State Branch. The Sub- 

Branch shall grant to such temporary Honorary member under this rule the same price 

discounts as that are given at that time to similar classes of members of the Sub- 

Branch in relation to food, beverage and entertainment. Such person shall be required 

to establish their entitlement to the reciprocal rights by producing a current ‘RSL Card’ 

as issued by the State Branch. 

(b) Reciprocal rights shall not be granted to a person who is at the time of the visit 

suspended under the provisions of Rule 15 or Rule 15A of the Rules of the Sub- 

Branch of which they are a member. 

(c) Reciprocal rights may not be granted to a person where the Committee of the Sub- 

Branch has resolved not to grant reciprocal rights to that person because of the prior 

conduct of that person. 

10.9 Provision of RSL Member Card 

(a) The Sub-Branch shall request the Branch to issue Service members, Life members, 

Affiliates, Social members, or Community members, of the Sub- Branch a “RSL 
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Card” in the format then used by the Branch. The Sub-Branch shall make such 

request to the Branch in relation to Service members, Affiliates, Social members and 

Community members, as soon as practicable after the said members have become 

financial members of the Sub-Branch. The issued Card remains valid while the 

member remains financial and the Branch will, from time to time, re-issue the Card at 

their discretion. In relation to Life members the Sub-Branch shall make the request 

to the Branch as soon as practicable after this rule comes into effect. 

 
11 SUBSCRIPTIONS AND ENTRANCE FEES 

(a) That the minimum annual subscription payable by: 

(1) Service members and Affiliates shall be such amount as is determined, from 

time to time, by the Annual State Conference of the Branch and shall be not 

less than the Minimum Subscription Fee referred to in Branch Rule 5.19(a)(1), 

and 

(2) Social members and Community members shall be such amounts as is 

determined for each class of member, from time to time, by the State 

Executive, pursuant to Branch Rule 5.17(a)(2). 

But the Sub-Branch may impose upon the members such additional amounts 

by way of annual subscription as is determined, from time to time, by a general 

meeting of the Sub-Branch. 

(3) A Service member who is still serving, whether in the regular or reserve Royal 

Australian Navy, Australian Army or Royal Australian Air Force, is not liable to 

annual subscription payments and their membership fee is waived. 

(b) The Sub-Branch must forward to its member an account for renewal of the Annual 

Subscription at least one month before the end of the Financial Year and the member 

must pay the account by the 31 January of each year. 

(c) The Sub-Branch must forward to its associate member an account for renewal of the 

Annual Subscription less the Minimum Subscription Fee at least one month before the 

end of the Financial Year and the associate member must pay the account by the 31 

January. 

(d) An account forwarded under these Rules must clearly show the Annual Subscription 

and the Minimum Subscription Fee (if any) and may include other fees provided 

they are clearly marked, e.g. Administration Fee/sporting section (or such like) 

Fee.’ 
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(e) A receipt must be issued to a member of the Sub-Branch by the Sub-Branch as 

evidence of payment of the Annual Subscription. 

(f) A receipt must be issued to an associate member of the Sub-Branch by the Sub-

Branch as evidence of payment of the Annual Subscription less the Minimum 

Subscription Fee. 

(g) Annual subscriptions are due and payable in advance on 1 January in each calendar 

year. 

(h) A member of the Sub-Branch (who is not a Life member or who has paid the Life 

subscription) shall not be exempted from the obligation to pay the subscription, unless 

the person is of a class specified in the Rules and an exemption is in accordance 

with the Rules. 

 
11A UNPAID ANNUAL SUBSCRIPTIONS 

(a) A Member or the Sub-Branch who is not a Life member or a life subscriber who has 

not paid the annual subscription prescribed in these rules by 31 January in the year 

they fall due shall be refused entry to Licensed Sub-Branch premises and/or facilities, 

including sporting activities, and may be required to sign in as a visitor until such time 

as the said subscriptions are paid in full and details on the members RSL Card 

(mentioned in Rule 10.9) have been upgraded. 

(b) A member of the Sub-Branch who is not a Life member or a life subscriber who has 

not paid the annual subscription is not eligible to speak or vote at a meeting including 

elections and Committee or nominate for or hold any office in the Sub-Branch. 

(c) A member of the Sub-Branch who is not a Life member or a life subscriber or an 

Honorary member who has not paid the annual subscription shall on 1 May cease to 

be a member and the members name shall be removed from the Register of 

members. If the member wishes to rejoin the Sub-Branch they are required to make a 

new application for membership. 

 
12 NOTICE OF MEETINGS 

(a) The Secretary shall at least 14 days before any Annual or Ordinary general meeting 

and at least 7 days before any Extra-ordinary general meeting, save and except a 

meeting of the nature dealt with in sub-clause (c) of this Rule, send in accordance 

with Rule 13 to each Member [excluding honorary and Community members] at their 

postal, facsimile or electronic transmission address in the Sub-Branch register a 
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notice of such meeting stating the time and the place where it will be held and the 

nature of the business that will be brought forward at such meeting. In lieu of written 

notice to each member that a Sub-Branch may advertise the notice of meeting not 

less than three times in the 21-day period prior to the meeting, in the “Public Notice” 

section of the most widely distributed newspaper in the local municipality. Except that 

members who have lodged valid email addresses must also be emailed a notice in 

the first week of that period. 

The accidental omission to give any notice as aforesaid to any member shall not 

invalidate any resolutions carried at an Annual, Ordinary or Extraordinary general 

meeting. 

(b) The nature of the business to be dealt with at such meetings and the manner in which 

they are to be conducted shall be in accordance with these Rules as to the conduct 

of particular classes of meetings. 

(c) In the case of a meeting at which a special resolution is proposed, pursuant to section 

29 of the Associations Incorporations Act 1981 and where there is a statutory 

requirement of 21 days notice, then the Secretary shall in relation to such meeting 

give 21 days notice. 

 
13 NOTICES - MEMBERS 

(a) Every member shall communicate in writing to the Secretary regarding change of 

address. A notice, written request or any other communication under these Rules may 

be served on a person either personally, by sending it by post to their last known 

address or via email to their last known email address provided. 

(b) If a notice or communication is properly addressed, prepaid and posted or sent by 

facsimile or electronic transmission, it is deemed to have been given to the 

addressee at the time of posting/sending. 

(c) A notice may be served by sending to the Member a copy of any magazine/newsletter 

published by the Sub-Branch, which contains a full copy of the relevant notice. 

14 REGISTER OF MEMBERS 

(a) The Secretary of the Sub-Branch shall keep and maintain on the Sub-Branch 

premises a Register of all persons who are members of the Sub-Branch, which 

clearly indicates the category of membership to which the member has been admitted. 

The Register of members of a Sub-Branch must include the full name, address, 

qualifying service particulars (if applicable), date of entry and date of departure or 
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death (if applicable) of each member of the Sub-Branch and the date of the latest 

subscription payment by each Member (if applicable). 

(b) Such Register shall be displayed in a conspicuous place on the Sub-Branch 

premises and shall be open at any time to inspection by a Licensing Inspector in 

whose Division the Sub-Branch premises are situated, any authorised member of the 

Police Force or any authorised officer of the Victorian Commission for Gambling and 

Liquor Regulation. 

 
15 SUB-BRANCH DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE — SERVICE AND LIFE 

MEMBERS AND AFFILIATES 

(a) A Service member, Life member or Affiliate of a Sub-Branch may be suspended or 

expelled from the membership of the Sub-Branch by the Sub-Branch Committee 

under the following circumstances: 

(1) A member, who is drunk, violent or quarrelsome, must not refuse or fail to leave 

the premises if requested so to do by the Sub-Branch President or the senior 

member of the Committee present or the senior employee present; 

(2) A Service member, Life member or Affiliate of the Sub-Branch who is 

requested to leave the Sub-Branch under Rule 15(a)(1) may, where 

suspension is necessary to maintain the proper conduct of the Sub- Branch 

and/or its facilities, be suspended as a result of a joint decision by the Sub- 

Branch President and at least one other member of the Sub- Branch Executive 

from all Sub-Branch facilities; 

(b) A suspension under the provisions of Rule 15(a)(2) shall not exceed 30 days. 

(c) If a Sub-Branch Committee has reason to believe that a Service member, Life 

member or Affiliate of the Sub-Branch may be guilty of conduct unbecoming a 

member, the Sub-Branch Committee may resolve to impose a penalty upon them. 

Any Sub-Branch Committee member who has a material personal interest or any 

relationship which may lead to bias in considering whether the Sub-Branch member 

may be guilty of conduct unbecoming a member, must not be present while such 

resolution is being considered and must not have any input in the decision. 

(d) If the Committee of a Sub-Branch have reason to believe that a member may be 

guilty of conduct unbecoming a member it shall give not less than fourteen days notice 

in writing to that member of the date, time and place of its meeting at which it will 

consider whether or not they have been guilty of such conduct. Such notice shall be 
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accompanied by a statement in which there shall be set out full and precise 

particulars of the conduct of the member which will be considered by the 

Committee. 

(e) Either prior to or at the meeting of the Committee the member concerned may 

request it to elaborate upon any of the particulars set forth in the said statement. 

Such a request shall be complied with by the Committee. The said member may put 

to the Committee at the meeting such facts as they may consider relevant and shall 

be given every opportunity to address it. 

(f) The Committee shall decide at the meeting whether the member has been guilty of 

conduct unbecoming a member. If it is satisfied they have been guilty of such 

conduct, it may resolve that they be placed on a warning to improve their conduct, or 

be reprimanded or suspended from membership of the Sub- Branch for a period not 

exceeding 3 months for a Service or Life member and twelve months for an Affiliate, or 

expulsion from the Sub-Branch for an Affiliate and a recommendation for the 

withdrawal of awards, save for accessing welfare or pension assistance, or it may 

resolve that the matter should be referred to the State Branch for its consideration. 

The Committee must consider any period of suspension already taken in accordance 

with Rule 15(b). If the Committee believes that the discipline it can impose is not 

sufficient the Committee may refer the matter to the State Branch Tribunal. 

(g) The substance and decision of the meeting shall be recorded in the minutes of the 

meeting. Written notices, submissions and other correspondence relevant to the 

meeting shall be certified within seven days after the meeting, by its chairman, after 

conferring with the other members of the Committee. 

(h) The Secretary of the Sub-Branch shall notify the member in writing of the 

Committee's decision and his right of appeal within fourteen days after the 

certification. 

(i) A member aggrieved by a resolution of the Committee by which they were 

reprimanded or suspended from membership of the Sub-Branch for a period not 

exceeding 3 months for a Service or Life member and twelve months for an Affiliate, 

or expelled from the Sub-Branch for an Affiliate, may appeal to the State Branch 

Tribunal by notice in writing addressed to the Chief Executive Office of the Branch 

and lodged with the State Branch Tribunal. 

(j) An appeal shall be lodged together with the sum of $400 within fourteen days after 

the date of notification in writing and thereupon the decision of the Committee shall 

be stayed, (unless otherwise ordered by the State Branch Tribunal) until the appeal 
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is concluded, abandoned or discontinued. Upon application by the member, the 

State Branch Tribunal may waive lodgement of whole or part of the sum of $400 if it 

considers it just to do so. 

(k) An appeal lodged pursuant to this Rule shall be accompanied by a statement in 

writing in which the member shall set out the aspect or aspects of the decision 

which gave rise to the appeal, the grounds of their appeal and the facts upon which 

they rely. An appeal should not be treated as valid unless it complies with this Rule. 

(l) Upon receipt of an appeal the Sub-Branch shall forthwith forward it to its State 

Branch: 

(1) the appeal and accompanying statement; 

(2) the sum of $400; 

(3) all its papers and documents concerning the member, particularly the notice 

and statement; 

(4) a copy of its minutes relating to the matter giving rise to the appeal. 

(m) A State Branch Tribunal shall hear and determine an appeal pursuant to this Rule as 

soon as possible after receipt by the Chief Executive Officer of the Branch of the 

documents. 

(n) The Sub-Branch and the member concerned shall have a right of personally attending 

upon hearing of the appeal or any application to lift the stay by the State Branch 

Tribunal having given proper notice that they wish to do so. The State Branch Tribunal 

may dismiss the appeal, allow the appeal or substitute its own findings and shall make 

its decision based on the information presented at the hearing. The decision is final. 

(o) A resolution passed pursuant to this Rule whereby a member of a Sub-Branch is 

suspended or expelled from membership of that Sub-Branch shall not operate to 

otherwise affect the membership of that member save as otherwise provided in the 

National Bylaws. 

 
15A DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE — SOCIAL MEMBERS 

(a) A Social member of a Sub-Branch may be suspended or expelled from membership 

of the Sub-Branch by the Sub-Branch Committee under the following circumstances: 

(b) A member, who is drunk, violent or quarrelsome, must not refuse or fail to leave the 

premises if requested so to do by the Sub-Branch President or the senior member of 

the Committee present or the senior employee present. 
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(c) A Social member of the Sub-Branch who is requested to leave the Sub-Branch under 

Rule 15A(b) may, where suspension is necessary to maintain the proper conduct of 

the Sub-Branch and/or its facilities, be suspended as a result of a joint decision by the 

Sub-Branch President and at least one other member of the Sub-Branch Executive 

from all Sub-Branch facilities. 

(d) A suspension under the provisions of Rule 15A(c) shall not exceed 30 days. 

(e) If the Committee of the Sub-Branch (the “Committee”) has reason to believe that a 

Social member of the Sub-Branch, may be guilty of conduct unbecoming a member, 

it shall give not less than 14 days notice in writing to that member of the date, time 

and place of its meeting at which it will consider whether or not they have been 

guilty of such conduct. 

(f) The notice referred to in Rule 15A(e) shall be accompanied by a statement in which 

there shall be set out full and precise particulars of the conduct of the member, which 

will be considered by the Committee. 

(g) Either prior to or at the meeting of the Committee the member concerned may 

request it to elaborate upon any of the particulars set forth in the said statement. Such 

a request shall be complied with by the Committee. The said member may put to the 

Committee at the meeting such facts as they may consider relevant and shall be 

given every opportunity to address it. 

(h) The Committee shall decide at the meeting whether the Social member has been 

guilty of conduct unbecoming a member. If it is satisfied they have been guilty of such 

conduct, it may resolve that they be placed on a warning to improve their conduct or 

be reprimanded or be suspended from membership of the Sub-Branch not to exceed a 

period of twelve (12) months or expulsion from the Sub-Branch. Any Sub-Branch 

Committee member who has a material personal interest or any relationship which may 

lead to bias in considering whether the Sub-Branch member may be guilty of conduct 

unbecoming a member, must not be present while such resolution is being considered 

and must not have any input in the decision. 

(i) The substance and decision of the meeting referred in Rule 15A(h) shall be recorded in 

the minutes of the meeting. Written notices, submissions and other correspondence 

relevant to the matter shall be retained in a collected form for a period of at least 

twelve months. The minutes shall certified within seven days after the meeting by its 

Chairman, after conferring with the other members of the Committee. 

(j) The Secretary of the Sub-Branch shall notify the member in writing of the 

Committee’s decision after the certification period referred to in Rule 15A(i). 
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(k) The decision of the Committee shall be final. 
 
 

15B DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE — COMMUNITY MEMBERS 

(a) A Community member of a Sub-Branch may be suspended or expelled from 

membership of the Sub-Branch by an Executive Committee member or the most 

senior staff member present on the premises where: 

(1) a Community member is drunk, violent or quarrelsome; 

(2) a Community member refuses to or fails to leave the premises if requested to 

do so by an executive Committee member or the most senior member present 

on the premises; or, 

(3) where suspension is necessary to maintain the proper conduct of the 

Sub- Branch and/or its facilities. 

 
15C DISPUTES AND MEDIATION 

(a) That in the event of a dispute, not being a disciplinary matter, between: 

• A Member and their Sub-Branch or the State Branch; 

• Sub-Branches; and 

• A Sub-Branch and the State Branch; 

The following procedures to attempt to resolve the dispute shall apply. 

(1) That all parties to the dispute shall within 14 days after the arising of the dispute 

meet together and attempt to resolve the dispute. 

(2) If the parties fail to meet, or to resolve the dispute, a meeting shall take place in 

the presence of a mediator. 

(3) In the event of a dispute between a Member and their Sub-Branch or the State 

Branch the mediator shall be the relevant State Executive Liaison member 

appointed by the Region in which the dispute has arisen, as such other person 

as the State President may decide. For disputes between Sub-Branches and a 

Sub-Branch and the State Branch the mediator shall be a Branch Officer 

appointed by the State President. 

(4) The mediator shall conduct the mediation and conciliation so as to give the 

parties a proper opportunity to be heard and to produce written submissions if 

they desire and to ensure that natural justice is accorded to the parties. The 

mediator shall not decide the dispute. 
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(5) That the parties to the dispute must in good faith attempt to resolve the 

dispute by mediation and conciliation. 

(6) If the mediation process is unsuccessful the State Branch Tribunal shall hear 

and determine the dispute. 

(7) There is a right of appeal from the determination of the State Branch Tribunal to 

the National Tribunal (Service member and Life member only). 

 
16 CESSATION OF MEMBERSHIP 

(a) A member of the Sub-Branch ceases being a member of the Sub-Branch in the 

following circumstances: 

(1) by giving notice in writing to the Secretary of the member's resignation; or 

(2) if the person is suspended, for the term of the suspension; or 

(3) if the person is expelled from the Sub-Branch or the Branch. 

(b) Should a person cease to be a member in accordance with sub-rule (a): 

(1) if the person is also a Service or Life member ceases to be a member of the 

League or if an Affiliate, ceases to be an Affiliate of the Branch; and 

(2) the Secretary must record in the register of members the date on which the 

member ceased to be a member. 

(c) A member (who is not a Life member or who has paid any life subscription), who 

does not pay their Annual Subscription by 30 April, ceases to be a member of the 

Sub-Branch and, if the person is also a Service member ceases to be a member of 

the League or if an Affiliate, ceases to be an Affiliate of the Branch. 

(d) A person who ceases to be a member: 

(1) is not entitled to a refund of the annual subscription or the life subscription; 

(2) is liable for all amounts owing by them to the Sub-Branch or the Branch; and 

(3) is to return to the League badge to the Secretary of the Sub-Branch. 

(e) Subject to Rule (f) a right, privilege, or obligation of a member: 

(1) is not capable of being transferred or transmitted to another person; and 

(2) terminates upon the person ceasing to be a member, whether by death, 

resignation or otherwise. 
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(f) The obligations created by Rules 16(d)(3), 18(c), 18(d) and 18(f) do not cease if the 

person resigns or is removed as a member. 
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17 TRANSFER OF MEMBERSHIP 

(a) A Service or a Life member or an Affiliate, who desires to transfer their membership to 

another Sub-Branch, may do so provided the provisions relating to transfer of a 

member in the Branch Rules are complied with. 

(b) A Service or a Life member or an Affiliate, who wishes to apply for a transfer to another 

Sub-Branch, must inform the Sub-Branch Secretary of their intention to transfer their 

membership to another Sub-Branch. 

(c) The committee of the gaining Sub-Branch or the State Branch may accept or reject the 

transfer of a member to their Sub-Branch. 

(d) A member may not transfer between Sub-Branches more than once in a twelve-month 

period without the written approval of the Chief Executive Officer of the Branch. 

 
18 RULES CONSTITUTE TERMS OF A CONTRACT 

(a) These Rules constitute terms of a contract between the Sub-Branch and a member. A 

member agrees that by virtue of their membership of the Sub- Branch to be bound by 

these Rules, the National Constitution and the Branch Constitution. 

(b) A member must not: 

(1) aid, abet, procure or induce a person to breach these Rules or the National 

Constitution or the Branch Constitution; 

(2) in any way, directly or indirectly, be knowingly concerned in or a party to a breach 

of these Rules or the National Constitution or the Branch Constitution; or 

(3) attempt to breach these Rules or the National Constitution or the Branch 

Constitution. 

(c) A past member must not: 

(1) aid, abet, procure or induce a person to breach these Rules or the National 

Constitution or the Branch Constitution; 

(2) in any way, directly or indirectly, be knowingly concerned in or a party to a breach 

of these Rules or the National Constitution or the Branch Constitution; or 

(3) attempt to breach these Rules or the National Constitution or the Branch 

Constitution. 

(d) A member must do everything in their control to ensure that these Rules and the 

National Constitution and the Branch Constitution are not breached by a person. 
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(e) A Branch Bylaw is binding on the Sub-Branch or a member to the same effect as 

these Rules. 

(f) A member or a past member must not use the League name or the League badge 

without the prior written approval of the Branch. 

 
19 SUB-BRANCH COMMITTEE 

(a) The Sub-Branch Committee: 

(1) is to control and manage the business and affairs of the Sub-Branch; 

(2) may exercise all such powers and functions as may be exercised by the Sub-

Branch other than those powers and functions exercised by the Sub-Branch in 

general meeting; and 

(3) may perform all acts and things that appear to the Sub-Branch Committee to be 

essential for the proper management of the business and affairs of the Sub-

Branch. 

(b) The members of the Sub-Branch Committee are: 

(1) the Sub-Branch Officers elected under Rule 20; 

(2) not less than three or more than five members of the Sub-Branch elected under 

Rule 20; 

(3) the persons co-opted by the Sub-Branch Committee under Rule 19(d); 

(4) a member of the Sub-Branch appointed under Rule 19(m); and 

(5) a person appointed under Rule 19(g). 

(c) A Sub-Branch Officer is a member of the Sub-Branch either elected or appointed 

to one or more of the following positions: 

(1) The president; 

(2) an immediate past president (if applicable); 

(3) senior vice president; 

(4) vice president; 

(5) a secretary; and 

(6) a treasurer. 

The above Sub-Branch Officers are the Executive of the Sub-Branch, unless as 
otherwise agreed by the State Executive. 
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(d) The Sub-Branch Committee may co-opt up to three persons but a co-opted person is 

not entitled to a vote on the Sub-Branch Committee. 

(e) A member of the Sub-Branch Committee must not be: 

(1) a member of the Committee of another Sub-Branch [except if appointed 

under Rule 19(d)]; or 

(2) an employee of the Sub-Branch (except if appointed under Rule 19(g). 

(3) a member of the Sub-Branch Committee may occupy only one 

Committee position at the one time. 

(f) Where the Sub-Branch holds a venue operator’s license under the provisions of the 

Gambling Regulation Act 2003 a person elected, or appointed to the Committee who is 

not at the time of their election, or appointment an approved Associate of that Sub- 

Branch pursuant to the provisions of the Gambling Regulation Act, shall within 28 days 

of their election, or appointment, or such other time as shall be prescribed by the Office 

of Gaming Regulation lodge with the Victorian Commission for Gambling Regulation the 

necessary documentation to enable them to be approved as an Associate Individual 

pursuant to the provisions of the Act. 

(g) The Sub-Branch Committee may resolve to appoint a Secretary on such terms and 

conditions as the Sub-Branch Committee from time to time determines, 

notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in these Rules. 

(1) A person so appointed must agree to be bound by these Rules, the Branch 

Constitution and the National Constitution before such appointment is confirmed. 

(2) A person so appointed shall be entitled to retain their position as Secretary until 

the Sub-Branch Committee resolve otherwise. 

(h) A person appointed under Rule 19(g) shall not have the right to vote as a member of 

the Sub-Branch Committee, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in these 

Rules. 

(i) The Sub-Branch at its annual general meeting must appoint an auditor (if required in 

accordance with the Act) who must be a member of the Institute of Chartered 

Accountants or the Australian Society of Certified Practicing Accountants or any body 

described in section 1280 of the Corporations Law and must be registered under section 

1280 of the Corporations Law, unless the State Executive approves otherwise. 

(j) A person ceases to be the immediate past president of the Sub-Branch after the 

annual general meeting of the Sub-Branch next following their retirement as the 

president, or upon the earlier retirement of their successor. 
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(k) If the president of the Sub-Branch is absent or their office otherwise becomes vacant, 

the senior vice president (League member) assumes the office of the president. Save 

and except that prior to the senior vice president or the vice president or any other 

person (as the case may be) assuming the office of president they must provide to the 

Sub-Branch Secretary documentary proof of their service record and medal entitlement 

and until they have done so they cannot occupy the office of President. 

(l) If the Senior Vice President (League member) of the Sub-Branch, is absent or their office 

otherwise becomes vacant, the Vice President assumes the office of Senior Vice 

President (League). If a Vice President is absent or their office otherwise becomes 

vacant, the senior member (League), of the Sub-Branch Committee [see note to rule 

20(i)(2)], assumes the office of a vice president. Save and except that prior to assuming 

the office of vice president they must provide to the Sub-Branch Secretary documentary 

proof of their service record and medal entitlement and until they have done so they 

cannot occupy the office of vice president. 

(m) If there is a vacancy other than the president or senior vice president (League member), 

the Sub-Branch Committee may appoint a member of the Sub- Branch to fill the 

vacancy. 

(n) The office of a member of the Sub-Branch Committee becomes vacant if they: 

(1) cease to be a member or Affiliate, of the Sub Branch; 

(2) become of unsound mind or a person who is, or whose estate is, liable to be 

dealt with under the law relating to mental health; 

(3) become a bankrupt or insolvent or makes an arrangement or composition with 

their creditors; 

(4) are convicted of a serious criminal offence and the Sub-Branch Committee does 

not within one month of that conviction resolve to confirm the appointment or 

election to the office of a member of the Sub-Branch Committee; 

(5) resign by notice in writing to the Sub-Branch Committee; 

(6) are absent for three consecutive meetings of the Sub-Branch Committee unless 

the Sub-Branch Committee resolves otherwise; 

(7) move their principal place of residence outside Victoria, or if they are a member 

of a Sub-Branch which has members from both sides of the Victorian border, 

they move their principal place of residence outside Victoria and the bordering 

State; or 

(8) becomes an employee of the Sub-Branch [except if appointed under Rule 

19(g)]; 



Bylaw 10A - 31 

V4 (SC 27/07/2024) 

 

 

(9) in the case of the Sub-Branch, which holds a venue operator’s license pursuant 

to the provisions of the Gambling Regulation Act 2003, in the event of the 

Committee member not being approved by the Victorian Commission for 

Gambling Regulation as an approved Associate of the Sub-Branch; 

(10) is unable to be insured by the Sub-Branch with officers indemnity insurance for 

any reason; or 

(11) are suspended or expelled from membership. 

(o) That a member of the Committee of the Sub-Branch that holds a venue operator’s 

license pursuant to the provisions of the Gambling Regulation Act is not yet approved as 

an Associate shall not partake in any decision, nor seek to influence any decision of the 

Committee of the Sub-Branch in relation to the operation of the venue operator’s 

license held by the Sub-Branch or the control of gaming activities conducted at the 

Sub- Branch. 

(p) The secretary of the Sub-Branch must notify the Company Secretary of a change in 

the members of the Sub-Branch Committee within fourteen days of a change. 

(q) At the first meeting of a newly constituted Sub-Branch Committee, the Sub-Branch 

Committee must appoint, from within the Sub-Branch Committee or from the members 

of the Sub-Branch a person to one or more of the following positions: 

(1) a memorial custodian for the care of any local public memorial; 

(2) a membership recruitment officer; 

(3) a publicity officer; 

(4) a welfare officer; and 

(5) an appeals officer. 

(r) The responsibilities and obligations of the President of the Sub-Branch shall include: 

(1) shall be a member, ex-officio, of all Sub-Committees appointed or elected; 

(2) when present shall preside at all General and Sub-Branch Committee meetings; 

(3) may call meetings of the various Sub-Committees as and when they consider 

the occasion requires; 

(4) the Sub-Branch President shall at the meetings of the Sub-Branch, or of a 

Committee or Sub-Committee of the Sub-Branch, possess a vote and where 

voting is equal upon a question shall be entitled, when in the Chair, to a further 

or casting vote; 
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(5) ensure that the Sub-Branch discharges its responsibilities in relation to the 

Objects of the League, particularly welfare, charitable and commemorative roles; 

(6) ensure that the manager and senior staff have appropriate strategic guidance 

and policy direction to allow them to effectively run the day-to-day commercial 

operations of the Sub-Branch in an independent way, with the primary objective 

of maintaining the financial commercial health of the Sub-Branch; 

(7) ensure the Committee receives reports as required and requested; 

(8) ensures that the commercial success of the Sub-Branch supports the RSL 

objectives as set out by the Committee; 

(9) takes corrective action if any commercial activity is compromising the values 

of the League at National, Branch or Sub-Branch level; and 

(10) comply with all obligations and responsibilities required under the Act. 

(s) The duties of a treasurer of the Sub-Branch are, amongst other things to: 

(1) supervise the receipt and expenditure of all monies; 

(2) examine regularly the bank or pass book, pay in slips, accounts, cash and other 

books of the Sub-Branch, and see that such documents, accounts, and books 

are properly kept, and that financial transactions of the Sub-Branch are 

conducted in a regular manner; 

(3) prepare a report for the Sub-Branch Committee meeting in each month, 

showing the financial position of the Sub-Branch as disclosed by the 

documents, accounts, and books made available by the secretary; 

(4) examine all accounts submitted for payment by the secretary, and certify to the 

correctness of the account for presentation to the committee where necessary; 

(5) keep proper accounts by a method appropriate to the size of the Sub- Branch 

and to record all financial transactions; 

(6) in conjunction with the auditor (if applicable) decide upon the system to be 

adopted by the secretary in the keeping of all books relating to the financial 

transactions of the Sub-Branch; 

(7) preside over any Finance Committee that may be appointed, and advise the Sub- 

Branch Committee upon its financial position and transactions; 

(8) be a signatory to cheques, or electronic funds transfer documents, drawn upon 

the accounts of the Sub-Branch; 
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(9) cause to be prepared for audit (if required in accordance with the Act) and submit 

audited (if applicable) report and accounts to the annual general meeting of the 

Sub-Branch, an annual Statement of receipts and expenditure, together with a 

balance sheet showing the assets and liabilities of the Sub-Branch at the balance 

date; 

(10) send audited (if required in accordance with the Act) financial Statements to the 

Branch by 30 April each year; 

(11) if applicable, attend upon the auditor when required and explain anything the 

auditor may require respecting the accounts; 

(12) prepare a monthly list of disbursements, and obtain approval of the Sub- Branch 

Committee at meeting for payment, except in a matter of urgency or necessity, 

and then by consultation with the secretary or the president to pre-pay such 

account and then have such payment endorsed by the Sub-Branch Committee 

at its next meeting; 

(13) comply with all obligations and responsibilities required under the Act; and 

(14) receive all monies paid to or received by the Sub-Branch and issue receipts for 

those monies in the name of the Sub-Branch; 

(15) ensure that all monies received are paid into the account of the Sub- Branch 

within five working days after receipt; 

(16) make any payments authorized by the Committee or by General Meeting of the 

Sub-Branch from the Sub-Branch's funds; 

(17) ensure cheques are signed by at least two Committee members; 

(18) ensure that the financial records of the Sub-Branch are kept in accordance with 

the Act; 

(19) coordinate and prepare the financial statements of the Sub-Branch and have 

them certified by the Committee prior to the submission to the Annual General 

Meeting of the Sub-Branch; and 

(20) ensure that at least one other Committee member has access to the accounts 

and financial records of the Sub-Branch. 

(t) The duties of a secretary of the Sub-Branch are, amongst other things to: 

(1) attend all meetings of the Sub-Branch; 

(2) record or cause to be recorded accurate minutes of the proceedings of 

meetings; 
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(3) when required, furnish the Sub-Branch, the Chief Executive Officer or 

their representative, with information from Sub-Branch records. 

(4) prepare and sign all notices and other documents required by the Rules of the 

Branch or by the Bylaws and directions of the Sub-Branch or the Act; 

(5) give up to the president or to the Sub-Branch Committee, or to any authorised 

committee, when requested so to do, all documents, monies, property belonging 

to the Sub-Branch, and upon the Sub-Branch becoming defunct, and upon 

request, give up to the Chief Executive Officer or their representative, to hold on 

behalf of veterans' interests in the district, all documents, monies, property in 

their possession belonging to the late Sub-Branch, and deliver such documents, 

monies and property to the president, the Sub-Branch Committee, or to the 

Chief Executive Officer within twenty-four hours of receiving a notice so to do; 

(6) prepare all returns and Statements required by the Branch, and forward same to 

the Company Secretary forthwith; 

(7) at the commencement of each Sub-Branch meeting draw the chairperson's 

attention to the presence of any person not entitled to be present, and advise 

them of the requirement of a quorum; 

(8) under the direction of the president or the Sub-Branch Committee, conduct all 

correspondence of the Sub-Branch; 

(9) perform such other duties as the Sub-Branch Committee may from time to 

time require; 

(10) be a signatory to cheques, or electronic funds transfer documents, drawn upon 

the accounts of the Sub-Branch; 

(11) be the First Secretary for the purposes of the Act; 

(12) keep custody of the common seal if applicable; 

(13) comply with all obligations and responsibilities required under the Act; 

(14) maintain the register of members in accordance with the Act; 

(15) keep custody of all books, documents and securities of the Sub-Branch in 

accordance with the Act; and 

(16) as required by the Act, provide members with access to the register of members, 

the minutes of General Meetings and other books and documents. 

(u) A paid employee of the Sub-Branch being a member of the Sub-Branch [except if 

appointed under Rule 19(g)] shall not be elected to, or after becoming a paid employee 

as aforesaid shall not remain on, the Committee of the Sub-Branch. 
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(v) That where a staff member of the Sub-Branch resigns, or is terminated for any reason, 

except if appointed under Rule 19(g), that staff member shall not be eligible to hold a 

position on the Committee of the Sub-Branch for a period of two years from the date of 

resignation or termination, save and except that this rule can be waived in relation to a 

particular person who has previously been a staff member by the passing of a 

resolution by the Sub-Branch in General Meeting with such resolution receiving a vote 

of at least 75% of the members present and voting at the said meeting. 

(w) A social member of the Sub-Branch may not be elected to any executive position (that 

is, president, vice president/s, secretary or treasurer) on the Sub- Branch Committee 

(subject to the provisions of Rule 19(g)). Social members may not hold more than one 

position on the Committee of the Sub-Branch. A social member on the Committee of a 

Sub-Branch may only vote on matters relating to the operation of Sub-Branch facilities 

available to members of the Sub-Branch. 

(x)  

(1) A member of the Sub-Branch Committee who has a financial or material interest 

in a contract or arrangement made or proposed to be made with the Sub-Branch 

must disclose this interest at the first Committee meeting at which the contract 

or arrangement is first considered. 

(2) A member of the Sub-Branch Committee who has a material personal interest in 

a matter being considered at a Committee meeting must disclose the nature and 

extent of that interest to the Committee. The member of the Sub-Branch 

Committee must not be present while the matter is being considered at the 

meeting and must not vote on the matter. 

(3) A member of a Sub-Branch or the State Branch must not, whilst holding any 

Office in a Sub-Branch or the State Branch, provide a service for a fee or reward 

or advantage to any member of a Sub-Branch or the State Branch, for which a 

facility or service is provided for or available from a Sub-Branch or the State 

Branch for no fee. 

(y) The Sub-Branch Committee must meet at least four times in each year at the dates, 

times and places determined by the Sub-Branch Committee. The Committee must 

ensure that minutes are taken and kept of each Committee meeting. The minutes 

must record; 

(1) the name of the members in attendance at the meeting; 

(2) the business considered at the meeting; 

(3) any resolution on which a vote is taken and the result of that vote; 
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(4) any material personal interest disclosed; and 

(5) an action item list or table. 

(z) A meeting of the Sub-Branch Committee must be held in camera unless the 

Committee resolves otherwise. 

(aa) The Sub-Branch Committee shall be responsible for deciding prices chargeable to 

the Members in the administration of the Sub-Branch and giving therein the 

necessary notices to members. 

(bb) A vote of a member of the Committee is to be given personally. 

(cc) 

(1) The Sub-Branch Committee shall appoint a Finance, Audit and Risk 

Management Sub-Committee from amongst the members of the Sub-Branch 

Committee. 

(2) The Sub-Branch Committee shall have power to appoint from among the 

members such other Sub-Committees for such purposes it shall deem 

necessary and shall have full power to delegate thereto such power, as it deems 

appropriate. 

(3) All Sub-Committees shall report in writing upon their proceedings at the next 

meeting of the Sub-Branch Committee. All such Sub-Committees shall be 

subordinate to the Sub-Branch Committee, which may allot, vary or amend the 

duties of such Sub-Committees. Each Sub- Committee shall appoint a 

Convenor, who shall convene meetings as may be directed by the Sub-Branch 

Committee or the president of the Sub-Branch. Each Sub-Committee shall keep 

a minute book containing a true record of all proceedings. 

(dd) The Sub-Branch Committee may act notwithstanding any vacancy on the Sub-Branch 

Committee. 

(ee) 

(1) Any five members of the Sub-Branch Committee shall constitute a quorum for 

the transaction of the business of a meeting of the Sub-Branch Committee. 

(2) No business shall be transacted at a Sub-Branch Committee meeting unless a 

quorum is present and if within half an hour of the time appointed for a Sub- 

Branch Committee meeting a quorum is not present the Sub-Branch 

Committee meeting shall stand adjourned to the same place and at the same 

hour of the same day in the following week. 
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(ff) The position held by members of the Sub-Branch Committee elected or appointed 

under rule 19(b) are honorary positions, [except if appointed under rule 19(g)]. 

(gg) The Sub-Branch Committee shall undertake such training, in relation to its 

responsibilities and duties, including Sub-Branch corporate governance, financial 

management matters, and their responsibility under the Liquor Control Reform Act 

and the Gambling Act, and as shall be directed by the State Executive from time to 

time. 

(hh) The manager of the Sub-Branch shall attend all appropriate Sub-Branch Committee 

meetings, including house and finance sub-committee meetings, save and except that 

the Sub-Branch Committee may resolve, from time to time, to meet in camera and at 

which only voting Committee members are present. 

 
19A DUTIES OF THE SUB-BRANCH COMMITTEE 

(a) The members of the Sub-Branch Committee must not knowingly or recklessly make 

improper use of information acquired by virtue of holding that office: 

(1) to gain advantage for themselves or any other person; or 

(2) to cause detriment to the Sub-Branch. 

(b) The members of the Sub-Branch Committee must not knowingly or recklessly make 

improper use of that office: 

(1) to gain advantage for themselves or any other person; or 

(2) to cause detriment to the Sub-Branch. 

(c) The members of the Sub-Branch Committee must exercise their powers and 

discharge their duties with the degree of care and diligence that a reasonable person 

would if that person: 

(1) were an officeholder of the Sub-Branch in the circumstances applying at the time 

of the exercise of the power or the discharge of the duty; and 

(2) occupied the office held by, and had the same responsibilities within the Sub- 

Branch as, the officeholder. 

(d) The members of the Sub-Branch Committee must make any decision to take or not 

take action in respect of a matter relevant to the operations of the Sub- Branch: 

(1) in good faith for a proper purpose; and 

(2) without a material personal interest in the subject matter; and 
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(3) after informing themselves about the subject matter to the extent that it is 

believed appropriate; and 

(4) in the rational belief that the best interests of the Sub-Branch have 

been considered. 

(e) The members of the Sub-Branch Committee must exercise their powers and 

discharge their duties: 

(1) in good faith and in the best interest of the Sub-Branch; and 

(2) for a proper purpose. 
 
 

20 ELECTIONS OF THE SUB-BRANCH COMMITTEE (SEEBRANCH BYLAW 
23 FOR VOTING DETAIL) 

(a)  

(1) Positions on the Sub-Branch Committee become vacant at the Annual General 

Meeting of the Sub-Branch as provided for in Rule 20(a)(2), except any person 

appointed by the Sub-Branch Committee under Rule 19(g) who shall be entitled 

to retain their position until the Sub-Branch Committee resolve otherwise. 

(2) That the members of the Sub-Branch Committee shall be elected for a term of 

two years, save and except that, a Sub-Branch by resolution of the members, 

may apply to the State Executive for authority to continue one year terms of 

office, for all Committee positions. 

a. Persons co-opted under Rule 19(d) shall be appointed for a term not 

exceeding the term of office for the Committee as provided for in Rule 

20(a)(2). 

b. If a casual vacancy occurs in any committee position the person 

appointed to fill that position shall hold that office for the term set down 

for the particular office or position. 

(3) The members of the Sub-Branch Committee shall be elected for a term as 

provided for in Rule 20(a)(2) by members of a class of membership that 

constitutes not less than 60% of the total membership of the Sub- Branch, 

[excluding temporary or honorary members and persons who are members by 

reason only of reciprocal arrangements with another club or persons whose 

rights as members are limited to rights as social, Community or neighborhood 

members (hereinafter in this sub-clause a) referred to as "the excluded 

members")]. In the event that the number of members of the Sub-Branch entitled 

to vote for the election of the Sub- Branch Committee is below 60% of the total 
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membership of the Sub- Branch (excluding the excluded members) then all 

Associate Members of the Sub-Branch (excluding the excluded members) shall 

be entitled to vote for the election of the Sub-Branch Committee. 

(b)  

(1) At least six (6) weeks prior to the date of the proposed Sub-Branch Annual 

General Meeting, the Committee of the Sub-Branch may resolve to select from 

the Service, Life Members and Affiliates of the Sub- Branch or from other 

persons who shall within one (1) month of the nomination and prior to the 

Annual General Meeting become members of the Sub-Branch in the class of 

Service Member or Affiliate, up to three (3) persons who at the time of the 

selection shall not be members of the Committee, to serve on the incoming 

Committee of the Sub-Branch to be installed after the Annual General Meeting. 

(2) The outgoing Committee shall designate the positions that the selected persons 

shall hold on the Committee being any of the Secretary, Treasurer, or 

Committee member. 

(3) Subject to the consent in writing of each of the selected persons, the Sub- 

Branch Committee shall nominate and recommend to the Annual General 

Meeting that the selected persons be elected to the incoming Committee and to 

the position on the Committee or as office bearer as decided by the outgoing 

Sub-Branch Committee. There shall, at the Annual General Meeting, be no other 

election for such Sub-Branch Committee positions. 

(4) In the event of the Annual General Meeting not electing a person that has been 

nominated by the Sub-Branch Committee pursuant to this clause, the Sub- 

Branch Committee shall be able to fill that vacancy as a casual vacancy 

pursuant to clause 19(m) of these Rules. The person so appointed shall hold 

office until the next Annual General Meeting; save that a person during that year 

has nominated to a General Meeting for appointment pursuant to this Rule and 

not elected by a General Meeting shall not be eligible to be appointed to that 

casual vacancy. 

(5) Further to the above, the Committee may resolve to recommend any of the 

selected person(s) to the Annual General Meeting in subsequent years, but in 

each year after the first term the Committee must advise the Members of their 

intention to do so, prior to the date of the closure of nominations for the particular 

office for Committee. This advice will indicate that if there are other eligible 

Members who wish to nominate for that Sub-Branch Committee position, and 

have the skills to fill that position, then a ballot for that position will be conducted. 
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In the absence of any other such eligible and suitable candidates, the Committee 

nominee shall be duly elected vide Rule 20(j). 

(c) Subject to Rule 20(b), the Sub-Branch Committee must, at least six (6) weeks prior to 

the Annual General Meeting, determine the manner in which an election (and if 

necessary, the conduct of a ballot) is to be held. 

(d) Subject to clauses 20(e), 20(p)(4) and 10.7(d)(1) a Service member, Life member or 

an Affiliate of the Sub-Branch may nominate or be nominated for one or more positions 

on the Sub-Branch Committee. 

(e) A Life, Service or Affiliate member who has been suspended by or from: 

(1) the Sub-Branch or the League by the Sub-Branch Committee or the State 

Branch or National Tribunal; or 

(2) the Sub-Branch by the Sub-Branch management under the provisions of the 

Liquor Licensing Act and Regulations 

since the previous Sub-Branch AGM shall not be eligible to nominate for the Sub- 

Branch Committee for a period of 12 months following the completion of the 

suspension. 

(f) That a member nominating for Sub-Branch Officer (Executive) of a Licensed Sub- 

Branch, holding a venue operator’s license pursuant to the provisions of the Gambling 

Act, must have served at least 1 year on a Sub-Branch Committee at any time within 

the past five years, save and except: 

(1) that at the request of the Sub-Branch Committee, the State Executive may 

waive this rule in relation to a particular person where it has been shown to be in 

the best interests of the Sub-Branch to do so; 

(2) persons nominated pursuant to Rule 20(b). 

(g) If the number of nominations for a position on the Sub-Branch Committee exceeds the 

number to be elected to that position, there is to be an election by secret ballot or a 

show of hands, as decided by the Sub-Branch Committee under Rule 20(b). 

(h) If a member is elected to a position on the Sub-Branch Committee, any other 

nominations the member has, lapses. 

(i)  

(1) For the purposes of conducting the ballot, a returning officer and not less than 

two scrutineers are to be appointed by the Sub-Branch Committee from among 

the Service or Life members or Affiliates. 
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(2) Subject to Rule 20(c), the ballot shall be conducted in the following 

descending order: 

President; 

Senior vice president; 

Vice president; 

Secretary; [except if appointed by the Sub-Branch Committee 
under Rule 19(g)] 

Treasurer; 

Committeeman [the senior of whom shall be the member polling 
the most votes, or if no vote is necessary, then a 
method as determined by the meeting] 

(3) If there is a tied vote, the name drawn from a hat by the returning officer in the 

presence of the scrutineers is the person elected. 

(4) If for any reason, the Sub-Branch Committee resolves that they are unable to 

appoint a returning officer then they shall apply in writing to the State Executive 

for a League member to be appointed. The State Executive will then appoint a 

League member to be the returning officer. 

(5) The returning officer of the Sub-Branch must not be an employee of the Sub- 

Branch or a candidate for Committee or office. 

(j) If the number of nominations for a position on the Sub-Branch Committee does not 

exceed the number to be elected to that position, the nominees are duly elected to the 

position. 

(k) The secretary of the Sub-Branch must notify the Company Secretary within fourteen 

days of the meeting that appointed or elected the Sub-Branch Committee the 

members of that Sub-Branch Committee. 

(l) Subject to the provisions of these Rules a Social member may be elected to the 

Committee of the Sub-Branch but not an executive position. A Service member, Life 

member, Affiliate or social member of a Sub-Branch may nominate a social member 

for election to the Sub-Branch Committee other than an executive position. 

(m) A social member of the Sub-Branch is not entitled to vote on any matter other than in 

respect of the election of a social member to the Committee of the Sub-Branch. 

(n) Canvassing is not permitted for any elected position in the Sub-Branch, subject to 

Branch Rule 4.9. 

(o)  
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 (1) Any officer or member of the Committee of the Sub-Branch may be deposed 

upon a resolution carried at a specially summoned General Meeting of the Sub- 

Branch convened by the president for the expressed purpose of considering the 

deposition, and of which at least fourteen (14) days notice shall be given to all 

members (excluding honorary and Community members) of the Sub-Branch at 

the address shown in the Sub-Branch register. The notice is to state the time 

and place of such meeting and the nature of the business to be transacted at 
that meeting. 

(2) The meeting deposing the officer or member of the Committee shall forthwith 

proceed to elect a member to fill the vacancy created. Such casual vacancy 

shall hold office until the next Annual General Meeting. 

(p)   

 (1) At the meeting referred to in Rule 20(c), the Committee shall determine the 

opening date and the closing date, time and place for written nominations, 

referred to in sub-rule (4) below. 

 (2) Nominations of persons who are not Life members or Life Subscribers, who 

have not paid the annual subscriptions for the current year, must be rejected [see 

Rule 11A(b)]. 

 (3) Nominations shall be in accordance with Rules 20(p)(4) to (8). 

 (4) Nominations for Committee shall be in writing, contain the name and address of 

the nominated member, be signed by at least two (2) members entitled to vote 

and shall be delivered to the returning officer at least fourteen (14) days before 

the date fixed for the Annual General Meeting, or the date of the election (ballot) 

if held separately, and shall be posted on the notice board by noon on the day 

following receipt of each such nomination. 

 (5) The name of any person proposed for election as a member of the Sub-Branch 

Committee shall be displayed in a conspicuous place in the Sub-Branch 

premises for not less than one (1) week before the date of the election. 

 (6) The nomination form for election and the record of the Sub-Branch Officers and 

Committee shall be in accordance with Branch requirements. 

 (7) Any withdrawal of a nomination by a candidate shall be in writing and submitted to 

the returning officer and shall be posted on the notice board by the returning 

officer at the earliest opportunity. 

 (8) Notwithstanding other provisions in these Rules, a candidate for the office of 

Sub-Branch President or Senior Vice President (League member) or Vice 
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President (League member) must provide to the Sub- Branch Secretary and the 

Returning Officer documentary proof of their service record and medal 

entitlement and until they have done so the Returning Officer must reject the 

nomination. If after the date and time of the close of nominations the required 

proof has not been provided then the nomination lapses. 

 
21 MEETINGS OF THE SUB-BRANCH 
The Committee must ensure that minutes are taken and kept of each meeting of the Sub- 
Branch. The minutes must record: 

(a) the name of the members in attendance at the meeting, 

(b) the business considered at the meeting, 

(c) any resolution on which a vote is taken and the result of that vote, 

(d) the financial statements submitted to the members including the certification that the 

financial statements are true and fair, and 

(e) any auditor's accounts and auditor's report (if applicable). 
 
 

21A ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 

(a) The Sub-Branch must hold an Annual General Meeting (AGM), which is the governing 

body of the Sub-Branch, before the end of April each year on such date, time and place 

as the Committee of the Sub-Branch shall determine. Notice of the annual general 

meeting is to be provided to all members (excluding Community and honorary 

members) of the Sub-Branch in accordance with Rule 12. 

(b) At the annual general meeting of the Sub-Branch: 

(1) the president of the Sub-Branch must present their report on the Sub- Branch 

for the preceding year. 

(2) the treasurer of the Sub-Branch must submit the audited (if applicable) financial 

statements of the Sub-Branch, in accordance with Part 7 of the Act, for the 

preceding year. 

(3) the Sub-Branch Committee are to be elected or the returning officer declare the 

results of an election previously conducted in a manner determined by the Sub- 

Branch under the provision of Rule 20(b). 

(4) if applicable, the auditor of the Sub-Branch is to be appointed. 

(5) other business of which notice has been given or which the chairperson deems 

important is to be dealt with. 
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(6) the returning officer of the Sub-Branch must not be a candidate for office 

or Committee for which an election is necessary. 

(c)  

(1) Until otherwise determined by the Sub-Branch, the quorum for the annual 

general meeting shall comprise those Service and Life members and Affiliates 

present at the appointed time for any meeting, subject to the proviso that the 

number of Service and Life members (who are not Sub-Branch officers or 

Committee persons) present exceeds the number of Sub-Branch officers and 

Committee members present. 

(2) If within half an hour after the appointed time for the commencement of the 

annual general meeting a quorum is not present, the chairperson must adjourn 

the annual general meeting to a date not less than twenty one (21) days from the 

original meeting and to a time and place as the chairperson decides and if at the 

adjourned meeting the quorum is not present within half an hour after the 

appointed time for the commencement of the annual general meeting the 

Service and Life members present are the quorum. 

(3) The Sub-Branch Secretary must give written notice to all members (excluding 

Community and honorary members) of the Sub-Branch of the adjourned annual 

general meeting at least fourteen (14) days before the adjourned annual general 

meeting. 

(d)  

(1) The president of the Sub-Branch is to be the chairperson of the annual general 

meeting but if the Sub-Branch president is not present within fifteen (15) minutes 

after the time appointed for the commencement of the annual General meeting, 

or is unwilling or unable to act as the chairperson, the Sub-Branch senior vice- 

president, is to be the chairperson of the annual general meeting. 

(2) If the Sub-Branch senior vice president is not present within fifteen (15) minutes 

after the time appointed for the commencement of the annual general meeting, 

or is unwilling or unable to act as the chairperson of the annual general meeting, 

the Service and Life members of the Sub- Branch present shall elect one of their 

number to preside as chairperson of the meeting. 

(e)  

(1) The only business to be transacted at the annual general meeting is that included 

on the agenda, unless the chairperson decides that it is in the interests of the 

Sub-Branch that business not included on the agenda be transacted. 
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(2) The annual general meeting shall determine if an honorarium is to be paid in the 

following financial year to Sub-Branch officers and if so the amount to be paid. 

(f) A quorum must be present at the annual general meeting before any business is to be 

transacted except for the election of a chairperson and the adjournment of the annual 

general meeting under Rule 21B(c)(2). 

(g) A question arising at the annual general meeting is to be decided by a majority unless 

otherwise required by the Act, the National Constitution or the Branch Constitution or 

these Rules. 

(h) Save for the election of the Sub-Branch Committee which shall be conducted in 

accordance with Rule 20(b) and 20(d), a question arising at an annual general meeting 

is to be determined on a show of hands and unless before or on the show of hands a 

poll is demanded, a declaration by the chairperson that a resolution has, on a show of 

hands, been carried or carried unanimously or carried by a particular majority or lost 

and an entry to that effect is made in the minute book, that entry is evidence of that 

fact, without proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of, or 

against, that resolution. 

(i) At an annual general meeting of the Sub-Branch a member of the Sub-Branch 

entitled to vote under these Rules has one vote only. A member of the Sub- Branch 

entitled to vote at an annual general meeting may only vote in person, by postal or 

absentee voting, as determined by the Committee under Rule 20(b). Proxy voting is 

not permitted. 

(j) In the case of an equality of voting on a question, the chairperson is entitled to 

exercise a casting vote. 

(k) A poll at an annual general meeting may be demanded by no less than five members 

of the Sub-Branch entitled to vote at the annual general meeting. 

(l) If a poll on any question is demanded, it is to be taken at that meeting in such manner 

as the chairperson directs and the resolution of the poll is to be deemed to be a 

resolution of the annual general meeting on that question. 

(m) If a poll is demanded on the election of a chairperson or on a question of an 

adjournment under Rule 21A(c)(2) it is to be taken immediately. 

(n) A poll that is demanded on any other question is to be taken at such time before the 

close of the annual general meeting as the chairperson directs. 

(o) Subject to Rule 11A(b), a member of the Sub-Branch is not entitled to vote at the 

annual general meeting unless all moneys due and payable by the member to the Sub- 

Branch have been paid. 
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21B ORDINARY GENERAL MEETINGS 

(a) The Sub-Branch Committee shall, subject to Rule 12, convene not less than one 

ordinary general meeting (OGM) of the members [excluding honorary and 

Community members] of the Sub-Branch between Annual General Meetings. 

(b) One such ordinary general meeting shall be held within sixty days immediately 

preceding the Annual Conference under the Branch Constitution to: 

(1) Determine the votes of the Sub-Branch for Branch Officers. 

(2) Instruct the Sub-Branch delegates to the Annual Conference on how to vote 

on matters listed in the Agenda for the Annual Conference. 

(c)  

(1) Until otherwise determined by the Sub-Branch, the quorum for an ordinary 

general meeting shall comprise those Service and Life members and Affiliates 

present at the appointed time for any meeting, subject to the proviso that the 

number of Service and Life members (who are not Sub-Branch Officers or 

Committee persons) present exceeds the number of Sub-Branch Officers and 

Committee members present. 

(2) If within half an hour after the appointed time for the commencement of the 

ordinary general meeting a quorum is not present, the chairperson must adjourn 

the ordinary general meeting to a date not less than twenty one (21) days from 

the original meeting and to a time and place as the chairperson decides and if at 

the adjourned meeting the quorum is not present within half an hour after the 

appointed time for the commencement of the ordinary general meeting the 

Service and Life members present are the quorum. 

(3) The Sub-Branch Secretary must give written notice to all members of the 

Sub- Branch of the adjourned ordinary general meeting at least fourteen (14) 

days before the adjourned ordinary general meeting. 

(d)  

(1) The president of the Sub-Branch is to be the chairperson of the ordinary general 

meeting but if the Sub-Branch President is not present within fifteen (15) minutes 

after the time appointed for the commencement of the ordinary general meeting, 

or is unwilling or unable to act as the chairperson, the Sub-Branch senior vice- 

president, is to be the chairperson of the ordinary general meeting. 
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(2) If the Sub-Branch senior vice president is not present within fifteen (15) 

minutes after the time appointed for the commencement of the ordinary 

general meeting, or is unwilling or unable to act as the chairperson of the 

ordinary general meeting, the Service and Life members of the Sub- 

Branch present shall elect one of their number to preside as chairperson 

of the meeting. 

(e) The only business to be transacted at the ordinary general meeting is that included on 

the agenda, unless the meeting resolves that it is in the interest of the Sub-Branch 

that the business not included on the agenda be transacted. 

(f) A quorum must be present at an ordinary general meeting before any business is to 

be transacted except for the election of a chairperson and the adjournment of the 

ordinary general meeting under Rule 21B(c)(2). 

(g) A question arising at the ordinary general meeting is to be decided by a majority 

unless otherwise required by the Act, the National Constitution or the Branch 

Constitution or these Rules. 

(h) A question arising at an ordinary general meeting is to be determined on a show of 

hands and unless before or on the show of hands a poll is demanded, a declaration 

by the chairperson that a resolution has, on a show of hands, been carried or carried 

unanimously or carried by a particular majority or lost and an entry to that effect is 

made in the minute book, that entry is evidence of that fact, without proof of the 

number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of, or against, that resolution. 

(i) At an ordinary general meeting of the Sub-Branch a member of the Sub-Branch 

entitled to vote under these Rules has one vote only. A member of the Sub-Branch 

entitled to vote at an ordinary general meeting may only vote in person. Proxy voting 

is not permitted. 

(j) In the case of an equality of voting on a question, the chairperson is entitled to 

exercise a casting vote. 

(k) A poll at an ordinary general meeting may be demanded by no less than five 

members of the Sub-Branch entitled to vote at the ordinary general meeting. 

(l) If a poll on any question is demanded, it is to be taken at that meeting in such 

manner as the chairperson directs and the resolution of the poll is to be deemed to 

be a resolution of the ordinary general meeting on that question. 

(m) If a poll is demanded on the election of a chairperson or on a question of an 

adjournment under Rule 21B(c)(2) it is to be taken immediately. 
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(n) A poll that is demanded on any other question is to be taken at such time before the 

close of the ordinary general meeting as the chairperson directs. 

(o) Subject to Rule 11A(b) a member of the Sub-Branch is not entitled to vote at an 

ordinary general meeting unless all moneys due and payable by the member to the 

Sub-Branch have been paid. 

 
21C EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETINGS 

(a) Subject to the provisions of Rule 21C(t), the Sub-Branch Committee must, on the 

written request of ten per cent of the Service and Life members of the Sub- Branch, 

convene an extraordinary general meeting. 

(b) The request under Rule 21C(a) must state the business for which the extraordinary 

general meeting is required. 

(c) The extraordinary general meeting shall be called within thirty days from the receipt 

of the request, such meeting to be held within forty-nine days of the date of the 

receipt of the request. 

(d) If the Sub-Branch Committee does not convene an extraordinary general meeting 

pursuant to Rule 21C(a) in the time required under Rule 21C(c), the extraordinary 

general meeting may be convened by the members who had made the request under 

Rule 21C(a). 

(e) The Sub-Branch Committee or, if proceeding under Rule 21C(d), the requesting 

members, must serve on the members (excluding Community and honorary 

members) of the Sub-Branch a notice of the extraordinary general meeting together 

with details of the business to be transacted at least seven (7) days before the 

extraordinary general meeting. 

(f)  

(1) Except for a meeting convened under Rule 21C(t), the quorum for an 

extraordinary general meeting shall comprise those Service and Life members 

and Affiliates present at the appointed time for the meeting, subject to the proviso 

that the number of Service and Life members (who are not Sub-Branch officers 

or Committee persons) present exceeds the number of Sub-Branch officers and 

Committee members present. 

(2) If within half an hour after the appointed time for the commencement of the 

extraordinary general meeting a quorum is not present the meeting, if convened 

upon the requisition of members, shall be dissolved. 
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(3) If within half an hour after the appointed time for the commencement of the 

extraordinary general meeting a quorum is not present the meeting, if 

convened by the State Executive, shall be adjourned by the chairperson to a 

date not less than twenty-one days from the original meeting and to a time and 

place as the chairperson decides and if at the adjourned meeting the quorum is 

not present within half an hour after the appointed time for the commencement 

of the Extraordinary general meeting the Service and Life members present are 

the quorum. 

(4) The Secretary of the Sub-Branch must give written notice to all members 

(excluding Community and honorary members) of the Sub- Branch of the 

adjourned extraordinary general meeting at least seven days before the 

adjourned extraordinary general meeting. 

(g) Subject to Rule 21C(v) hereof: 

(1) The president of the Sub-Branch is to be the chairperson of the extraordinary 

general meeting but if the Sub-Branch president is not present within fifteen 

minutes after the time appointed for the commencement of the extraordinary 

general meeting, or is unwilling or unable to act as the chairperson, the Sub- 

Branch senior vice-president, is to be the chairperson of the extraordinary 

general meeting. 

(2) If the Sub-Branch senior vice president is not present within fifteen minutes after 

the time appointed for the commencement of the extraordinary general meeting, 

or is unwilling or unable to act as the chairperson of the extraordinary general 

meeting, the Service and Life members of the Sub-Branch present shall elect 

one of their number to preside as chairperson of the meeting. 

(h) The only business to be transacted at the extraordinary general meeting is that included 

on the agenda. 

(i) A quorum must be present at the extraordinary general meeting before any business 

is to be transacted except for the election of a chairperson and the adjournment of 

the extraordinary general meeting under Rule 21C(f)(3). 

(j) A question arising at the extraordinary general meeting is to be decided by a majority 

unless otherwise required by the Act, the National Constitution or the Branch 

Constitution or these Rules. 

(k) A question arising at an extraordinary general meeting is to be determined on a show of 

hands and unless before or on the show of hands a poll is demanded, a declaration 

by the chairperson that a resolution has, on a show of hands, been carried or carried 

unanimously or carried by a particular majority or lost and an entry to that effect is 
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made in the minute book, that entry is evidence of that fact, without proof of the 

number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of, or against, that resolution. 

(l) At an extraordinary general meeting of the Sub-Branch a member of the Sub- Branch 

entitled to vote under these Rules has one vote only. A member of the Sub-Branch 

entitled to vote at an extraordinary general meeting may only vote in person. Proxy 

voting is not permitted. 

(m) Except for an extraordinary general meeting convened under Rule 21C(t), in the case 

of an equality of votes the chairperson of the meeting is entitled to exercise a casting 

vote. 

(n) A poll at an extraordinary general meeting may be demanded by no less than five 

members of the Sub-Branch entitled to vote at the extraordinary general meeting. 

(o) If a poll on any question is demanded, it is to be taken at that meeting in such 

manner as the chairperson directs and the resolution of the poll is to be deemed to 

be a resolution of the extraordinary general meeting on that question. 

(p) If a poll is demanded on the election of a chairperson or on a question of an 

adjournment under Rule 21C(f)(3) it is to be taken immediately. 

(q) A poll that is demanded on any other question is to be taken at such time before the 

close of the extraordinary general meeting as the chairperson directs. 

(r) Subject to Rule 11A(b), a member of the Sub-Branch is not entitled to vote at an 

extraordinary general meeting unless all moneys due and payable by the member to 

the Sub-Branch have been paid. 

(s) Unless called by the State Executive under Rule 21C(t), there shall only be one 

extraordinary general meeting of the Sub-Branch in any one calendar year. Should 

circumstances prevail that members require an additional extraordinary general 

meeting, the request referred to in Rule 21C(a) shall be directed to the Chief 

Executive Officer who shall refer the matter to the State Branch Tribunal, which shall 

provide a written report and recommendation to the State Executive within forty-nine 

days of receipt of the request. 

(t) The State Executive may: 

(1) convene an extraordinary general meeting of a Sub-Branch, either as a result of 

the deliberations of the State Branch Tribunal under Rule 21C(s) or of its own 

volition; and 

(2) determine the quorum of the extraordinary general meeting. 
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(u) When the State Executive convenes an extraordinary general meeting of the Sub- 

Branch the State Executive shall appoint a person to chair the meeting. 

(v) The State Executive must serve a notice on the members (excluding Community and 

honorary members) of the Sub-Branch of the extraordinary general meeting 

convened under Rule 21C(t) together with the business to be transacted at least 

seven (7) days before the extraordinary general meeting. 

(w) At the Sub-Branch extraordinary general meeting, however convened, a State officer, 

the Chief Executive Officer or representative appointed by resolution of the State 

Executive, shall have the right to attend and speak at the meeting. 

 
22 SUSPENSION OR DISSOLUTION OF THE SUB-BRANCH 

(a) If the Sub-Branch contravenes or fails to observe or perform any of the provisions of 

the National Constitution, fails to be bound by or promote the standing policy of the 

League or has been guilty of conduct prejudicial to the interests of the League, the 

Branch may deal with the matter inaccordance with National Bylaw 8. 

(b) The provisions contained in National Bylaw 8 apply, mutatis mutandis, if the Sub-Branch 

contravenes or fails to observe or perform any of the provisions of these Rules or has 

been guilty of conduct prejudicial to the interest of the Branch. 

(c) If the charter of the Sub-Branch is suspended, the State Executive is to control the 

affairs of the Sub-Branch. 

(d) If the Sub-Branch is dissolved, wound up or its charter is withdrawn by the Branch; the 

Sub-Branch property shall be dealt with in accordance with rule 36(e). 

 
23 SIGNING OF CHEQUES & ELECTRONIC FUNDS TRANSFER 

(a) A cheque, or an Electronic Funds transfer, drawn on an account of the Sub- Branch is 

to be signed by any two executive members of the Committee; duly minuted as 

signatories by the Sub-Branch Committee. The Committee may also resolve to 

nominate the Manager (if appointed) to be a signatory, provided that where accounts 

are administered under the Veterans Act 2005 (VIC) the signatories must comply with 

the Act. 

The procedure for urgent electronic funds transfers where no signatories are 

available shall be determined by the Sub-Branch Committee. All Electronic Funds 

transfers are to be presented by the Treasurer at the next Sub-Branch Committee 

Meeting. 
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(b) If signatories to cheques, as provided for in rule 23(a), are not present or available to 

sign cheques drawn on a special gaming account, that has been set up for the 

purpose of paying out prize money, the authority to sign these cheques may be 

delegated, by the Committee, to the Manager and the duty senior supervisor. The 

management and the operation of this special account shall be the responsibility of the 

Sub-Branch Treasurer. 

 
24 SUB-BRANCH BOOKS 

(a) Except as otherwise provided in these Rules, the secretary or the secretary/treasurer 

of the Sub-Branch is to keep in their custody or under their control all the books, 

accounts, minutes books, statutory registers kept under any law (if any), records and 

securities maintained by the Sub-Branch. 

(b) The Sub-Branch must, if required by the Branch, produce for inspection all books, 

accounts, minutes books, statutory registers kept under any law (if any), records and 

securities and supply such returns and other information as the Branch may from 

time to time require. 

(c) Subject to the Act, any member may have access to the minutes of General Meetings 

and the register of members. A member must not make improper use of information 

about a person obtained from the register of members and access to personal 

information of a person recorded in the register of members may be restricted by the 

Committee. 

(d) Those funds generated by, or for a Sub-Committee of the Sub-Branch, a Sporting 

Section or a Subsidiary Association or Section (as defined in Branch Rules Part 16) 

remain under the control of the President and members of the Sub-Branch Committee. 

 
25 ACCOUNTS OF THE SUB-BRANCH 
The audited (if applicable) accounts of the Sub-Branch must be provided to the Branch by 30 
April each year. 

 
 

26 MONEY RECEIVED 
All money raised, collected or otherwise received by any person or persons where the name 
of the Sub-Branch is used or inferred must be paid into the Sub-Branch bank account and a 
receipt issued. 

 
 

27 COMMUNICATIONS WITH GOVERNMENTS, THE LEAGUE AND 
BRANCHES 

A League matter raised by the Sub-Branch or a member of the Sub-Branch for the attention 
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of any Government of the Commonwealth, State or Territory, the League or any of its 
Officers or the Branch or any other State Branch, must be directed through the Chief 
Executive Officer, unless otherwise approved in writing by the State Executive. 

 
 

28 NO AMALGAMATION 
The Sub-Branch must not amalgamate with any other body, including another Sub- Branch, 
without the prior written approval of the State Executive. 

 
 

29 SALE OF REAL SUB-BRANCH PROPERTYAND CREATION OF 
SECURITY INTERESTS 

(a) The Sub-Branch is not authorised and must not supply or offer to supply or permit a 

person to supply or offer to supply Sub-Branch real property without the prior written 

authorisation of the State Executive. 

(b) The Sub-Branch is not authorised and must not lease or offer to lease or permit a 

person to lease or offer to lease Sub-Branch real property with an option to supply or 

acquire the Sub-Branch property without the prior written authorisation of the State 

Executive. 

(c) The Sub-Branch is not authorised and must not create any security interest whatsoever 

or permit a person to create any security interest whatsoever over Sub-Branch 

property without the prior written authorisation of the State Executive. 

(d) The request for authorisation under Rule 29(a), (b) or (c) must include details of the 

Sub-Branch property and evidence of the Market Value and/or Market Rental of the 

Sub-Branch property. 

(e) A Sub-Branch is not authorised and must not raise a secured loan from any source 

without the prior written authorisation of the State Executive, which shall not be 

unreasonably withheld. 

 
30 SUB-BRANCH MILITARY MEMORABILIA 
A Sub-Branch must not dispose of any military and historical memorabilia it has in its 
possession or power without the prior written approval of the State Executive. 

 
 

31 APPOINTMENT OF A NOMINEE 
The Nominee (being a nominee appointed under Section 54 of the Liquor Control Reform Act) 
shall have power to appoint Sub-Branch stewards and any further bar staff as required and 
arrange salaries and duties and conditions of employment. All instructions relative to the sale 
of liquor and staff shall be given by the Nominee. Any other bar staff shall receive 
instructions from the Nominee. 
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In the absence of the secretary, any nominee, senior Steward, officers or a committee 
member from the Sub-Branch, the steward on duty will be in charge of the discipline of the 
Sub-Branch. 

 
 

32 BYLAWS 

(a) The Sub-Branch may draw up Sub-Branch Bylaws for its administrative activities. The 

Sub-Branch Bylaws must not be inconsistent with the National Constitution, the Branch 

Constitution or these Rules. Insofar as the Sub-Branch Bylaws are inconsistent with 

the National Constitution or the Branch Constitution or these Rules they are invalid. 

(b) The Sub-Branch Bylaws are to be submitted to the Branch for approval and are not 

operative until approved in writing by the State Executive. 

 
33 LICENSING REQUIREMENTS (ADDITIONAL) 

(a) No liquor shall be sold or supplied to any person unless it is in accordance with 

applicable laws (including but not limited to Liquor Control Reform Act 1998 and/or 

other Statute and/or Regulation) and as provided by By-Law 33(f). 

(b) A visitor shall not be supplied with liquor in the Sub-Branch premises unless the visitor 

is: 

(1) a guest in the company of a member of the Club; or 

(2) an Authorised Gaming Visitor admitted in accordance with these Rules; or 

(3) at a particular function or occasion in respect of which a limited licence has been 

granted under the provisions of Section 26 of the Liquor Control Reform Act. 

(c) No person under eighteen (18) years of age shall be employed in the Sub- Branch. 

(d) No payment or part payment of any Secretary, Manager or other Officer or Servant of 

the Sub-Branch shall be made by way of commission or allowance from or upon the 

receipts of the Sub-Branch for the sale and disposal of liquor. 

(e) No liquor shall be sold or supplied for consumption elsewhere than on the Sub- Branch 

premises unless the licence under the Liquor Control Reform Act authorises the sale of 

liquor for consumption off the Sub-Branch premises. Any liquor so sold must be 

removed from the premises of the Sub-Branch by the Member purchasing same. 

(f) No member, visitor or authorised gaming visitor shall be served with liquor except in 

accordance with the Club Licence held by the Sub-Branch under the Liquor Control Act 

or in accordance with any Extended Hours Permit held in conjunction therewith. 
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(g) No member or other person shall on the Sub-Branch premises bet or offer to bet, 

whether by way of gaming, wagering, cards or dice, or on the result of any race, game, 

sport or exercise, or in any other manner whatsoever, nor commit any other breach of 

the Gambling Regulation Act 2003 (Vic), unless so authorised by a Venue Operator's 

Licence issued under the Gambling Regulation Act or any other authority issued 

under any relevant Act. 

(h) No person shall receive a greater profit, benefit or advantage from the Sub- Branch 

than that received by every Member thereof other than a remuneration or honorarium as 

approved by the Members for work done by the Secretary, Treasurer or other Officer of 

the Sub-Branch or salary or wages paid to employees. 

(i) The Sub-Branch may, with the authority of the Committee make application from time 

to time: 

(1) for a Limited Licence to authorise the sale and disposal of liquor on occasions or 

in locations not authorised by the Club Licence; 

(2) for an Extended Hours Permit to authorise the sale and disposal of liquor within 

the premises of the Sub-Branch at times to which the hours authorised by 

the Club Licence do not ordinarily extend. 

(j) Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary contained in these Rules while and as 

long as the Sub-Branch is the holder of a Club Licence under the Liquor Control Reform 

Act: 

(1) the facilities of the Sub-Branch shall be provided and maintained from the joint 

funds of the Sub-Branch; and 

(2) Act no person shall be entitled to receive nor shall receive a greater profit, 

benefit or advantage from the Sub-Branch than that to which any member is 

entitled or receives. 

(3) The Secretary of the Sub-Branch shall keep a record of members of the Sub- 

Branch voting at an election of members of the Sub-Branch. 

 
34 VISITORS 

(a) The names of all Visitors, other than Authorised Gaming Visitors, and the names of 

members introducing them shall be recorded in a book kept for that purpose. 

(b) Visitors' names and addresses shall be entered in the Visitors Book, which shall be 

signed by the member introducing the Visitors. Visitors may only remain in the Sub- 

Branch during the pleasure and presence of the member introducing them and must 

not be supplied with liquor in the Sub-Branch premises unless the guest is in the 
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company of a member of the Sub-Branch or unless such Visitors are Authorised 

Gaming Visitors as defined in Section 3 of the Liquor Control Reform Act and were 

admitted to the Sub-Branch premises in accordance with the provisions of that Act 

and of these Rules. 

(c) The number of Visitors allowable per member shall not exceed three (3) per visit, or 

such other number as shall be fixed by the Committee from time to time, except when 

with the consent of the Committee a special function is held at which one (1) or a 

small number of members is or are the host. 

(d)  

(1) Any member may object to the presence of any visitor and in such case the 

visitor must immediately retire from the premises of the Sub-Branch. 

(2) The same visitor may not be admitted to the Sub-Branch on more than twelve 

(12) occasions in the one calendar year, but this restriction shall not apply to the 

partner, son or daughter and fiancée of a member, or an authorised gaming 

visitor. 

(e) Members introducing Visitors are held responsible for their good conduct and also any 

debts contracted by them to the Sub-Branch. 

(f) Visitors may be allowed to take part in games conducted at the premises of the Sub- 

Branch but not to the exclusion of members of the Sub-Branch and any such Visitors if 

requested by an Officer or Official of the Sub-Branch to vacate the premises shall do 

so immediately. 

 
35 AUTHORISED GAMING VISITORS 

(a) If the Sub-Branch is the holder of a Venue Operator's Licence pursuant to the Gambling 

Regulation Act, an Authorised Gaming Visitor (as hereindefined), being a person who is 

not a member or guest of a member, may be admitted to the Sub-Branch premises 

on any day when guests are allowed for the purposes of playing gaming machines at 

the Sub-Branch premises and for the use of such other Sub-Branch facilities as the 

Committee of the Sub-Branch may from time to time permit. An Authorised Gaming 

Visitor may not introduce visitors to the Sub-Branch. 

(b) The Secretary of the Sub-Branch must keep on the Sub-Branch premises a register of 

Authorised Gaming Visitors containing the name and residential address of each 

Authorised Gaming Visitor admitted and the date of that admission. 

(c) An Authorised Gaming Visitor must: 
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(1) produce evidence of their residential address before being admitted to the Sub- 

Branch premises; and 

(2) carry identification at all times whilst on the Sub-Branch premises; and 

(3) comply with any relevant Rules of the Sub-Branch whilst on the Sub- Branch 

premises. 

(d) For the purpose of these Rules an Authorised Gaming Visitor is hereby defined as a 

person who: 

(1) is over the age of eighteen (18) years; and 

(2) 

(i) in the case of Sub-Branch premises within the municipal district of a 

council mentioned in the Schedule to the Public Holidays Act 1993, who 

resides more than five kilometres from the Sub-Branch premises 

(ii) in the case of Sub-Branch premises which are not within the municipal 

district of a council mentioned in the Schedule to the Public Holidays Act 

1993, who resides more than ten kilometres, or any other distance 

determined by the Minister under Section 3 of the Public Holidays Act 

1993, from the Sub-Branch premises; and 

(3) is not a person who the Committee of the Sub-Branch has determined should 

not be admitted. 

 
36 APPLICATION AND DISPOSAL OF ASSETS 

(a) The income and property of the Sub-Branch is to be used and applied solely in 

promotion of its purposes and the exercise of its powers. 

(b) Subject to Rules 36(c) and (d), the income and property of the Sub-Branch is not to be 

distributed, paid or transferred directly or indirectly by way of dividend, bonus or 

otherwise by way of profit to a member. 

(c) The Sub-Branch may pay, in good faith, interest to a Member in respect of money 

advanced by the member to the Branch or otherwise owing by the Sub- Branch to the 

member or of remuneration to a Sub-Branch Officer or an employee of the Sub- 

Branch or for services rendered to the Sub-Branch by a member. 

(d) The Sub-Branch may pay or repay a Member for out of pocket expenses, money lent, 

reasonable and proper charges for goods hired by the Sub-Branch from a member or 

reasonable and proper rent for premises demised or let to the Sub-Branch from a 

member. 
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(e) In the event of the Sub-Branch being wound up and there remains after the satisfaction 

of all of its liabilities any property or money, it shall not be paid to or distributed to the 

members of the Sub-Branch, but shall be transferred or paid to the Branch to be 

applied by the Branch in fulfilment of the objects of the Branch. 

 
37 CONSENT OF THE MINISTER 
The consent of the Minister is required before any alteration is made to: Rule 36(e), which 
would permit a distribution on winding-up for a purpose other than a charitable purpose. 

 
 

38 COMMON SEAL 

(a) The common seal of the Sub-Branch shall be kept in the custody of the Secretary of 

the Sub-Branch if applicable. 

(b) The common seal shall not be affixed to any instrument except by the authority of the 

Committee of the Sub-Branch and the affixing of the common seal shall be attested by 

any two Sub-Branch Officers if applicable. 

 
39 SOURCES OF FUNDS OF THE SUB-BRANCH 
The funds of the Sub-Branch shall be derived from entrance fees, annual subscriptions, 
donations and such other sources as the Sub-Branch Committee determines. 
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***** RSL SUB-BRANCH INCORPORATED 

RULES 

1 NAME 
The name of the Sub-Branch shall be the ***** RSL Sub-Branch Incorporated. 

 
 

2.1 STATEMENT OF PURPOSES OF THE SUB-BRANCH 

The objects for which the Sub-Branch is established are: 

(a) Provide for the sick, helpless, wounded, aged, disabled, destitute and needy among 

those who are serving or who have served in the Australian Defence Forces, the 

various British Commonwealth Defence Forces, members of allied Defence Forces 

and their dependents; 

(b) Perpetuate the close and kindly ties of friendship created by the mutual service in the 

Australian Defence Forces or in the forces of nations traditionally allied with Australia 

and the recollections associated with that experience; 

(c) Maintain a proper standard of dignity and honour among all past and present 

members of the Australian Defence Forces and set an example of public spirit and 

noble hearted endeavour; 

(d) Preserve the memory and records of those who suffered and died for Australia, erect 

monuments to their valour, provide them with suitable burial places, and establish 

and preserve, in their honour, the annual commemoration day known as ANZAC 

Day; 

(e) Encourage loyalty to Australia and secure patriotic service in the interests of 

Australia; 

(f) Protect the good name and preserve the interests and standing of members of the 

Australian Defence Forces; 

(g) Encourage a Member as a citizen, to serve Australia with that spirit of self sacrifice 

and loyalty with which they served as members of the Australian Defence Forces; 

(h) The promotion of a social organisation and Sub-Branch of the Branch composed of 

those who are serving or who have served in the Australian Defence Forces, the 

various British Commonwealth Defence Forces, Members of Allied Defence Forces, 

their dependents and such other persons who from time to time may be admitted to 

membership in accordance with these Rules. 
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(i) To establish, maintain and conduct a Sub-Branch of a non-political and non-sectarian 

character and to provide, furnish, equip and maintain Sub-Branch rooms, reading 

rooms, recreation rooms and refreshment facilities; to establish and maintain facilities 

for lawful games, sporting facilities and recreation for its Members for the maintenance 

and improvement of friendly relationships amongst the Members and generally to 

afford to Members and their friends and guests all the usual privileges, advantages, 

conveniences and facilities of a Sub-Branch. 

(j) To provide means of social interaction between persons who are Members of the 

League and in particular Members of the ***** RSL Sub-Branch of the Branch and 

their friends and guests. 

(k) To make contributions to any charitable relief benefit commemoration or memorial 

fund of any kind whatsoever as the Committee may deem advisable. 

(l) To further the interests of and to support the Branch. 

(m) To provide for the sick, helpless, wounded, aged, disabled, destitute and needy. 
 

 
2.2 POWERS OF THE SUB-BRANCH 

(a) To take over and acquire and take a transfer of all the assets and the liabilities of the 

present unincorporated association known as ***** RSL Sub-Branch and/or ***** RSL 

Club. 

(b) To purchase, take on lease or in exchange or otherwise to acquire any land, 

buildings, easements of property real or personal which may be required for the 

purposes of or be conveniently used in connection with any of the objects of the Sub- 

Branch and for the purpose of managing revenue the better to finance the operations 

of the Sub-Branch and the maintenance of any premises owned by it to lease, sell, 

demise, mortgage, give in exchange or otherwise dispose of the same or any part 

thereof from time to time and to grant easements in, through, over or upon any land 

and to acquire easements or other rights of any kind or nature over any other real or 

personal property provided that if the Sub-Branch takes or holds any property which 

is subject to any Trusts the Sub-Branch must deal with the property in such a manner 

as is allowed by law having regard to such Trusts. 

(c) To borrow or raise money or to secure the repayment of any debt, liability or 

engagement incurred, undertaken or entered into by the Sub-Branch by the issue of 

bonds, debentures, bills of exchange, promissory notes or other obligations or 

securities of the Sub-Branch or by way of overdraft or by mortgage or charge on all or 

any part of the property and assets of the Sub-Branch. 
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(d) To encourage the fullest liaison and co-operation with other responsible persons and 

organisations in the community as the Committee shall decide, with particular 

emphasis to encouraging the use of the rooms of the Sub-Branch when such use shall 

be calculated to benefit the community. 

(e) To draw, make, accept, endorse, discount, execute and issue promissory notes, bills 

of exchange, warrants, debentures and other negotiable or other transferable 

interests. 

(f) To invest and deal with the money of the Sub-Branch not immediately required upon 

such securities and investments and generally in such manner and in accordance with 

the overall policy of the League as may from time to time be determined. 

(g) To undertake and execute any trusts which may seem to the Sub-Branch conducive to 

any of its objects and in accordance with the overall policy of the League. 

(h) To engage, employ, dismiss and remunerate professional advisers, secretaries, 

accountants, managers, brokers, experts and such other persons, officers and 

employees as may be necessary or desirable for the purpose of carrying on the 

business of the Sub-Branch or furthering any or all of the objects herein set out. 

(i) To place any money or deposit with any banking or other non-banking institutions, to 

open accounts and to pay money into and withdraw money from such accounts or to 

overdraw such accounts. 

(j) To establish and maintain funds for relief, scholarships, insurance, mortuary, sickness 

or other benefits and/or for the assistance or advantage of members or their 

dependents or the dependents of deceased members contributing thereto from any of 

the revenues of the Sub-Branch. 

(k) To encourage the formation of a Women’s Auxiliary and youth and other subsidiary 

associations. 

(l) With the written consent of the State Executive to enter into any arrangements with 

any government or authority that are incidental or conducive to the attainment of the 

objects and the exercise of the powers of the Sub-Branch, to obtain from any such 

government or authority any rights, privileges, concessions, licenses, permits or 

registrations which the Sub-Branch may think it desirable to obtain, and to carry out, 

exercise and comply with any such rights, privileges, concessions or licenses; 

(m) To construct, improve, maintain, furnish, develop, work, manage, carry out, alter or 

control any houses, buildings, clubrooms, information bureaux, libraries, literary, 

social, educational and benevolent institutions, grounds, works or conveniences which 
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directly or indirectly advance the Sub-Branch’s interests, and to contribute to, 

subsidise or otherwise assist and take part in the above; 

(n) With the written consent of the State Executive to take or hold mortgages, liens or 

charges, to secure payment of the purchase price, or any unpaid balance of the 

purchase price, of any part of the Sub-Branch’s property of whatsoever kind sold by 

the Sub-Branch, or any money due to the Sub-Branch from purchasers and others; 

(o) To take any gift of property whether subject to any special trust or not, for any one or 

more of the objects of the Sub-Branch but subject to paragraph (g); 

(p) To sell, improve, manage, develop, exchange, lease, dispose of, turn to account or 

otherwise deal with all or any part of the property and rights of the Sub-Branch; 

(q) To make grants, donations, gifts and give assistance to such persons, trusts, groups, 

associations, societies, institutions or other entities as the Sub-Branch thinks fit; 

(r) To make application pursuant to the appropriate legislation from time to time enacted 

and currently in force, or any re-enactment or amendment thereof, to: 

(1) Victorian Commission for Gambling and Liquor Regulation for a Club Licence or 

any other licence, permit or authority issued under the Liquor Control Reform Act 

or any re-enactment or amendment thereof; or for any license, permit or authority 

issued under the Gambling Regulation Act 2003 and the renewal thereof and do 

all such other acts that are necessary to retain or protect any license, permit or 

authority. 

(s) To do all such other things as are incidental or conducive to the attainment of the 

objects and the exercise of the powers of the Sub-Branch. 

 
 

3 ALTERATIONS OF THESE RULES 

(a) Subject to the provisions of Rule 3(b), and (c) of these Rules, the Rules of the Sub- 

Branch (including the Statement of Purposes of the Sub-Branch) shall not be altered 

except in accordance with the Act. 

(b) The Sub-Branch shall not, without the consent in writing of the State Executive, make 

any new Rule, alteration or variation to the Rules of the Sub-Branch. No new Rule, 

alteration or variation of these Rules shall take effect unless and until the new Rule, 

alteration or variation has been approved in writing by the State Executive. 

(c) No new Rule, alteration or variation of these Rules shall have effect unless and until 

such new Rule, alteration or variation has been approved by the Registrar of 

Incorporated Associations. 
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(d) Inconsistency 

If there is inconsistency between these Rules and the Branch Constitution and/or the 

National Constitution, the Branch Constitution and the National Constitution shall 

prevail to the extent that the Branch Constitution and the National Constitution do not 

conflict with the requirements of the Liquor Control Reform Act, and/or any other 

relevant Act. In the event that there is any inconsistency between the Branch 

Constitution and the National Constitution, then the provisions of the National 

Constitution shall prevail. 

 
 

4 POLICY 
The Policy of the Sub-Branch shall be national and non-sectarian and in relation to questions of 
party politics non-partisan. 

 
 

5.1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 

In these Rules - 
 

"Act" means the Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012 (Vic). 
 

"Affiliate/s" means an Affiliate of the Branch admitted pursuant to the rules of the Branch, 
and is a member of the Sub-Branch. 

"Branch" shall mean The Returned & Services League of Australia (Victorian Branch) Inc. 
 

"Branch Constitution" means the Statement of Purposes and the Rules and Bylaws of the 
Branch. 

"Chief Executive Officer of the Branch" means the person appointed from time to time 
under Branch Rule 9.7 (a) by the State Executive. 

"Committee" or "Sub-Branch Committee" means the Committee of the Sub-Branch 
constituted under Rule 19. 

“Company Secretary” means the person appointed from time to time under Rule 9.8 of the 
Rules of the Branch by the State Executive. 

"Financial Year" means the year ending 31 December. 
 

"Gambling Regulation Act" means the Gambling Regulation Act 2003 or any amendment or 
re-enactment thereof. 

"In Writing" and "Written" include typing or printing, lithography, photography and other 
modes of representing or reproducing words and figures in visible form. 

"League" means the Returned and Services League of Australia Limited A.C.N. 008 488 
097. 
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"League member" means a Life member or a Service member of the League, and is a 
member of the Sub-Branch. 

"Liquor Control Reform Act" means the Liquor Control Reform Act 1998 or any amendment 
or re-enactment thereof. 

"members" shall mean all persons admitted pursuant to these Rules to any of the following 
classes of membership: 

Service members 

Life members 

Associate 

members Affiliate/s 

Honorary members 
and Social members 

 
"National Constitution" means the National Rules and Bylaws of the League. 

 
"National Rules" means the National Constitution of the League. 

 
"Patriotic Funds" means those Funds described in Part 4 of the Veterans Act (Vic). 

 
"Regulations" mean the Regulations under the Act. 

 
"State Branch Tribunal" means the Tribunal established by the Branch under Rule 4.18 and 
National Bylaw 8. 

"State Executive" means the Body constituted under Rule 7.3(a) of the Branch. 
 

"Sub-Branch" shall mean the ***** Sub-Branch. 
 

"Sub-Branch Secretary" or "Secretary of the Sub-Branch" means the Secretary of the 
Sub-Branch. 

"Veterans Act" means the Veterans Act 2005 (Vic) or any amendment or re-enactment 
thereof. 

"Victorian Veterans Council" means the Council established by section 4 of the Veterans 
Act. 

"Victorian Veterans Fund" means the Fund established by section 20 of the Veterans Act. 
 

"Victorian Commission for Gambling and Liquor Regulation" means the Victorian 
Commission for Gambling and Liquor Regulation established under the Victorian Commission 
for Gambling and Liquor Regulation Act 2011 (Vic). 

 
 

5.2 INTERPRETATION 

In these Rules, unless the context otherwise requires: 
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(a) headings, underlining and the table of contents are for convenience only and do not 

affect the interpretation of these Rules; 

(b) words importing the singular include the plural and vice versa; 

(c) words importing a gender include any gender; 

(d) other parts of speech and grammatical forms of a word or phrase defined in these Rules 

have corresponding meanings; 

(e) a reference to any thing includes a part of that thing; 

(f) a reference to these Rules includes a reference to any appendix, annexure, exhibit or 

schedule to these Rules; 

(g) a reference to a statute, regulation, proclamation, ordinance or bylaw includes all 

statutes, regulations, proclamations, ordinances or bylaws amending, consolidating or 

replacing it, and a reference to a statute includes all regulations, proclamations, 

ordinances and bylaws issued under that statute; 

(h) a reference to a document includes all amendments or supplements to, or 

replacements of, that document; 

(i) a covenant or agreement on the part of two or more persons binds them jointly and 

severally; 

(j) an expression importing a natural person includes any company, partnership, 

association, corporation or other body corporate and any governmental agency; and 

(k) where the day on or by which any thing is to be done is not a Business Day, that thing 

must be done on or by the preceding Business Day. 

 
6 SUB-BRANCH COLOURS 
The colours of the Sub-Branch shall be such as the Committee of the Sub-Branch may from 
time to time determine. 

 
 

7 SUB-BRANCH STRUCTURE AND POWERS 
In addition to any new duties, functions, discretions and authorities conferred on the Sub- 
Branch under the National Constitution, the Branch Constitution and these Rules, the Sub- 
Branch is to be vested with such duties, powers, functions, discretions and authorities as the 
State Executive may decide. 

 
 

8 MINIMUM MEMBERSHIP 
The minimum membership of the Sub-Branch is to be fifteen (15) Life, Service members and 
Affiliates, unless the State Executive approves otherwise. 
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9 AGE REQUIREMENT 
No person under the age of eighteen (18) years shall be admitted to membership of the Sub- 
Branch. 

 
 

10 MEMBERSHIP 
The Sub-Branch shall comprise the following categories of membership: 

Service members 

Life members 

Associate 

members Affiliates 

Honorary 

members Social 

members 

10.1 Service members 
A person who is a Service member of the League or who has applied to be a Service member 
of the League may apply to be a Service member of the Sub-Branch. 

(a) It shall be a prerequisite to Service membership of the Sub-Branch that the applicant 

declares: 

- I hereby agree if elected a member to be bound by and comply with the Rules 

and Bylaws of the Sub-Branch; and 

- I hereby declare that I am not a member of any other organisation whose 
objectives are incompatible with the objects of the League; and 

- I hereby further declare that I am prepared to swear/affirm loyalty to the 
Commonwealth of Australia and its Head of State and to uphold the 
Constitution of the Commonwealth. 

(b) Lodgement of application to be admitted as a Service member of the League and 

Service member of the Sub-Branch. 

(1) An application to be admitted as a Service member of the League and as a 

Service member of the Sub-Branch must comply with the National Constitution 

and the Branch Constitution and these Rules. An Applicant for Service 

membership of the League and Service membership of the Sub- Branch must be 

nominated by a person who is a Service or Life member of the Sub-Branch and 

seconded by a member who is also a Service or Life member of the Sub-Branch. 
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(2) A person who applies to be a Service member of the League and a Service 

member of the Sub-Branch must lodge the application with the Secretary of the 

Sub-Branch in writing in the form from time to time approved. Not less than two 

(2) weeks shall elapse between the date of nomination and the date of election 

of a Service member of the League and a Service member of the Sub-Branch. 

(3) Application for membership of the League and membership of the Sub- Branch 

shall be accompanied by the payment of the Annual Subscription determined by 

the Annual Conference of the Branch and any further subscription as set by the 

Sub-Branch at a General Meeting and hereafter referred to in these Rules. No 

applicant who is admitted to membership shall be entitled to a refund of such 

amount, but where an applicant is not eligible under the National Constitution to 

be admitted, the Sub-Branch must return the Annual Subscription. 

(4) The Committee may require an applicant for membership to produce such 

evidence, as it thinks fit as to their qualification for membership. 

(5) If the Sub-Branch Committee resolves that an Applicant is eligible under the 

National Constitution to be admitted as a Service member of the League and is a 

fit and proper person to be admitted as a Service member of the League then the 

Applicant must be admitted as a Service member of the League and as a Service 

member of the Sub-Branch within sixty (60) days of the date the application was 

lodged. 

(6) If the Sub-Branch Committee resolves that an Applicant applying to be admitted 

as a Service member of the League and a Service member of the Sub-Branch is 

not eligible under the National Constitution to be admitted as a Service member 

of the League the Committee of the Sub-Branch must within fourteen (14) days 

from the resolution forward the application, supporting documentation, the annual 

subscription and the reasons for the resolution to the Branch and the application 

shall then be dealt with by the Branch under the Branch Constitution. 

(7) If the Branch resolves that the Applicant is eligible under the National Constitution 

to be admitted as a Service member of the League the Branch must direct the 

Sub-Branch to admit the applicant as a Service member of the League and 

thereupon the Sub-Branch must admit the Applicant as a Service member of the 

League and as a Service member of the Sub-Branch. 

(8) If the Branch resolves that the person applying to be admitted as a Service 

member of the League is not eligible under the National Constitution to be 

admitted the Branch must: 

(i) Reject the application; and 
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(ii) Within fourteen (14) days of the date of rejection advise the Applicant of 

the decision, the reasons for the decision and their right of appeal to the 

State Branch Tribunal 

(9) A Service or Life member of the Sub-Branch shall be entitled to one vote at the 

election of members of the committee of the Sub-Branch and at any meeting of 

the Sub-Branch in respect of any matter. 

10.2 Life members 

(a) A Service member of the Sub-Branch who is elected as a Life member of the League 

in accordance with the National Constitution and the Branch Constitution shall 

automatically become a Life member of the Sub-Branch. 

(b) The rights, privileges and obligations of a Service member of the Sub-Branch who 

becomes a Life member of the Sub-Branch under Rule 10.2(a) shall not be disturbed by 

their becoming a Life member of the Sub-Branch save and except that they shall not be 

liable to pay an Annual Subscription either to the League, the Branch or the Sub-Branch 

as the case may be. 

10.3 Honorary members of a Sub-Branch 

(a) A person is entitled to be elected as an Honorary member of the Sub-Branch (for such 

time as the Committee of the Sub-Branch shall determine) if they are eighteen (18) 

years of age or older and are: 

(1) a Service, Life or Honorary member of the League; 

(2) a member of an association or organisation which is a member of the British 

Commonwealth Ex-Services League during their presence in Victoria, but not 

exceeding a period of three months; 

(3) a member of a State parliament, the parliament of the Commonwealth of 

Australia or a Councillor of the municipality in which the Sub-Branch is situated; 

(4) A current serving member of the ADF, upon presentation of a Service 

Identification Card, such honorary membership shall operate whilst the serving 

member is present on the Sub-Branch premises. 

(5) a member of a sporting, social or cultural body visiting the Sub-Branch for the 

day, but subject to the approval of the committee of the Sub-Branch; or 

(6) a person who has applied in writing to become a member of the Sub-Branch 

shall be a temporary Honorary member of the Sub-Branch until the application to 

a member has been dealt with by the Committee. Such membership applications 

must be dealt with by the Committee in an expeditious manner. 
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(b) An honorary member of the Sub-Branch is not entitled to vote: 

(1) at the election of the members of the Committee of the Sub-Branch; or 

(2) on any other matter. 

(c) An Honorary member shall not be required to pay an annual subscription. 

(d) A person shall not be admitted as an Honorary or Temporary member of the Sub- 

Branch unless the person is of a class specified in the Rules and the admission is in 

accordance with the Rules 

10.3 A A Temporary Honorary Membership for Visiting League Members 

(a) The Sub-Branch shall grant reciprocal rights to use Sub-Branch facilities as a 

temporary honorary member to any person who is a Service or Life member or Affiliate 

of the Returned & Services League of Australia. The Sub-Branch shall grant to such 

temporary honorary member under this rule the same price discounts as that are given 

at that time to similar classes of members of the Sub-Branch in relation to food, 

beverage, and entertainment. Such person shall be required to establish their 

entitlement to the right by producing a current ‘RSL Card’. 

(b) This right may not be granted to a person who is at the time of the visit suspended 

under the Rules of the Sub-Branch from the Sub-Branch of which they are a member 

(c) This right may not be granted to a person where the Committee of the Sub- Branch 

has resolved not to grant the right to that person because of the prior conduct of that 

person. 

10.4 Social members 

(a) A person is eligible to be a Social member of the Sub-Branch if they: 

(1) are not eligible to be a Service member of the League; and 

(2) are over the age of eighteen (18) years; and 

(3) are proposed by the President of the Sub-Branch at the request of at least two 

(2) Service members of the Sub-Branch and is approved at a meeting of the 

Committee of the Sub-Branch; and 

(4) have signed a Social member Application Form, prescribed by the State Branch, 

and has lodged it with the Sub-Branch Secretary; and 

(5) have paid the annual membership subscription, as is determined, including an 

amount equal to the applicable Minimum Subscription Fee as is determined from 

time to time by the State Executive pursuant to Branch Rule 5.19(a) 



Bylaw 10B - 12 

V3(SC 27/07/2024) 

 

 

 
(b) A social member of the Sub-Branch may be a member of the Committee of the Sub- 

Branch provided however: 

(1) A social member of the Sub-Branch may not be elected to any Executive position 

(that is, President, Vice President/s, Secretary and/or Treasurer) on a Sub- 

Branch Committee [subject to the provisions of Rule 19(g)]. Social members may 

not hold more than one position on the Committee of a Sub- Branch. A social 

member on the Committee of a Sub-Branch may only vote on matters relating to 

the operation of Sub-Branch facilities available to Social members of the Sub- 

Branch. 

(c) Subject to the provisions of these Rules a Service member or Life member or Affiliate or 

social member of the Sub-Branch may nominate a social member for election to the 

Committee of the Sub-Branch (other than an Executive position). A social member is 

not entitled to vote on any matter other than in respect of the election of a social member 

to the Committee of the Sub-Branch. 

(d) A person is eligible to be a student social member if they are aged 18 to 26 years and 

attended a recognized tertiary educational institution. Student social members have the 

same rights and obligations as social members of the Sub-Branch as provided for in this 

rule. The fee for a student social member shall be $11.00, including GST, unless 

otherwise decided by a General Meeting of the Sub-Branch. On attaining the age of 27 

years, a student social member shall become a social member of the Sub-Branch and 

shall subscribe by way of membership fee the amount fixed as a social member’s fee 

by the Sub-Branch. 

10.5 Associate members 

(a) A Service member, Life member or Affiliate, who is also a member of a Sub-Branch, 

shall not be eligible to be a member of another Sub-Branch but may apply to be 

admitted as an Associate thereof. Such an application shall be lodged with the 

Secretary of that other Sub-Branch and if the Committee accepts their application, 

and they are admitted, they shall be known as an Associate of that other Sub- Branch. 

(b) An Associate member of a Sub-Branch may only remain an Associate member of the 

Sub-Branch if they continue to be a Service member, Life member or Affiliate. 

(c)  

(1) A Service member, Life member or Affiliate who is also an Associate member of 

a Sub-Branch, shall only be entitled to hold office, vote and speak on any matter 

at a meeting of not more than one Sub-Branch and at the same time of 
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application to become an Associate member must declare which Sub-Branch 

they wish to hold office, vote and speak at. 

(2) The annual subscription payable by an associate of that other Sub-Branch shall 

be the annual subscription payable by a Service member or Affiliate, of that Sub- 

Branch, less capitation. 

(3) A Service member, Life member or Affiliate, to whom Rule 10.5(c)(1) applies, 

shall: 

(i) elect in writing the Sub-Branch in which they wish to be eligible to hold 

office, vote and speak; 

(ii) deliver such election to all the Sub-Branches of which they are a member 

and associate with a copy to be lodged with the Company Secretary of 

the Branch. 

(4) Until they have complied with Rule 10.5(c)(3) they shall only be entitled to hold 

office, vote and speak at the Sub-Branch of which they are a Service member, 

Life member or Affiliate, and such election shall not be able to be revoked during 

the membership year in which it is made. 

(d) The Committee of the Sub-Branch may at any time revoke the Associate membership 

of a person and upon such revocation being made such person shall cease to be an 

Associate member of the Sub-Branch. 

10.6 Affiliate of the Branch 
(a) No person who is eligible for Service membership of the League shall be admitted as 

an Affiliate. 

(b) The eligible persons who may be elected as Affiliates are those who do not qualify for 

Service membership and comply with the following: 

(1) a person who is not eligible to be a Service member; 

(2) is eighteen years of age or older and; 

(3) a person who is any relative of a person (living or deceased) who is or was 

eligible to be a League member; 

(4) for the purposes of this rule, a relative of a Legue member shall be any spouse, 

blood relative, step relative or in-law of the person who is or was eligible to be a 

League member (as the case may be). 

(5) or a person who has been awarded the Certificate of Merit or a National or State 

Certificate of Appreciation for giving valuable service to the League; 



Bylaw 10B - 14 

V3(SC 27/07/2024) 

 

 

 
(6) or a person who is, or has been, a member, for at least six months, of one of the 

following: 

A State or Federal Police Force; 

An Ambulance Service or Brigade; 

A Fire Brigade or Fire Authority; 

A State Emergency Service; 

A Bronze Medallion member of a Surf Life Saving Club; 

A Corrections/Prisons Officer; or 
A member of the Commonwealth or allied Merchant Navy, 

(7) and has signed an Affiliate application form, as prescribed by the State Branch 

and has lodged it with the Sub-Branch Secretary. 

(c) The Affiliate application form shall be considered at a meeting of the Committee of the 

Sub-Branch. 

(d) An Affiliate may be a member of the Committee of the Sub-Branch, subject to the 

following: 

(1) a. An Affiliate, may not be elected to the positions of President or Vice 

President (League member), [but may be elected to the position of Vice 

President - Affiliate, (if such a position has been made available pursuant 

to Rule 19), or Secretary or Treasurer]. 

b. That an Affiliate Vice President shall have no right to succeed the 
President of the Sub-Branch in the event that Office becoming vacant. 

(2) An Affiliate on the Committee of a Sub-Branch may speak and vote on all 

matters, save and except the matters referred to in sub-rule (e). 

(e) An Affiliate may speak and vote at a meeting of the Sub-Branch on any Sub-Branch 

matter, including voting for all Sub-Branch Committee positions, save and except that 

an Affiliate may not speak or vote on any matter relating to the alteration or 

amendment to the National Constitution, the Branch Constitution or vote for the 

elections of Branch positions. 

(f) The Annual Subscription Fee payable by an Affiliate is shown in Rule 11. The effect of 

not paying the Annual Subscription is shown in Rule 11A. 

10.7 Reciprocal Rights 

(a) The Sub-Branch shall grant reciprocal rights to use Sub-Branch facilities as a temporary 

honorary member to any person who is a Service member, Life member, Affiliate, or 

Social member of any other RSL Sub-Branch, or the HQ Unattached List, under the 

jurisdiction of the Victorian State Branch. The Sub-Branch shall grant to such temporary 
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honorary member under this rule the same price discounts as that are given at that time 

to similar classes of members of the Sub-Branch in relation to food, beverage and 

entertainment. Such person shall be required to establish their entitlement to the 

reciprocal rights by producing a current ‘RSL Card’ as issued by the State Branch. 

(b) Reciprocal rights shall not be granted to a person who is at the time of the visit 

suspended under the provisions of Rule 15 or Rule 15A or Rule 15B of the Rules of the 

Sub-Branch of which they are a member. 

(c) Reciprocal rights may not be granted to a person where the Committee of the Sub- 

Branch has resolved not to grant reciprocal rights to that person because of the prior 

conduct of that person. 

10.8 Provision of RSL Member Card 

(a) The Sub-Branch shall request the Branch to issue Service members, Life members, 

Affiliates or Social members of the Sub-Branch a “RSL Card” in the format then used by 

the Branch. The Sub-Branch shall make such request to the Branch in relation to 

Service members, Affiliates and Social members as soon as practicable after the said 

members have become financial members of the Sub-Branch. The issued Card 

remains valid while the member remains financial and the Branch will, from time to time, 

re-issue the Card at their discretion. In relation to Life members the Sub-Branch shall 

make the request to the Branch as soon as practicable after this rule comes into effect. 

 
11 SUBSCRIPTIONS AND ENTRANCE FEES 

(a) That the minimum annual subscription payable by: 

(1) Service members and Affiliates shall be such amount as is determined, from time 

to time, by the Annual State Conference of the Branch and shall be not less than 

the Minimum Subscription Fee referred to in Branch Rule 5.19(a) (1), and 

(2) Social members shall be such amounts as is determined for each class of 

member, from time to time, by the State Executive, pursuant to Branch Rule 

5.19(a)(2). 

But the Sub-Branch may impose upon the members such additional amounts by 

way of annual subscription as is determined, from time to time, by a general 

meeting of the Sub-Branch. 

(3) A Service member who is still serving, whether in the regular or reserve Royal 

Australian Navy, Australian Army or Royal Australian Air Force, is not liable to 

annual subscription payments and their membership fee is waived. 
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(b) The Sub-Branch must forward to its member an account for renewal of the Annual 

Subscription at least one month before the end of the Financial Year and the member 

must pay the account by the 31 January of each year. 

(c) The Sub-Branch must forward to its associate member an account for renewal of the 

Annual Subscription less the Minimum Subscription Fee at least one month before the 

end of the Financial Year and the associate member must pay the account by the 31 

January. 

(d) An account forwarded under these Rules must clearly show the Annual Subscription 

and the Minimum Subscription Fee (if any) and may include other fees provided they are 

clearly marked, e.g. Administration Fee/Sporting section (or such like) Fee. 

(e) A receipt must be issued to a member of the Sub-Branch by the Sub-Branch as 

evidence of payment of the Annual Subscription. 

(f) A receipt must be issued to an associate member of the Sub-Branch by the Sub- 

Branch as evidence of payment of the Annual Subscription less the Minimum 

Subscription Fee. 

(g) Annual subscriptions are due and payable in advance on January 1st in each calendar 

year. 

(h) A member (who is not a Life member or who has paid the life subscription) shall not be 

exempted from the obligation to pay the annual subscription, unless the member is of a 

class specified in the Rules and an exemption is in accordance with the Rules. 

 
11A UNPAID ANNUAL SUBSCRIPTIONS 

(a) A Member of the Sub-Branch (who is not a Life member or a life subscriber) who has 

not paid the annual subscription prescribed in these rules by 31 January in the year 

they fall due shall be refused entry to Licensed Sub-Branch premises and/or facilities, 

including sporting activities, and may be required to sign in as a visitor until such time 

as the said subscriptions are paid in full and details on the members RSL Card have 

been upgraded. 

(b) A member of the Sub-Branch who is not a Life member or a life subscriber who has not 

paid the annual subscription is not eligible to speak or vote at a meeting including 

elections and Committee or nominate for or hold any office in the Sub-Branch. 

(c) A member of the Sub-Branch who is not a Life member or a life subscriber or an 

Honorary member who has not paid the annual subscription shall on 1 May cease to be 

a member and the members name shall be removed from the Register of members. If 
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the member wishes to rejoin the Sub-Branch they are required to make a new 

application for membership. 

 
 
 

12 NOTICE OF MEETINGS 

(a) The Secretary shall at least 14 days before any Annual or Ordinary general meeting 

and at least 7 days before any Extra-ordinary general meeting, save and except a 

meeting of the nature dealt with in sub-clause (c) of this Rule, send in accordance with 

Rule 13 to each Member [excluding honorary and Community members] at their postal, 

facsimile or electronic transmission address in the Sub-Branch register a notice of 

such meeting stating the time and the place where it will be held and the nature of the 

business that will be brought forward at such meeting. In lieu of written notice to each 

member, that a Sub-Branch may advertise the notice of meeting not less than 3 times 

in the 21 day period prior to the meeting, in the "Public Notice" section of the most 

widely distributed newspaper in the local municipality. Except that members who have 

lodged valid e-mail addresses must also be e-mailed a notice in the first week of that 

period. 

The accidental omission to give any notice as aforesaid to any member shall not 

invalidate any resolutions carried at an Annual, Ordinary or Extraordinary general 

meeting. 

(b) The nature of the business to be dealt with at such meetings and the manner in which 

they are to be conducted shall be in accordance with these Rules as to the conduct of 

particular classes of meetings. 

(c) In the case of a meeting at which a special resolution is proposed, pursuant to section 
29 of the Associations Incorporations Act 1981 and where there is a statutory 
requirement of 21 days notice, then the Secretary shall in relation to such meeting give 
21 days notice. 

 
13 NOTICES - MEMBERS 

(a) Every member shall communicate in writing to the Secretary regarding change of 

address. A notice, written request or any other communication under these Rules may 

be served on a person either personally or by sending it by post to their last known 

address or via email to their last known email address provided. 

(b) If a notice or communication is properly addressed, prepaid and posted, it is deemed to 

have been given to the addressee at the time of posting. 
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(c) A notice may be served by sending to the member a copy of any magazine/newsletter 

published by the Sub-Branch, which contains a full copy of the relevant notice. 

 
 
 

14 REGISTER OF MEMBERS 

(a) The Secretary of the Sub-Branch shall keep and maintain on the Sub-Branch premises 

a Register of all persons who are members of the Sub-Branch, which clearly indicates 

the category of membership to which the member has been admitted. The Register of 

members of a Sub-Branch must include the full name, address, qualifying service 

particulars (if applicable), date of entry and date of departure or death (if applicable) of 

each member of the Sub-Branch and the date of the latest subscription payment by 

each Member (if applicable). 

(b) Such Register shall be displayed in a conspicuous place on the Sub-Branch premises 

and shall be open at any time to inspection by a Licensing Inspector in whose Division 

the Sub-Branch premises are situated, any authorised member of the Police Force or 

any authorised officer of the Victorian Commission for Gambling and Liquor Regulation. 

 
15 SUB-BRANCH DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE — SERVICE AND LIFE 

MEMBERS AND AFFILIATES 

(a) A Service member, Life member or Affiliate of a Sub-Branch may be suspended or 

expelled from the membership of the Sub-Branch by the Sub-Branch Committee under 

the following circumstances: 

(1) A member, who is drunk, violent or quarrelsome, must not refuse or fail to leave 

the premises if requested so to do by the Sub-Branch President or the senior 

member of the Committee present or the senior employee present; 

(2) A Service member, Life member or Affiliate of the Sub-Branch who is requested 

to leave the Sub-Branch under Rule 15(a)(1) may, where suspension is 

necessary to maintain the proper conduct of the Sub-Branch 

and/or its facilities, be suspended as a result of a joint decision by the 
Sub- Branch President and at least one other member of the Sub-Branch 
Executive from all Sub-Branch facilities; 

(b) A suspension under the provisions of Rule 15(a)(2) shall not exceed 30 days. 

(c) If a Sub-Branch Committee has reason to believe that a Service member, Life member 

or Affiliate of the Sub-Branch may be guilty of conduct unbecoming a member, the Sub- 

Branch Committee may resolve to impose a penalty upon them. Any Sub-Branch 
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Committee member who has a material personal interest or any relationship which may 

lead to bias in considering whether the Sub-Branch member may be guilty of conduct 

unbecoming a member, must not be present while such resolution is being considered 

and must not have any input in the decision. 

(d) If the Committee of a Sub-Branch have reason to believe that a member may be guilty 

of conduct unbecoming a member it shall give not less than fourteen days notice in 

writing to that member of the date, time and place of its meeting at which it will consider 

whether or not they have been guilty of such conduct. Such notice shall be accompanied 

by a statement in which there shall be set out full and precise particulars of the conduct 

of the member which will be considered by the Committee. 

(e) Either prior to or at the meeting of the Committee the member concerned may request it 

to elaborate upon any of the particulars set forth in the said statement. Such a request 

shall be complied with by the Committee. The said member may put to the Committee 

at the meeting such facts as they may consider relevant and shall be given every 

opportunity to address it. 

(f) The Committee shall decide at the meeting whether the member has been guilty of 

conduct unbecoming a member. If it is satisfied they have been guilty of such conduct, 

it may resolve that they be placed on a warning to improve their conduct, or be 

reprimanded or suspended from membership of the Sub-Branch for a period not 

exceeding 3 months for a Service or Life member and twelve months for an Affiliate, or 

expulsion from the Sub-Branch for an Affiliate and a recommendation for the withdrawal 

of awards, save for accessing welfare or pension assistance, or it may resolve that the 

matter should be referred to the State Branch for its consideration. The Committee 

must consider any period of suspension already taken in accordance with Rule 15(b). If 

the Committee believes that the discipline it can impose is not sufficient the Committee 

may refer the matter to the State Branch Tribunal. 

(g) The substance and decision of the meeting shall be recorded in the minutes of the 

meeting. Written notices, submissions and other correspondence relevant to the 

meeting shall be certified within seven days after the meeting, by its chairman, after 

conferring with the other members of the Committee. 

(h) The Secretary of the Sub-Branch shall notify the member in writing of the Committee's 

decision and their right of appeal within fourteen days after the certification. 

(i) A member aggrieved by resolution of the Committee by which they were reprimanded or 

suspended from membership of the Sub-Branch for a period not exceeding 3 months for 

a Service or Life member and twelve months for an Affiliate or expelled from the Sub- 

Branch for an Affiliate, may appeal to the State Branch Tribunal by notice in writing 
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addressed to the Chief Executive Office of the Branch and lodged with the State Branch 

Tribunal. 

(j) An appeal shall be lodged together with the sum of $400 within fourteen days after the 

date of notification in writing and thereupon the decision of the Committee shall be 

stayed, (unless otherwise ordered by the State Branch Tribunal) until the appeal is 

concluded, abandoned or discontinued. Upon application by the member, the State 

Branch Tribunal may waive lodgement of whole or part of the sum of $400 if it considers 

it just to do so. 

(k) An appeal lodged pursuant to this Rule shall be accompanied by a statement in writing 

in which the member shall set out the aspect or aspects of the decision which gave rise 

to the appeal, the grounds of their appeal and the facts upon which they rely. An appeal 

should not be treated as valid unless it complies with this Rule. 

(l) Upon receipt of an appeal the Sub-Branch shall forthwith forward it to its State Branch: 

(1) the appeal and accompanying statement; 

(2) the sum of $400; 

(3) all its papers and documents concerning the member, particularly the notice and 

statement; 

(4) a copy of its minutes relating to the matter giving rise to the appeal. 

(m) A State Branch Tribunal shall hear and determine an appeal pursuant to this Rule as 

soon as possible after receipt by the Chief Executive Officer of the Branch of the 

documents. 

(n) The Sub-Branch and the member concerned shall have a right of personally attending 

upon hearing of the appeal or any application to lift the stay by the State Branch Tribunal 

having given proper notice that they wish to do so. The State Branch Tribunal may 

dismiss the appeal, allow the appeal or substitute its own findings and shall make its 

decision based on the information presented at the hearing. The decision is final. 

(o) A resolution passed pursuant to this Rule whereby a member of a Sub-Branch is 

suspended or expelled from membership of that Sub-Branch shall not operate to 

otherwise affect the membership of that member save as otherwise provided in the 

National Bylaws. 

 
15A.  DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE — SOCIAL MEMBERS 

(a) A Social member of a Sub-Branch may be suspended or expelled from membership of 

the Sub-Branch by the Sub-Branch Committee under the following circumstances: 
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(b) A member, who is drunk, violent or quarrelsome, must not refuse or fail to leave the 

premises if requested so to do by the Sub-Branch President or the senior member of 

the Committee present or the senior employee present. 

(c) A Social member of the Sub-Branch who is requested to leave the Sub-Branch under 

Rule 15A(b) may, where suspension is necessary to maintain the proper conduct of the 

Sub-Branch and/or its facilities, be suspended as a result of a joint decision by the Sub- 

Branch President and at least one other member of the Sub-Branch Executive from all 

Sub-Branch facilities. 

(d) A suspension under the provisions of Rule 15A(c) shall not exceed 30 days. 

(e) If the Committee of the Sub-Branch (the “Committee”) has reason to believe that a 

Social member of the Sub-Branch, may be guilty of conduct unbecoming a member, it 

shall give not less than 14 days notice in writing to that member of the date, time and 

place of its meeting at which it will consider whether or not they have been guilty of such 

conduct. 

(f) The notice referred to in Rule 15A(e) shall be accompanied by a statement in which 

there shall be set out full and precise particulars of the conduct of the member, which 

will be considered by the Committee. 

(g) Either prior to or at the meeting of the Committee the member concerned may request it 

to elaborate upon any of the particulars set forth in the said statement. Such a request 

shall be complied with by the Committee. The said member may put to the Committee 

at the meeting such facts as they may consider relevant and shall be given every 

opportunity to address it. 

(h) The Committee shall decide at the meeting whether the Social member has been guilty 

of conduct unbecoming a member. If it is satisfied they have been guilty of such 

conduct, it may resolve that they be placed on a warning to improve their conduct or be 

reprimanded or be suspended from membership of the Sub-Branch not to exceed a 

period of twelve (12) months or expulsion from the Sub-Branch. Any Sub-Branch 

Committee member who has a material personal interest or any relationship which 

may lead to bias in considering whether the Sub-Branch member may be guilty of 

conduct unbecoming a member, must not be present while such resolution is being 

considered and must not have any input in the decision. 

(i) The substance and decision of the meeting referred in Rule 15A(h) shall be recorded 

in the minutes of the meeting. Written notices, submissions and other correspondence 

relevant to the matter shall be retained in a collected form for a period of at least twelve 

months. The minutes shall certified within seven days after the meeting by its 

Chairman, after conferring with the other members of the Committee. 
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(j) The Secretary of the Sub-Branch shall notify the member in writing of the Committee’s 

decision after the certification period referred to in Rule 15A(i). 

(k) The decision of the Committee shall be final. 
 
 

15B.  DISPUTES AND MEDIATION 

(a) That in the event of a dispute, not being a disciplinary matter, between: 

- A Member and their Sub-Branch or the State Branch; 

- Sub-Branches; and 

- A Sub-Branch and the State Branch; 
 

The following procedures to attempt to resolve the dispute shall apply. 
(1) That all parties to the dispute shall within 14 days after the arising of the dispute 

meet together and attempt to resolve the dispute. 

(2) If the parties fail to meet, or to resolve the dispute, a meeting shall take place in 

the presence of a mediator. 

(3) In the event of a dispute between a Member and their Sub-Branch or the State 

Branch the mediator shall be the relevant State Executive Liaison member 

appointed by the Region in which the dispute has arisen, as such other person as 

the State President may decide. For disputes between Sub- Branches and a 

Sub-Branch and the State Branch the mediator shall be a Branch Officer 

appointed by the State President. 

(4) The mediator shall conduct the mediation and conciliation so as to give the 

parties a proper opportunity to be heard and to produce written submissions if 

they desire and to ensure that natural justice is accorded to the parties. The 

mediator shall not decide the dispute. 

(5) That the parties to the dispute must in good faith attempt to resolve the dispute 

by mediation and conciliation. 

(6) If the mediation process is unsuccessful the State Branch Tribunal shall hear and 

determine the dispute. 

(7) There is a right of appeal from the determination of the State Branch Tribunal to 

the National Tribunal (Service member and Life member only). 

 
16 CESSATION OF MEMBERSHIP 
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(a) A member of the Sub-Branch ceases being a member of the Sub-Branch in the 

following circumstances: 

(1) by giving notice in writing to the Secretary of the member's resignation; or 

(2) if the person is suspended, for the term of the suspension; or 

(3) if the person is expelled from the Sub-Branch or the Branch. 

(b) Should a person cease to be a member in accordance with sub-rule (a): 

(1) if the person is also a Service or Life member ceases to be a member of the 

League or if an Affiliate, ceases to be an Affiliate of the Branch; and 

(2) the Secretary must record in the register of members the date on which the 

member ceased to be a member. 

(c) A member (who is not a Life member or who has paid any life subscription), who does 

not pay their Annual Subscription by 30 April, ceases to be a member of the Sub-Branch 

and, if the person is also a Service member ceases to be a member of the League or if 

an Affiliate, ceases to be an Affiliate of the Branch. 

(d) A person who ceases to be a member: 

(1) is not entitled to a refund of the annual subscription or the life subscription; 

(2) is liable for all amounts owing by them to the Sub-Branch or the Branch; and 

(3) is to return the League badge to the Secretary of the Sub-Branch. 

(e) Subject to Rule 16(f), a right, privilege, or obligation of a member: 

(1) is not capable of being transferred or transmitted to another person; and 

(2) terminates upon the person ceasing to be a member, whether by death, 

resignation or otherwise. 

(f) The obligations created by Rules 16(d)(3), 18(c), 18(d) and 18(f) do not cease if the 

person resigns or is removed as a member. 

 
17 TRANSFER OF MEMBERSHIP 

(a) A Service or a Life member or an Affiliate, who desires to transfer their membership to 

another Sub-Branch, may do so provided the provisions relating to transfer of a member 

in the Branch Rules are complied with. 

(b) A Service or a Life member or an Affiliate, who wishes to apply for a transfer to another 

Sub-Branch, must inform the Sub-Branch Secretary of their intention to transfer their 

membership to another Sub-Branch. 
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(c) The committee of the gaining Sub-Branch or the State Branch may accept or reject the 

transfer of a member to their Sub-Branch. 

(d) A member may not transfer between Sub-Branches more than once in a twelve month 

period without the written approval of the Chief Executive Officer of the Branch. 

 
18 RULES CONSTITUTE TERMS OF A CONTRACT 

(a) These Rules constitute terms of a contract between the Sub-Branch and a member. A 

member agrees that by virtue of their membership of the Sub-Branch to be bound by 

these Rules, the National Constitution and the Branch Constitution. 

(b) A member must not: 

(1) aid, abet, procure or induce a person to breach these Rules or the National 

Constitution or the Branch Constitution; 

(2) in any way, directly or indirectly, be knowingly concerned in or a party to a breach 

of these Rules or the National Constitution or the Branch Constitution; or 

(3) attempt to breach these Rules or the National Constitution or the Branch 

Constitution. 

(c) A past member must not: 

(1) aid, abet, procure or induce a person to breach these Rules or the National 

Constitution or the Branch Constitution; 

(2) in any way, directly or indirectly, be knowingly concerned in or a party to a 

breach of these Rules or the National Constitution or the Branch Constitution; or 

(3) attempt to breach these Rules or the National Constitution or the Branch 

Constitution. 

(d) A member must do everything in their control to ensure that these Rules and the 

National Constitution and the Branch Constitution are not breached by a person. 

(e) A Branch Bylaw is binding on the Sub-Branch or a member to the same effect as these 

Rules. 

(f) A member or a past member must not use the League name or the League badge 

without the prior written approval of the Branch. 

 
19 SUB-BRANCH COMMITTEE 

(a) The Sub-Branch Committee: 

(1) is to control and manage the business and affairs of the Sub-Branch; 
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(2) may exercise all such powers and functions as may be exercised by the Sub- 

Branch other than those powers and functions exercised by the Sub-Branch in 

general meeting; and 

(3) may perform all acts and things that appear to the Sub-Branch Committee to be 

essential for the proper management of the business and affairs of the Sub- 

Branch. 

(b) The members of the Sub-Branch Committee are: 

(1) the Sub-Branch Officers elected under Rule 20; 

(2) three or more members of the Sub-Branch elected under Rule 20; 

(3) the persons co-opted by the Sub-Branch Committee under Rule 19(d); 

(4) a member of the Sub-Branch appointed under Rule 19(l); and 

(5) a person appointed under Rule 19(f). 

(c) A Sub-Branch Officer is a member of the Sub-Branch elected or appointed to one or 

more of the following positions: 

(1) the president; 

(2) an immediate past president (if applicable); 

(3) senior vice president— League member (if more than one vice president); 

(4) vice president — Affiliate (if resolved by the Committee to have such a position); 

(5) a secretary; and 

(6) a treasurer. 

The above Sub-Branch Officers are the Executive of the Sub-Branch. 

(d) The Sub-Branch Committee may co-opt up to three persons but a co-opted person is 

not entitled to a vote on the Sub-Branch Committee. 

(e) A member of the Sub-Branch Committee must not be: 

(1) a member of the Committee of another Sub-Branch [except if appointed under 

Rule 19(d)]; or 

(2) an employee of the Sub-Branch (except if appointed under Rule 19(f)). 

(3) a member of the Sub-Branch Committee may occupy only one Committee 

position at the one time. 
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(f) The Sub-Branch Committee may resolve to appoint a Secretary on such terms and 

conditions as the Sub-Branch Committee from time to time determines, notwithstanding 

anything to the contrary contained in these Rules. 

(1) A person so appointed must agree to be bound by these Rules, the Branch 

Constitution and the National Constitution before such appointment is confirmed. 

(2) A person so appointed shall be entitled to retain their position as Secretary until 

the Sub-Branch Committee resolve otherwise. 

(g) A person appointed under Rule 19(f) shall not have the right to vote as a member of the 

Sub-Branch Committee, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in these 

Rules. 

(h) The Sub-Branch at its annual general meeting must appoint an auditor (if required in 

accordance with the Act) who must be a member of the Institute of Chartered 

Accountants or the Australian Society of Certified Practicing Accountants or any body 

described in section 1280 of the Corporations Law and must be registered under section 

1280 of the Corporations Law unless the State Executive approves otherwise. 

(i) A person ceases to be the immediate past president of the Sub-Branch after the 

annual general meeting of the Sub-Branch next following their retirement as the 

president, or upon the earlier retirement of their successor. 

(j) If the president of the Sub-Branch is absent or their office otherwise becomes vacant, 

the senior vice president (League member) assumes the office of the president. Save 

and except that prior to the senior vice president or the vice president or any other 

person (as the case may be) assuming the office of president they must provide to the 

Sub-Branch Secretary documentary proof of their service record and medal entitlement 

and until they have done so they cannot occupy the office of President. 

(k) If the Senior Vice President (League member) of the Sub-Branch, is absent or their 

office otherwise becomes vacant, the Vice President assumes the office of Senior Vice 

President (League). If a vice president (League member) of the Sub-Branch is absent or 

their office otherwise becomes vacant, the senior member (League) of the Sub-Branch 

Committee (by votes polled) assumes the office of a vice president. Save and except 

that prior to assuming the office of vice president they must provide to the Sub-Branch 

Secretary documentary proof of their service record and medal entitlement and until they 

has done so they cannot occupy the office of vice president. 

(l) If there is a vacancy other than the president or vice president (League member), the 

Sub-Branch Committee may appoint a member of the Sub-Branch to fill the vacancy. 

(m) The office of a member of the Sub-Branch Committee becomes vacant if they: 
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(1) cease to be a member or Affiliate, of the Sub- Branch; 

(2) become of unsound mind or a person who is, or whose estate is, liable to be 

dealt with under the law relating to mental health; 

(3) become a bankrupt or insolvent or makes an arrangement or composition with 

their creditors; 

(4) are convicted of a serious criminal offence and the Sub-Branch Committee does 

not within one month of that conviction resolve to confirm the appointment or 

election to the office of a member of the Sub-Branch Committee; 

(5) resign by notice in writing to the Sub-Branch Committee; 

(6) are absent for three consecutive meetings of the Sub-Branch Committee unless 

the Sub-Branch Committee resolves otherwise; 

(7) move their principal place of residence outside Victoria, or if they are a member 

of a Sub-Branch which has members from both sides of the Victorian border, 

they move their principal place of residence outside Victoria and the bordering 

State; 

(8) become an employee of the Sub-Branch [except if appointed under Rule 19(f)]; 

(9) is unable to be insured by the Sub-Branch with officers indemnity insurance for 

any reason; or 

(10) are suspended or expelled from membership. 

(n) The secretary of the Sub-Branch must notify the Company Secretary of a change in the 

members of the Sub-Branch Committee within fourteen days of a change. 

(o) At the first meeting of a newly constituted Sub-Branch Committee, the Sub-Branch 

Committee must appoint, from within the Sub-Branch Committee or from the members 

of the Sub-Branch a person to one or more of the following positions: 

(1) a memorial custodian for the care of any local public memorial; 

(2) a membership recruitment officer; 

(3) a publicity officer; 

(4) a welfare officer; and 

(5) an appeals officer. 

(p) The responsibilities and obligations of the President of the Sub-Branch shall include: 

(1) shall be a member, ex-officio, of all Sub-Committees appointed or elected; 

(2) when present shall preside at all General and Sub-Branch Committee meetings; 
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(3) may call meetings of the various Sub-Committees as and when they consider the 

occasion requires; 

(4) the Sub-Branch President shall at the meetings of the Sub-Branch, or of a 

Committee or Sub-Committee of the Sub-Branch, possess a vote and where 

voting is equal upon a question shall be entitled, when in the Chair, to a further 

or casting vote; 

(5) ensure that the Sub-Branch discharges its responsibilities, in relation to the 

Objects of the League, particularly welfare, charitable and commemorative roles; 

and 

(6) comply with all obligations and responsibilities required under the Act. 

(q) The duties of a treasurer of the Sub-Branch are, amongst other things to: 

(1) supervise the receipt and expenditure of all monies; 

(2) examine regularly the bank or pass book, pay in slips, accounts, cash and other 

books of the Sub-Branch, and see that such documents, accounts, and books 

are properly kept, and that financial transactions of the Sub-Branch are 

conducted in a regular manner; 

(3) prepare a report for the Sub-Branch Committee meeting in each month, showing 

the financial position of the Sub-Branch as disclosed by the documents, 

accounts, and books made available by the secretary; 

(4) examine all accounts submitted for payment by the secretary, and certify to the 

correctness of the account for presentation to the committee where necessary; 

(5) keep proper accounts by a method appropriate to the size of the Sub-Branch 

and to record all financial transactions; 

(6) in conjunction with the auditor (if applicable) decide upon the system to be 

adopted by the secretary in the keeping of all books relating to the financial 

transactions of the Sub-Branch; 

(7) preside over any Finance Committee that may be appointed, and advise the 

Sub-Branch Committee upon its financial position and transactions; 

(8) be a signatory to cheques, or electronic funds transfer documents, drawn upon 

the accounts of the Sub-Branch; 

(9) cause to be prepared for audit (if required in accordance with the Act) and submit 

audited (if applicable) report and accounts to the annual general meeting of the 

Sub-Branch, an annual Statement of receipts and expenditure, together with a 
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balance sheet showing the assets and liabilities of the Sub-Branch at the balance 

date; 

(10) send audited (if required in accordance with the Act) financial Statements to the 

Branch by 30 April each year; 

(11) if applicable, attend upon the auditor when required and explain anything the 

auditor may require respecting the accounts; 

(12) prepare a monthly list of disbursements, and obtain approval of the Sub- Branch 

Committee at meeting for payment, except in a matter of urgency or necessity, 

and then by consultation with the secretary or the president to pre- pay such 

account and then have such payment endorsed by the Sub-Branch Committee 

at its next meeting; 

(13) comply with all obligations and responsibilities required under the Act; 

(14) receive all monies paid to or received by the Sub-Branch and issue receipts for 

those monies in the name of the Sub-Branch; 

(15) ensure that all monies received are paid into the account of the Sub-Branch 

within five working days after receipt; 

(16) make any payments authorized by the Committee or by General Meeting of the 

Sub-Branch from the Sub-Branch's funds; 

(17) ensure cheques are signed by at least two Committee members; 

(18) ensure that the financial records of the Sub-Branch are kept in accordance with 

the Act; 

(19) coordinate and prepare the financial statements of the Sub-Branch and have 

them certified by the Committee prior to the submission to the Annual General 

Meeting of the Sub-Branch; and 

(20) ensure that at least one other Committee member has access to the accounts 

and financial records of the Sub-Branch. 

(r) The duties of a secretary of the Sub-Branch are, amongst other things to: 

(1) attend all meetings of the Sub-Branch; 

(2) record or cause to be recorded accurate minutes of the proceedings of meetings; 

(3) when required, furnish the Sub-Branch, the Chief Executive Officer or their 

representative, with information from Sub-Branch records. 

(4) prepare and sign all notices and other documents required by the Rules of the 

Branch or by the Bylaws and directions of the Sub-Branch; 
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(5) give up to the president or to the Sub-Branch Committee, or to any authorised 

committee, when requested so to do, all documents, monies, property belonging 

to the Sub-Branch, and upon the Sub-Branch becoming defunct, and upon 

request, give up to the Chief Executive Officer or their representative, to hold on 

behalf of veterans' interests in the district, all documents, monies, property in 

their possession belonging to the late Sub- Branch, and deliver such documents, 

monies and property to the president, the Sub-Branch Committee, or to the 

Chief Executive Officer within twenty- four hours of receiving a notice so to do; 

(6) prepare all returns and Statements required by the Branch, and forward same to 

the Company Secretary forthwith; 

(7) at the commencement of each Sub-Branch meeting draw the chairperson's 

attention to the presence of any person not entitled to be present, and advise 

them of the requirement of a quorum; 

(8) under the direction of the president or the Sub-Branch Committee, conduct all 

correspondence of the Sub-Branch; 

(9) perform such other duties as the Sub-Branch Committee may from time to time 

require; 

(10) be a signatory to cheques, or electronic funds transfer documents, drawn upon 

the accounts of the Sub-Branch; 

(11) be the First Secretary for the purposes of the Act; 

(12) keep custody of the common seal if applicable; 

(13) comply with all obligations and responsibilities required under the Act; 

(14) maintain the register of members in accordance with the Act; 

(15) keep custody of all books, documents and securities of the Sub-Branch in 

accordance with the Act; and 

(16) as required by the Act, provide members with access to the register of members, 

the minutes of General Meetings and other books and documents. 

(s) A paid employee of the Sub-Branch being a member of the Sub-Branch [except if 

appointed under Rule 19(f)] shall not be elected to, or after becoming a paid employee 

as aforesaid shall not remain on, the Committee of the Sub-Branch 

(t) That where a staff member of the Sub-Branch resigns, or is terminated for any reason, 

except if appointed under Rule 19(f), that staff member shall not be eligible to hold a 

position on the Committee of the Sub-Branch for a period of two years from the date of 

resignation or termination, save and except that this rule can be waived in relation to a 
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particular person who has previously been a staff member by the passing of a 

resolution by the Sub-Branch in General Meeting with such resolution receiving a vote of 

at least 75% of the members present and voting at the said meeting. 

(u) A social member of the Sub-Branch may not be elected to any executive position (that 

is, president, vice president/s, secretary and/or treasurer) on the Sub-Branch 

Committee (subject to the provisions of Rule 19(f)). Social members may not hold more 

than one position on the Committee of the Sub-Branch. A social member on the 

Committee of a Sub-Branch may only vote on matters relating to the operation of Sub- 

Branch facilities available to members of the Sub-Branch. 

(v)  
 

(1) A member of the Sub-Branch Committee who has a financial or material interest 

in a contract or arrangement made or proposed to be made with the Sub-Branch 

must disclose this interest at the first Committee meeting at which the contract or 

arrangement is first considered. 

(2) A member of the Sub-Branch Committee is not entitled to vote in respect of any 

contract or arrangement with the Sub-Branch in which the member has a 

financial or material interest and if the member does vote, the vote is not to be 

counted. 

(3) A member of a Sub-Branch or the State Branch must not, whilst holding any 

Office in a Sub-Branch or the State Branch, provide a service for a fee or reward 

or advantage to any member of a Sub-Branch or the State Branch, for which a 

facility or service is provided for or available from a Sub-Branch or the State 

Branch for no fee. 

(w) The Sub-Branch Committee must meet at least four times in each year at the dates, 

times and places determined by the Sub-Branch Committee. The Committee must 

ensure that minutes are taken and kept of each Committee meeting. The minutes must 

record; 

(1) members in attendance at the meeting; 

(2) the business considered at the meeting; 

(3) any resolution on which a vote is taken and the result of that vote; 

(4) any material personal interest disclosed; and 

(5) an action item list or table. 

(x) A meeting of the Sub-Branch Committee must be held in camera unless the 

Committee resolves otherwise. 
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(y) The Sub-Branch Committee shall be responsible for deciding prices chargeable to the 

Members in the administration of the Sub-Branch and giving therein the necessary 

notices to members. 

(z) A vote of a member of the Committee is to be given personally. 

(aa) 

(1) The Sub-Branch Committee shall appoint a House & Finance Sub-Committee 

from amongst the members of the Sub-Branch Committee. 

(2) The Sub-Branch Committee shall have power to appoint from among the 

members such other Sub-Committees for such purposes it shall deem necessary 

and shall have full power to delegate thereto such power, as it deems 

appropriate. 

(3) All Sub-Committees shall report in writing upon their proceedings at the next 

meeting of the Sub-Branch Committee. All such Sub-Committees shall be 

subordinate to the Sub-Branch Committee, which may allot, vary or amend the 

duties of such Sub-Committees. Each Sub-Committee shall appoint a Convenor, 

who shall convene meetings as may be directed by the Sub-Branch Committee 

or the president of the Sub-Branch. Each Sub-Committee shall keep a minute 

book containing a true record of all proceedings. 

(bb) The Sub-Branch Committee may act notwithstanding any vacancy on the Sub- Branch 

Committee. 

(cc) 

(1) Any five members of the Sub-Branch Committee shall constitute a quorum for the 

transaction of the business of a meeting of the Sub-Branch Committee. 

(2) No business shall be transacted at a Sub-Branch Committee meeting unless a 

quorum is present and if within half an hour of the time appointed for a Sub- 

Branch Committee meeting a quorum is not present the Sub-Branch Committee 

meeting shall stand adjourned to the same place and at the same hour of the 

same day in the following week. 

(dd) The position held by members of the Sub-Branch Committee elected or appointed 

under rule 19(b) are honorary positions, [except if appointed under rule 19(f)]. 

(ee) The Sub-Branch Committee shall undertake such training, in relation to its 

responsibilities and duties, including Sub-Branch corporate governance, financial 

management matters, and their responsibility under the Liquor Control Reform Act and 

the Gambling Act, and as shall be directed by the State Executive from time to time. 
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19A DUTIES OF THE SUB-BRANCH COMMITTEE 

(a) The members of the Sub-Branch Committee must not knowingly or recklessly make 

improper use of information acquired by virtue of holding that office: 

(1) to gain advantage for themselves or any other person; or 

(2) to cause detriment to the Sub-Branch. 

(b) The members of the Sub-Branch Committee must not knowingly or recklessly make 

improper use of that office: 

(1) to gain advantage for themselves or any other person; or 

(2) to cause detriment to the Sub-Branch. 

(c) The members of the Sub-Branch Committee must exercise their powers and discharge 

their duties with the degree of care and diligence that a reasonable person would if that 

person: 

(1) were an officeholder of the Sub-Branch in the circumstances applying at the time 

of the exercise of the power or the discharge of the duty; and 

(2) occupied the office held by, and had the same responsibilities within the Sub- 

Branch as, the officeholder. 

(d) The members of the Sub-Branch Committee must make any decision to take or not 

take action in respect of a matter relevant to the operations of the Sub-Branch: 

(1) in good faith for a proper purpose; and 

(2) without a material personal interest in the subject matter; and 

(3) after informing themselves about the subject matter to the extent that it is 

believed appropriate; and 

(4) in the rational belief that the best interests of the Sub-Branch have been 

considered. 

(e) The members of the Sub-Branch Committee must exercise their powers and discharge 

their duties: 

(1) in good faith and in the best interest of the Sub-Branch; and 

(2) for a proper purpose. 



Bylaw 10B - 34 

V3(SC 27/07/2024) 

 

 

 
20 ELECTIONS OF THE SUB-BRANCH COMMITTEE (SEE BRANCH BYLAW 

23 FOR VOTING DETAIL) 
 

(a)  
 

(1) Positions on the Sub-Branch Committee become vacant at the Annual General 

Meeting of the Sub-Branch as provided for in Rule 20(a)(2), except any person 

appointed by the Sub-Branch Committee under Rule 19(f) who shall be entitled 

to retain their position until the Sub-Branch Committee resolve otherwise. 

(2)  That the members of the Sub-Branch Committee shall be elected for a term of 

two years, save and except that, a Sub-Branch by resolution of the members, 

may apply to the State Executive for authority to continue one year terms of 

office, for all Committee positions. 

a. Persons co-opted under Rule 19(d) shall be appointed for a term not 
exceeding the term of office for the Committee as provided for in Rule 
20(a)(2). 

b. If a casual vacancy occurs in any committee position the person 

appointed to fill that position shall hold that office for the term set down 

for the particular office or position. 

(3) The members of the Sub-Branch Committee shall be elected for a term as 

provided for in Rule 20(a)(2) by members of a class of membership that 

constitutes not less than 60% of the total membership of the Sub-Branch, 

[excluding temporary or honorary members and persons who are members by 

reason only of reciprocal arrangements with another club or persons whose 

rights as members are limited to rights as social members (hereinafter in this 

sub-clause (a) referred to as "the excluded members")]. In the event that the 

number of members of the Sub-Branch entitled to vote for the election of the 

Sub-Branch Committee is below 60% of the total membership of the Sub-Branch 

(excluding the excluded members) then all Associate members of the Sub- 

Branch (excluding the excluded members) shall be entitled to vote for the 

election of the Sub-Branch Committee. 

(b)  
 

(1) At least six (6) weeks prior to the date of the proposed Sub-Branch Annual 

General Meeting, the Committee of the Sub-Branch may resolve to select from 

the Service and Life Members and Affiliates of the Sub-Branch or from other 

persons who shall within one (1) month of the nomination and prior to the 

Annual General Meeting become members of the Sub-Branch in the class of 
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Service Member or Affiliate, up to three (3) persons who at the time of the 

selection shall not be members of the Committee, to serve on the incoming 

Committee of the Sub-Branch to be installed after the Annual General Meeting. 

(2) The outgoing Committee shall designate the positions that the selected persons 

shall hold on the Committee being any of the Secretary, Treasurer, or Committee 

member. 

(3) Subject to the consent in writing of each of the selected persons, the Sub- 

Branch Committee shall nominate and recommend to the Annual General 

Meeting that the selected persons be elected to the incoming Committee and to 

the position on the Committee or as office bearer as decided by the outgoing 

Sub-Branch Committee. There shall, at the Annual General Meeting, be no other 

election for such Sub-Branch Committee positions. 

(4) In the event of the Annual General Meeting not electing a person that has been 

nominated by the Sub-Branch Committee pursuant to this clause, the Sub- 

Branch Committee shall be able to fill that vacancy as a casual vacancy pursuant 

to clause 19(l) of these Rules. The person so appointed shall hold office until the 

next Annual General Meeting; save that a person during that year has nominated 

to the Annual General Meeting for appointment pursuant to this Rule and not 

elected by the Annual General Meeting shall not be eligible to be appointed to the 

casual vacancy. 

(5) Further to the above, the Committee may resolve to recommend any of the 

selected person(s) to the Annual General Meeting in subsequent years, but in 

each year after the first term the Committee must advise the Members of their 

intention to do so, prior to the date of the closure of nominations for the particular 

office for Committee. This advice will indicate that if there are other eligible 

Members who wish to nominate for that Sub-Branch Committee position, and 

have the skills to fill that position, then a ballot for that position will be conducted. 

In the absence of any other such eligible and suitable candidates, the Committee 

nominee shall be duly elected vide Rule 20(j). 

(c) Subject to Rule 20(b), the Sub-Branch Committee must, at least six weeks prior to its 

annual general meeting determine the manner in which an election (and if necessary, 

the conduct of a ballot) is to be held. 

(d) Subject to clauses 20(e), 20(p)(4) and 10.6(d)(1), a Service member, Life member or an 

Affiliate, of the Sub-Branch, may nominate or be nominated for one or more positions on 

the Sub-Branch Committee. 
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(e) A Life, Service or Affiliate member who has been suspended by or from: 

(1) the Sub-Branch or the League by the Sub-Branch Committee or the State 

Branch or National Tribunal; or 

(2) the Sub-Branch by the Sub-Branch management under the provisions of the 

Liquor Licensing Act and Regulations, 

since the previous Sub-Branch AGM shall not be eligible to nominate for the Sub- 

Branch Committee for a period of 12 months following the completion of the 

suspension. 

(f) That a member nominating for Sub-Branch Officer (Executive) of a Licensed Sub- 

Branch, holding a license pursuant to the provisions of the Liquor Control Reform Act, 

must have served at least 1 year on a Sub-Branch Committee at any time within the 

past five years, save and except: 

(1) that at the request of the Sub-Branch Committee, the State Executive may waive 

this rule in relation to a particular person where it has been shown to be in the 

best interests of the Sub-Branch to do so; 

(2) persons nominated pursuant to Rule 20(b). 

(g) If the number of nominations for a position on the Sub-Branch Committee exceeds the 

number to be elected to that position, there is to be an election by secret ballot or a show 

of hands, as decided by the Sub-Branch Committee under Rule 20(c). 

(h) If a member is elected to a position on the Sub-Branch Committee, any other 

nominations the member has, lapses. 

(i)  
 

(1) For the purposes of conducting the ballot, a returning officer and not less than 

two scrutineers are to be appointed by the Sub-Branch Committee from among 

the Service or Life members or Affiliates. 

(2) The ballot shall be conducted in the following descending order: 

President; 

Senior Vice President - League member 

[if more than one vice president]; 

Vice President - League member; 
Vice President - Affiliate; 

Secretary [except if appointed by the Sub-Branch 
Committee under Rule 19(f)]; 

Treasurer; 
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Committeeman [the senior of whom shall be the member polling 

the most votes, or if no vote is necessary, then a 
method as determined by the meeting] 

(3) If there is a tied vote, the name drawn from a hat by the returning officer in the 

presence of the scrutineers, is the person elected. 

(4) If for any reason, the Sub-Branch Committee resolves that they are unable to 

appoint a returning officer then they shall apply in writing to the State Executive 

for a League member to be appointed. The State Executive will then appoint a 

League member to be the returning officer. 

(5) The returning officer of the Sub-Branch must not be an employee of the Sub- 

Branch or a candidate for Committee or office. 

(j) If the number of nominations for a position on the Sub-Branch Committee does not 

exceed the number to be elected to that position, the nominees are duly elected to the 

position. 

(k) The secretary of the Sub-Branch must notify the Company Secretary within fourteen 

days of the meeting that appointed or elected the Sub-Branch Committee the members 

of that Sub-Branch Committee. 

(l) Subject to the provisions of these Rules a Social member may be elected to the 

Committee of the Sub-Branch but not an executive position. A Service member, Life 

member, Affiliate or social member of a Sub-Branch may nominate a social member for 

election to the Sub-Branch Committee other than an executive position. 

(m) A social member of the Sub-Branch is not entitled to vote on any matter other than in 

respect of the election of a social member to the Committee of the Sub-Branch. 

(n) Canvassing is not permitted for any elected position in the Sub-Branch, subject to 

Branch Rule 4.9. 

(o)  
 

(1) Any officer or member of the Committee of the Sub-Branch may be deposed 

upon a resolution carried at a specially summoned General Meeting of the Sub- 

Branch convened by the president for the expressed purpose of considering the 

deposition, and of which at least fourteen (14) days notice shall be given to all 

members (excluding honorary members) of the Sub- Branch at the address 

shown in the Sub-Branch register. The notice is to state the time and place of 

such meeting and the nature of the business to be transacted at that meeting. 
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(2) The meeting deposing the officer or member of the Committee shall forthwith 

proceed to elect a member to fill the vacancy created. Such casual vacancy shall 

hold office until the next Annual General Meeting. 

(p)  

(1) At the meeting referred to in Rule 20(b) the Committee shall determine whether 

the elections are to be formal nominations or nominations from the floor at the 

Annual General Meeting 

(2) Nominations, whether formal or from the floor, of persons who are not Life 

members or life subscribers, who have not paid the annual subscriptions for the 

current year, must be rejected [see Rule 11A(b)]. 

(3) Formal nominations shall be in accordance with the following Rules 20(p)(4) to 

20(p)(8). 

(4)  Nominations for Committee shall be in writing, contain the name and address of 

the nominated member, be signed by at least two (2) members entitled to vote 

and shall be delivered to the returning officer at least fourteen (14) days before 

the date fixed for the Annual General Meeting, or the date of the election 

(ballot) if held separately, and shall be posted on the notice board by noon on 

the day following receipt of each such nomination. 

(5) The name of any person proposed for election as a member of the Sub-Branch 

Committee shall be displayed in a conspicuous place in the Sub-Branch 

premises for not less than one (1) week before the date of the election. 

(6) The nomination form for election and the record of the Sub-Branch Officers and 

Committee shall be in accordance with Branch requirements. 

(7) Any withdrawal of a nomination by a candidate shall be in writing and submitted 

to the returning officer and shall be posted on the notice board by the returning 

officer at the earliest opportunity. 

(8)  Notwithstanding other provisions in these Rules, a candidate for the office of 

Sub-Branch President or Senior Vice President (League member) or Vice 

President (League member) must provide to the Sub-Branch Secretary and the 

Returning Officer documentary proof of their service record and medal 

entitlement and until they have done so the Returning Officer must reject the 

nomination. If after the date and time of the close of nominations the required 

proof has not been provided then the nomination lapses. 



Bylaw 10B - 39 

V3(SC 27/07/2024) 

 

 

 
21 MEETINGS OF THE SUB-BRANCH 
The Committee must ensure that minutes are taken and kept of each meeting of the 

Sub- Branch. The minutes must record: 

(a) the name of the members in attendance at the meeting, 

(b) the business considered at the meeting, 

(c) any resolution on which a vote is taken and the result of that vote, 

(d) the financial statements submitted to the members including the certification that the 

financial statements are true and fair, and 

(e) if applicable, any auditor's accounts and auditor's report. 
 
 

21A ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 

(a) The Sub-Branch must hold an Annual General Meeting (AGM), which is the governing 

body of the Sub-Branch, before the end of April each year on such date, time and place 

as the Committee of the Sub-Branch shall determine. Notice of the annual general 

meeting is to be provided to all members (excluding honorary members) of the Sub- 

Branch in accordance with Rule 12. 

(b) At the annual general meeting of the Sub-Branch: 

(1) the president of the Sub-Branch must present their report on the Sub-Branch for 

the preceding year. 

(2) the treasurer of the Sub-Branch must submit the audited (if required in 

accordance with the Act) financial statements of the Sub-Branch, in accordance 

with Part 7 of the Act, for the preceding year. 

(3) the Sub-Branch Committee are to be elected or the returning officer declare the 

results of an election previously conducted in a manner determined by the Sub- 

Branch under the provision of Rule 20(b). 

(4) the auditor (if applicable) of the Sub-Branch is to be appointed. 

(5) other business of which notice has been given or which the chairperson deems 

important is to be dealt with. 

(6) the returning officer of the Sub-Branch must not be a candidate for office or 

Committee for which an election is necessary. 

(c)  

(1) Until otherwise determined by the Sub-Branch, the quorum for the annual general 

meeting shall comprise those Service and Life members and Affiliates present at 
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the appointed time for any meeting, subject to the proviso that the number of 

Service and Life members (who are not Sub-Branch officers or Committee 

persons) present exceeds the number of Sub-Branch officers and Committee 

members present. 

(2) If within half an hour after the appointed time for the commencement of the 

annual general meeting a quorum is not present, the chairperson must adjourn 

the annual general meeting to a date not less than twenty one (21) days from the 

original meeting and to a time and place as the chairperson decides and if at the 

adjourned meeting the quorum is not present within half an hour after the 

appointed time for the commencement of the annual general meeting the Service 

and Life members present are the quorum. 

(3) The Sub-Branch Secretary must give written notice to all members (excluding 

honorary members) of the Sub-Branch of the adjourned annual general meeting 

at least fourteen (14) days before the adjourned annual general meeting. 

(d)  

(1) The president of the Sub-Branch is to be the chairperson of the annual general 

meeting but if the Sub-Branch president is not present within fifteen 

(2) (15) minutes after the time appointed for the commencement of the annual 

General meeting, or is unwilling or unable to act as the chairperson, the Sub- 

Branch senior vice-president, is to be the chairperson of the annual general 

meeting. 

(3) If the Sub-Branch senior vice president is not present within fifteen (15) minutes 

after the time appointed for the commencement of the annual general meeting, or 

is unwilling or unable to act as the chairperson of the annual general meeting, the 

Service and Life members of the Sub-Branch present shall elect one of their 

number to preside as chairperson of the meeting. 

(e)  

(1) The only business to be transacted at the annual general meeting is that included 

on the agenda, unless the chairperson decides that it is in the interests of the 

Sub-Branch that business not included on the agenda be transacted. 

(2) The annual general meeting shall determine if an honorarium is to be paid in the 

following financial year to Sub-Branch officers and if so the amount to be paid. 

(f) A quorum must be present at the annual general meeting before any business is to be 

transacted except for the election of a chairperson and the adjournment of the annual 

general meeting under Rule 21A(c)(2). 
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(g) A question arising at the annual general meeting is to be decided by a majority unless 

otherwise required by the Act, the National Constitution or the Branch Constitution or 

these Rules. 

(h) Save for the election of the Sub-Branch Committee which shall be conducted in 

accordance with Rule 20(b) and 20(f), a question arising at an annual general meeting 

is to be determined on a show of hands and unless before or on the show of hands a poll 

is demanded, a declaration by the chairperson that a resolution has, on a show of 

hands, been carried or carried unanimously or carried by a particular majority or lost 

and an entry to that effect is made in the minute book, that entry is evidence of that 

fact, without proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of, or 

against, that resolution. 

(i) At an annual general meeting of the Sub-Branch a member of the Sub-Branch entitled to 

vote under these Rules has one vote only. A member of the Sub-Branch entitled to vote 

at an annual general meeting may only vote in person, by postal or absentee voting, as 

determined by the Committee under Rule 20(b). Proxy voting is not permitted. 

(j) In the case of an equality of voting on a question, the chairperson is entitled to exercise a 

casting vote. 

(k) A poll at an annual general meeting may be demanded by no less than five members of 

the Sub-Branch entitled to vote at the annual general meeting. 

(l) If a poll on any question is demanded, it is to be taken at that meeting in such manner as 

the chairperson directs and the resolution of the poll is to be deemed to be a resolution 

of the annual general meeting on that question. 

(m) If a poll is demanded on the election of a chairperson or on a question of an adjournment 

under Rule 21A(c)(2) it is to be taken immediately. 

(n) A poll that is demanded on any other question is to be taken at such time before the 

close of the annual general meeting as the chairperson directs. 

(o) Subject to Rule 11A(b), a member of the Sub-Branch is not entitled to vote at the 

annual general meeting unless all moneys due and payable by the member to the Sub- 

Branch have been paid. 

 
21B ORDINARY GENERAL MEETINGS 

(a) The Sub-Branch Committee shall, subject to Rule 12, convene not less than one 

ordinary general meeting (OGM) of the members [excluding honorary members] of the 

Sub-Branch between Annual General Meetings. 
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(b) One such ordinary general meeting shall be held within sixty days immediately preceding 

the Annual Conference under the Branch Constitution to: 

(1) Determine the votes of the Sub-Branch for Branch Officers. 

(2) Instruct the Sub-Branch delegates to the Annual Conference on how to vote on 

matters listed in the Agenda for the Annual Conference. 

(c)  
 

(1) Until otherwise determined by the Sub-Branch, the quorum for an ordinary 

general meeting shall comprise those Service and Life members and Affiliates 

present at the appointed time for any meeting, subject to the proviso that the 

number of Service and Life members (who are not Sub-Branch Officers or 

Committee persons) present exceeds the number of Sub-Branch Officers and 

Committee members present. 

(2) If within half an hour after the appointed time for the commencement of the 

ordinary general meeting a quorum is not present, the chairperson must adjourn 

the ordinary general meeting to a date not less than twenty one (21) days from 

the original meeting and to a time and place as the chairperson decides and if at 

the adjourned meeting the quorum is not present within half an hour after the 

appointed time for the commencement of the ordinary general meeting the 

Service and Life members present are the quorum. 

(3) The Sub-Branch Secretary must give written notice to all members of the Sub- 

Branch of the adjourned ordinary general meeting at least fourteen (14) days 

before the adjourned ordinary general meeting. 

(d)  
 

(1) The president of the Sub-Branch is to be the chairperson of the ordinary general 

meeting but if the Sub-Branch President is not present within fifteen (15) minutes 

after the time appointed for the commencement of the ordinary general meeting, 

or is unwilling or unable to act as the chairperson, the Sub- Branch senior vice- 

president, is to be the chairperson of the ordinary general meeting. 

(2) If the Sub-Branch senior vice president is not present within fifteen (15) minutes 

after the time appointed for the commencement of the ordinary general meeting, 

or is unwilling or unable to act as the chairperson of the ordinary general 

meeting, the Service and Life members of the Sub-Branch present shall elect 

one of their number to preside as chairperson of the meeting. 
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(e) The only business to be transacted at the ordinary general meeting is that included on 

the agenda, unless the meeting resolves that it is in the interest of the Sub-Branch that 

the business not included on the agenda be transacted. 

(f) A quorum must be present at an ordinary general meeting before any business is to be 

transacted except for the election of a chairperson and the adjournment of the ordinary 

general meeting under Rule 21B(c)(2). 

(g) A question arising at the ordinary general meeting is to be decided by a majority unless 

otherwise required by the Act, the National Constitution or the Branch Constitution or 

these Rules. 

(h) A question arising at an ordinary general meeting is to be determined on a show of 

hands and unless before or on the show of hands a poll is demanded, a declaration by 

the chairperson that a resolution has, on a show of hands, been carried or carried 

unanimously or carried by a particular majority or lost and an entry to that effect is 

made in the minute book, that entry is evidence of that fact, without proof of the number 

or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of, or against, that resolution. 

(i) At an ordinary general meeting of the Sub-Branch a member of the Sub-Branch entitled 

to vote under these Rules has one vote only. A member of the Sub-Branch entitled to 

vote at an ordinary general meeting may only vote in person. Proxy voting is not 

permitted. 

(j) In the case of an equality of voting on a question, the chairperson is entitled to exercise 

a casting vote. 

(k) A poll at an ordinary general meeting may be demanded by no less than five members 

of the Sub-Branch entitled to vote at the ordinary general meeting. 

(l) If a poll on any question is demanded, it is to be taken at that meeting in such manner 

as the chairperson directs and the resolution of the poll is to be deemed to be a 

resolution of the ordinary general meeting on that question. 

(m) If a poll is demanded on the election of a chairperson or on a question of an 

adjournment under Rule 21B(c)(2) it is to be taken immediately. 

(n) A poll that is demanded on any other question is to be taken at such time before the 

close of the ordinary general meeting as the chairperson directs. 

(o) Subject to Rule 11A(b), a member of the Sub-Branch is not entitled to vote at an 

ordinary general meeting unless all moneys due and payable by the member to the 

Sub-Branch have been paid. 
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21C EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETINGS 

(a) Subject to the provisions of Rule 21C(t), the Sub-Branch Committee must, on the 

written request of ten per cent of the Service and Life members of the Sub-Branch, 

convene an extraordinary general meeting. 

(b) The request under Rule 21C(a) must state the business for which the extraordinary 

general meeting is required. 

(c) The extraordinary general meeting shall be called within thirty days from the receipt of 

the request, such meeting to be held within forty-nine days of the date of the receipt of 

the request. 

(d) If the Sub-Branch Committee does not convene an extraordinary general meeting 

pursuant to Rule 21C(a) in the time required under Rule 21C(c), the extraordinary 

general meeting may be convened by the members who had made the request under 

Rule 21C(a). 

(e) The Sub-Branch Committee or, if proceeding under Rule 21C(d), the requesting 

members, must serve on the members (excluding honorary members) of the Sub- 

Branch a notice of the extraordinary general meeting together with details of the 

business to be transacted at least seven (7) days before the extraordinary general 

meeting. 

(f)  
 

(1) Except for a meeting convened under Rule 21C(t), the quorum for an 

extraordinary general meeting shall comprise those Service and Life members 

and Affiliates present at the appointed time for the meeting, subject to the proviso 

that the number of Service and Life members (who are not Sub-Branch officers 

or Committee persons) present exceeds the number of Sub-Branch officers and 

Committee members present. 

(2) If within half an hour after the appointed time for the commencement of the 

extraordinary general meeting a quorum is not present the meeting, if convened 

upon the requisition of members, shall be dissolved. 

(3) If within half an hour after the appointed time for the commencement of the 

extraordinary general meeting a quorum is not present the meeting, if convened 

by the State Executive, shall be adjourned by the chairperson to a date not less 

than twenty-one days from the original meeting and to a time and place as the 

chairperson decides and if at the adjourned meeting the quorum is not present 

within half an hour after the appointed time for the commencement of the 
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Extraordinary general meeting the Service and Life members present are the 

quorum. 

(4) The Secretary of the Sub-Branch must give written notice to all members 

(excluding Community and honorary members) of the Sub-Branch of the 

adjourned extraordinary general meeting at least seven days before the 

adjourned extraordinary general meeting. 

(g) Subject to Rule 21C(v) hereof: 

(1) The president of the Sub-Branch is to be the chairperson of the extraordinary 

general meeting but if the Sub-Branch president is not present within fifteen 

minutes after the time appointed for the commencement of the extraordinary 

general meeting, or is unwilling or unable to act as the chairperson, the Sub- 

Branch senior vice-president, is to be the chairperson of the extraordinary 

general meeting. 

(2) If the Sub-Branch senior vice president is not present within fifteen minutes after 

the time appointed for the commencement of the extraordinary general meeting, 

or is unwilling or unable to act as the chairperson of the extraordinary general 

meeting, the Service and Life members of the Sub- Branch present shall elect 

one of their number to preside as chairperson of the meeting. 

(h) The only business to be transacted at the extraordinary general meeting is that included 

on the agenda. 

(i) A quorum must be present at the extraordinary general meeting before any business is 

to be transacted except for the election of a chairperson and the adjournment of the 

extraordinary general meeting under Rule 21C(f)(3). 

(j) A question arising at the extraordinary general meeting is to be decided by a majority 

unless otherwise required by the Act, the National Constitution or the Branch 

Constitution or these Rules. 

(k) A question arising at an extraordinary general meeting is to be determined on a show 

of hands and unless before or on the show of hands a poll is demanded, a 

declaration by the chairperson that a resolution has, on a show of hands, been carried 

or carried unanimously or carried by a particular majority or lost and an entry to that 

effect is made in the minute book, that entry is evidence of that fact, without proof of 

the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of, or against, that resolution. 

(l) At an extraordinary general meeting of the Sub-Branch a member of the Sub-Branch 

entitled to vote under these Rules has one vote only. A member of the Sub-Branch 
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entitled to vote at an extraordinary general meeting may only vote in person. Proxy 

voting is not permitted. 

(m) Except for an extraordinary general meeting convened under Rule 21C(t), in the case of 

an equality of votes the chairperson of the meeting is entitled to exercise a casting 

vote. 

(n) A poll at an extraordinary general meeting may be demanded by no less than five 

members of the Sub-Branch entitled to vote at the extraordinary general meeting. 

(o) If a poll on any question is demanded, it is to be taken at that meeting in such manner as 

the chairperson directs and the resolution of the poll is to be deemed to be a resolution 

of the extraordinary general meeting on that question. 

(p) If a poll is demanded on the election of a chairperson or on a question of an adjournment 

under Rule 21C(f)(3) it is to be taken immediately. 

(q) A poll that is demanded on any other question is to be taken at such time before the 

close of the extraordinary general meeting as the chairperson directs. 

(r) Subject to Rule 11A(b), a member of the Sub-Branch is not entitled to vote at an 

extraordinary general meeting unless all moneys due and payable by the member to the 

Sub-Branch have been paid. 

(s) Unless called by the State Executive under Rule 21C(t), there shall only be one 

extraordinary general meeting of the Sub-Branch in any one calendar year. Should 

circumstances prevail that members require an additional extraordinary general meeting, 

the request referred to in Rule 21C(a) shall be directed to the Chief Executive Officer 

who shall refer the matter to the State Branch Tribunal, which shall provide a written 

report and recommendation to the State Executive within forty-nine days of receipt of 

the request. 

(t) The State Executive may: 

(1) convene an extraordinary general meeting of a Sub-Branch, either as a result of 

the deliberations of the State Branch Tribunal under Rule 21C(s) or of its own 

volition; and 

(2) determine the quorum of the extraordinary general meeting. 

(u) When the State Executive convenes an extraordinary general meeting of the Sub- 

Branch the State Executive shall appoint a person to chair the meeting. 

(v) The State Executive must serve a notice on the members (excluding honorary 

members) of the Sub-Branch of the extraordinary general meeting convened under Rule 
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21C(t) together with the business to be transacted at least seven (7) days before the 

extraordinary general meeting. 

(w) At the Sub-Branch extraordinary general meeting, however convened, a State officer, 

the Chief Executive Officer or representative appointed by resolution of the State 

Executive, shall have the right to attend and speak at the meeting. 

 
 

22 SUSPENSION OR DISSOLUTION OF THE SUB-BRANCH 

(a) If the Sub-Branch contravenes or fails to observe or perform any of the provisions of the 

National Constitution, fails to be bound by or promote the standing policy of the League 

or has been guilty of conduct prejudicial to the interests of the League, the Branch may 

deal with the matter in accordance with National Bylaw 8. 

(b) The provisions contained in National Bylaw 8 apply, mutatis mutandis, if the Sub- Branch 

contravenes or fails to observe or perform any of the provisions of these Rules or has 

been guilty of conduct prejudicial to the interest of the Branch. 

(c) If the charter of the Sub-Branch is suspended, the State Executive is to control the 

affairs of the Sub-Branch. 

(d) If the Sub-Branch is dissolved, wound up or its charter is withdrawn by the Branch, the 

Sub-Branch property shall be dealt with in accordance with Rule 35(e). 

 
23 SIGNING OF CHEQUES & ELECTRONIC FUNDS TRANSFER 

(a) A cheque, or an Electronic Funds transfer, drawn on an account of the Sub-Branch is 

to be signed by any two executive members of the Committee; duly minuted as 

signatories by the Sub-Branch Committee. The Committee may also resolve to 

nominate the Manager (if appointed) to be a signatory, provided that where accounts are 

administered under the Veterans Act 2005 (VIC) the signatories must comply with the 

Act. 

The procedure for urgent electronic funds transfers where no signatories are available 

shall be determined by the Sub-Branch Committee. All Electronic Funds transfers are 

to be presented by the Treasurer at the next Sub-Branch Committee Meeting. 

 
24 SUB-BRANCH BOOKS 

(a) Except as otherwise provided in these Rules, the secretary or the secretary/treasurer of 

the Sub-Branch is to keep in their custody or under their control all the books, accounts, 



Bylaw 10B - 48 

V3(SC 27/07/2024) 

 

 

 
minutes books, statutory registers kept under any law (if any), records and securities 

maintained by the Sub-Branch. 

(b) The Sub-Branch must, if required by the Branch, produce for inspection all books, 

accounts, minutes books, statutory registers kept under any law (if any), records and 

securities and supply such returns and other information as the Branch may from time to 

time require. 

(c) Subject to the Act, any member may have access to the minutes of General Meetings 

and the register of members. A member must not make improper use of information 

about a person obtained from the register of members and access to personal 

information of a person recorded in the register of members may be restricted by the 

Committee. 

(d) Those funds generated by, or for a Sub-Committee of the Sub-Branch, a Sporting 

Section or a Subsidiary Association or Section (as defined in Branch Rules Part 16), 

remain under the control of the President and members of the Sub-Branch Committee. 

 
25 ACCOUNTS OF THE SUB-BRANCH 
The audited (if applicable) accounts of the Sub-Branch must be provided to the Branch by 30 
April each year. 

 
 

26 MONEY RECEIVED 
All money raised, collected or otherwise received by any person or persons where the name of 
the Sub-Branch is used or inferred must be paid into the Sub-Branch bank account and a 
receipt issued. 

 
 
27 COMMUNICATIONS WITH GOVERNMENTS, THE LEAGUE AND 

BRANCHES 
A League matter raised by the Sub-Branch or a member of the Sub-Branch for the attention of 
any Government of the Commonwealth, State or Territory, the League or any of its Officers or 
the Branch or any other State Branch, must be directed through the Chief Executive Officer, 
unless otherwise approved in writing by the State Executive. 

 
 

28 NO AMALGAMATION 
The Sub-Branch must not amalgamate with any other body, including another Sub-Branch, 
without the prior written approval of the State Executive. 
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29 SALE OF REAL SUB-BRANCH PROPERTYAND CREATION OF SECURITY 

INTERESTS 

(a) The Sub-Branch is not authorised and must not supply or offer to supply or permit a 

person to supply or offer to supply Sub-Branch real property without the prior written 

authorisation of the State Executive. 

(b) The Sub-Branch is not authorised and must not lease or offer to lease or permit a 

person to lease or offer to lease Sub-Branch real property with an option to supply or 

acquire the Sub-Branch property without the prior written authorisation of the State 

Executive. 

(c) The Sub-Branch is not authorised and must not create any security interest 

whatsoever or permit a person to create any security interest whatsoever over Sub- 

Branch property without the prior written authorisation of the State Executive. 

(d) The request for authorisation under Rule 29(a), (b) or (c) must include details of the 

Sub-Branch property and evidence of the Market Value and/or Market Rental of the Sub- 

Branch property. 

(e) A Sub-Branch is not authorised and must not raise a secured loan from any source 

without the prior written authorisation of the State Executive, which shall not be 

unreasonably withheld. 

 
30 SUB-BRANCH MILITARY MEMORABILIA 
A Sub-Branch must not dispose of any military and historical memorabilia it has in its 
possession or power without the prior written approval of the State Executive. 

 
 

31 APPOINTMENT OF A NOMINEE 
The Nominee (being a nominee appointed under Section 54 of the Liquor Control Reform Act) 
shall have power to appoint Sub-Branch stewards and any further bar staff as required and 
arrange salaries and duties and conditions of employment. All instructions relative to the sale of 
liquor and staff shall be given by the Nominee. Any other bar staff shall receive instructions 
from the Nominee. 

In the absence of the secretary, any nominee, senior Steward, officers or a committee 
member from the Sub-Branch, the steward on duty will be in charge of the discipline of the 
Sub-Branch. 

 
 

32 BYLAWS 

(a) The Sub-Branch may draw up Sub-Branch Bylaws for its administrative activities. The 

Sub-Branch Bylaws must not be inconsistent with the National Constitution, the Branch 
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Constitution or these Rules. Insofar as the Sub-Branch Bylaws are inconsistent with the 

National Constitution or the Branch Constitution or these Rules they are invalid. 

(b) The Sub-Branch Bylaws are to be submitted to the Branch for approval and are not 

operative until approved in writing by the State Executive. 

 
 

33 LICENSING REQUIREMENTS (ADDITIONAL) 

(a) No liquor shall be sold or supplied to any person unless it is in accordance with 

applicable laws (including but not limited to Liquor Control Reform Act 1998 and/or 

other Statute and/or Regulation) and as provided by By-Law 33(f). 

(b) A visitor shall not be supplied with liquor in the Sub-Branch premises unless the visitor 

is: 

(1) a guest in the company of a member of the Club; or 

(2) at a particular function or occasion in respect of which a limited licence has been 

granted under the provisions of Section 26 of the Liquor Control Reform Act. 

(c) No person under eighteen (18) years of age shall be employed in the Sub-Branch. 

(d) No payment or part payment of any Secretary, Manager or other Officer or Servant of the 

Sub-Branch shall be made by way of commission or allowance from or upon the 

receipts of the Sub-Branch for the sale and disposal of liquor. 

(e) No liquor shall be sold or supplied for consumption elsewhere than on the Sub- Branch 

premises unless the licence under the Liquor Control Reform Act authorises the sale of 

liquor for consumption off the Sub-Branch premises. Any liquor so sold must be 

removed from the premises of the Sub-Branch by the Member purchasing same. 

(f) No member, visitor shall be served with liquor except in accordance with the Club 

Licence held by the Sub-Branch under the Liquor Control Act or in accordance with any 

Extended Hours Permit held in conjunction therewith. 

(g) No member or other person shall on the Sub-Branch premises bet or offer to bet, 

whether by way of gaming, wagering, cards or dice, or on the result of any race, game, 

sport or exercise, or in any other manner whatsoever, nor commit any other breach of 

the Gambling Regulation Act 2003 (Vic), unless so authorised by a Statute or Regulation. 

(h) No person shall receive a greater profit, benefit or advantage from the Sub-Branch than 

that received by every Member thereof other than a remuneration or honorarium as 

approved by the Members for work done by the Secretary, Treasurer or other Officer of 

the Sub-Branch or salary or wages paid to employees. 
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(i) The Sub-Branch may, with the authority of the Committee make application from time 

to time: 

(1) for a Limited Licence to authorise the sale and disposal of liquor on occasions or 

in locations not authorised by the Club Licence; 

(2) for an Extended Hours Permit to authorise the sale and disposal of liquor within 

the premises of the Sub-Branch at times to which the hours authorised by the 

Club Licence do not ordinarily extend. 

(j) Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary contained in these Rules while and as 

long as the Sub-Branch is the holder of a Club Licence under the Liquor Control 

Reform Act: 

(1) the facilities of the Sub-Branch shall be provided and maintained from the joint 

funds of the Sub-Branch; and 

(2) except as otherwise permitted under the Liquor Control Reform Act no person 

shall be entitled to receive nor shall receive a greater profit, benefit or advantage 

from the Sub-Branch than that to which any member is entitled or receives. 

(3) The Secretary of the Sub-Branch shall keep a record of members of the Sub- 

Branch voting at an election of members of the Sub-Branch. 

 
 

34 VISITORS 

(a) The names of all Visitors, and the names of members introducing them, shall be 

recorded in a book kept for that purpose. 

(b) Visitors' names and addresses shall be entered in the Visitors Book, which shall be 

signed by the member introducing the Visitors. Visitors may only remain in the Sub- 

Branch during the pleasure and presence of the member introducing them and must not 

be supplied with liquor in the Sub-Branch premises unless the guest is in the company 

of a member of the Sub-Branch and were admitted to the Sub-Branch premises, in 

accordance with the provisions of these Rules. 

(c) The number of Visitors allowable per member shall not exceed three (3) per visit, or 

such other number as shall be fixed by the Committee from time to time, except when 

with the consent of the Committee a special function is held at which one (1) or a small 

number of members is or are the host. 

(1) Any member may object to the presence of any visitor and in such case the 

visitor must immediately retire from the premises of the Sub-Branch. 



Bylaw 10B - 52 

V3(SC 27/07/2024) 

 

 

 
(2) The same visitor may not be admitted to the Sub-Branch on more than twelve 

 
(12) occasions in the one calendar year, but this restriction shall not apply 
to the partner, son or daughter and fiancée of a member. 

(d) Members introducing Visitors are held responsible for their good conduct and also any 

debts contracted by them to the Sub-Branch. 

(e) Visitors may be allowed to take part in games conducted at the premises of the Sub- 

Branch but not to the exclusion of members of the Sub-Branch and any such Visitors if 

requested by an Officer or Official of the Sub-Branch to vacate the premises shall do so 

immediately. 

 
 

35 APPLICATION AND DISPOSAL OF ASSETS 

(a) The income and property of the Sub-Branch is to be used and applied solely in 

promotion of its purposes and the exercise of its powers. 

(b) Subject to Rules 35(c) and (d), the income and property of the Sub-Branch is not to be 

distributed, paid or transferred directly or indirectly by way of dividend, bonus or 

otherwise by way of profit to a member. 

(c) The Sub-Branch may pay, in good faith, interest to a Member in respect of money 

advanced by the member to the Branch or otherwise owing by the Sub-Branch to the 

member or of remuneration to a Sub-Branch Officer or an employee of the Sub- 

Branch or for services rendered to the Sub-Branch by a member. 

(d) The Sub-Branch may pay or repay a Member for out of pocket expenses, money lent, 

reasonable and proper charges for goods hired by the Sub-Branch from a member or 

reasonable and proper rent for premises demised or let to the Sub- Branch from a 

member. 

(e) In the event of the Sub-Branch being wound up and there remains after the satisfaction 

of all of its liabilities any property or money, it shall not be paid to or distributed to the 

members of the Sub-Branch, but shall be transferred or paid to the Branch to be 

applied by the Branch in fulfilment of the objects of the Branch. 

 
 

36 CONSENT OF THE MINISTER 
The consent of the Minister is required before any alteration is made to Rule 35(e), which 
would permit a distribution on winding-up for a purpose other than a charitable purpose. 
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37 COMMON SEAL 

(a) The common seal of the Sub-Branch shall be kept in the custody of the Secretary of the 

Sub-Branch if applicable. 

(b) The common seal shall not be affixed to any instrument except by the authority of the 

Committee of the Sub-Branch and the affixing of the common seal shall be attested by 

any two Sub-Branch Officers if applicable. 

 
 

38 SOURCES OF FUNDS OF THE SUB-BRANCH 
The funds of the Sub-Branch shall be derived from entrance fees, annual subscriptions, 
donations and such other sources as the Sub-Branch Committee determines. 
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1 NAME 

***** RSL SUB-BRANCH (UNINCORPORATED) 

RULES 

The name of the Sub-Branch shall be the ***** RSL Sub-Branch (unincorporated). 
 
2.1 STATEMENT OF PURPOSES OF THE SUB-BRANCH 

The objects for which the Sub-Branch is established are: 
(a) Provide for the sick, helpless, wounded, aged, disabled, destitute and needy among those 

who are serving or who have served in the Australian Defence Forces, the various British 

Commonwealth Defence Forces, members of allied Defence Forces and their 

dependents; 

(b) Perpetuate the close and kindly ties of friendship created by the mutual service in the 

Australian Defence Forces or in the forces of nations traditionally allied with Australia 

and the recollections associated with that experience; 

(c) Maintain a proper standard of dignity and honour among all past and present members 

of the Australian Defence Forces and set an example of public spirit and noble hearted 

endeavour; 

(d) Preserve the memory and records of those who suffered and died for Australia, erect 

monuments to their valour, provide them with suitable burial places, and establish and 

preserve, in their honour, the annual commemoration day known as ANZAC Day; 

(e) Encourage loyalty to Australia and secure patriotic service in the interests of Australia; 

(f) Protect the good name and preserve the interests and standing of members of the 

Australian Defence Forces; 

(g) Encourage a Member as a citizen, to serve Australia with that spirit of self sacrifice and 

loyalty with which they served as members of the Australian Defence Forces; 

(h) The promotion of a social organisation and Sub-Branch of the Branch composed of those 

who are serving or who have served in the Australian Defence Forces, the various British 

Commonwealth Defence Forces, Members of Allied Defence Forces, their dependents 

and such other persons who from time to time may be admitted to membership in 

accordance with these Rules. 
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(i) To provide means of social interaction between persons who are Members of the League 

and in particular Members of the ***** RSL Sub-Branch of the Branch and their friends 

and guests. 

(j) To make contributions to any charitable relief benefit commemoration or memorial fund of 

any kind whatsoever as the Committee may deem advisable. 

(k) To further the interests of and to support the Branch. 

(l) To provide for the sick, helpless, wounded, aged, disabled, destitute and needy. 

 
2.2 POWERS OF THE SUB-BRANCH 

(a) To encourage the fullest liaison and co-operation with other responsible persons and 

organisations in the community as the Committee shall decide, with particular emphasis 

to encouraging the use of the rooms of the Sub-Branch when such use shall be 

calculated to benefit the community. 

(b) To invest and deal with the money of the Sub-Branch not immediately required upon 

such securities and investments and generally in such manner and in accordance with 

the overall policy of the League as may from time to time be determined. 

(c) To engage, employ, dismiss and remunerate professional advisers, secretaries, 

accountants, managers, brokers, experts and such other persons, officers and 

employees as may be necessary or desirable for the purpose of carrying on the business 

of the Sub-Branch or furthering any or all of the objects herein set out. 

(d) To place any money or deposit with any banking or other non-banking institutions, to open 

accounts and to pay money into and withdraw money from such accounts. 

(e) With the written consent of the State Executive to enter into any arrangements with any 

government or authority that are incidental or conducive to the attainment of the objects 

and the exercise of the powers of the Sub-Branch, to obtain from any such government 

or authority any rights, privileges, concessions, licenses, permits or registrations which 

the Sub-Branch may think it desirable to obtain, and to carry out, exercise and comply 

with any such rights, privileges, concessions or licenses; 

(f) To construct, improve, maintain, furnish, develop, work, manage, carry out, alter or 

control any houses, buildings, clubrooms, information bureaux, libraries, literary, social, 

educational and benevolent institutions, grounds, works or conveniences which directly 

or indirectly advance the Sub-Branch’s interests, and to contribute to, subsidise or 

otherwise assist and take part in the above; 
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(g) To make grants, donations, gifts and give assistance to such persons, trusts, groups, 

associations, societies, institutions or other entities as the Sub-Branch thinks fit; 

(h) To do all such other things as are incidental or conducive to the attainment of the objects 

and the exercise of the powers of the Sub-Branch; 

(i) To form a women's auxiliary if desired which shall be conducted under the Branch Rules 

in Branch Bylaw 6 or such other rules as the Branch or the State Executive may decide. 

 
3 ALTERATIONS OF THESE RULES 

(a) The Sub-Branch shall not, without the consent in writing of the State Executive, make 

any new Rule, alteration or variation to the Rules of the Sub-Branch. No new Rule, 

alteration or variation of these Rules shall take effect unless and until the new Rule, 

alteration or variation has been approved in writing by the State Executive. 

(b) Inconsistency 

If there is inconsistency between these Rules and the Branch Rules and/or the National 

Constitution, the Branch Rules and the National Constitution shall prevail to the extent of 

the inconsistency. In the event that there is any inconsistency between the Branch Rules 

and the National Constitution, then the provisions of the National Constitution shall prevail. 

 
4 POLICY 

The Policy of the Sub-Branch shall be national and non-sectarian and in relation to 
questions of party politics non-partisan. 

5.1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 

In these Rules - 
"Affiliate/s" means an Affiliate of the Branch admitted pursuant to the Branch Rules, and is 
a member of the Sub-Branch. 

"Branch" shall mean The Returned & Services League of Australia (Victorian Branch) Inc. 

"Branch Rules" means the Rules of the Branch. 

"Chief Executive Officer of the Branch" means the person appointed from time to time 
under Branch Rules, Rule 9.7 (a) by the State Executive. 

"Committee" or "Sub-Branch Committee" means the Committee of the Sub-Branch 
constituted under Rule 18. 

“Company Secretary” means the person appointed from time to time under Rule 9.8 of 
the Rules of the Branch by the State Executive. 

"Financial Year" means the year ending 31 December. 
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"In Writing" and "Written" include typing or printing, lithography, photography and other 
modes of representing or reproducing words and figures in visible form. 

"League" means the Returned and Services League of Australia Limited A.C.N. 008 488 
097. 

"League member" means a Life member or a Service member of the League, and is a 
member of the Sub-Branch. 

"members" shall mean all persons admitted pursuant to these Rules to any of the following 
classes of membership: 

Service members 
Life members 
Associate members 
Affiliate/s 
Honorary members 
Social members [if permitted pursuant to Rule 9.4(a)] 

"National Constitution" means the National Rules and Bylaws of the League. 

"National Rules" means the National Constitution of the League. 

"Patriotic Funds" means those Funds described in Part 4 of the Veterans Act (Vic). 

"State Branch Tribunal" means the Tribunal established by the Branch Rules under Rule 
4.18 and National Bylaw 8. 

"State Executive" means the Body constituted under Rule 7.3 (a) of the Branch Rules. 

"Sub-Branch" shall mean the ***** Sub-Branch. 

"Sub-Branch Secretary" or "Secretary of the Sub-Branch" means the Secretary of the 
Sub-Branch. 

"Veterans Act" means the Veterans Act 2005 (Vic) or any amendment or re-enactment 
thereof. 

"Victorian Veterans Council" means the Council established by section 4 of the Veterans 
Act. 

"Victorian Veterans Fund" means the Fund established by section 20 of the Veterans 
Act. 

 
5.2 INTERPRETATION 

In these Rules, unless the context otherwise requires: 
(a) headings, underlining and the table of contents are for convenience only and do not affect 

the interpretation of these Rules; 

(b) words importing the singular include the plural and vice versa; 

(c) words importing a gender include any gender; 
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(d) other parts of speech and grammatical forms of a word or phrase defined in these Rules 

have corresponding meanings; 

(e) a reference to any thing includes a part of that thing; 

(f) a reference to these Rules includes a reference to any appendix, annexure, exhibit or 

schedule to these Rules; 

(g) a reference to a statute, regulation, proclamation, ordinance or bylaw includes all 

statutes, regulations, proclamations, ordinances or bylaws amending, consolidating or 

replacing it, and a reference to a statute includes all regulations, proclamations, 

ordinances and bylaws issued under that statute; 

(h) a reference to a document includes all amendments or supplements to, or replacements 

of, that document; 

(i) a covenant or agreement on the part of two or more persons binds them jointly and 

severally; 

(j) an expression importing a natural person includes any company, partnership, 

association, corporation or other body corporate and any governmental agency; and 

(k) where the day on or by which any thing is to be done is not a Business Day, that thing 

must be done on or by the preceding Business Day. 

 
6 SUB-BRANCH STRUCTURE AND POWERS 

In addition to any new duties, functions, discretions and authorities conferred on the Sub- 
Branch under the National Constitution, the Branch Rules and these Rules, the Sub-Branch 
is to be vested with such duties, powers, functions, discretions and authorities as the State 
Executive may decide. 

 
7 MINIMUM MEMBERSHIP 

The minimum membership of the Sub-Branch is to be fifteen (15) Life, Service members 
and Affiliates, unless the State Executive approves otherwise. 

 
8 AGE REQUIREMENT 

No person under the age of eighteen (18) years shall be admitted to membership of the 
Sub- Branch. 

 
9 MEMBERSHIP 

The Sub-Branch shall comprise the following categories of membership: 
Service members 
Life members Associate members Affiliates 
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Honorary members 
Social members [if permitted pursuant to Rule 9.4(a)] 

9.1 Service members 
A person who is a Service member of the League or who has applied to be a Service 
member of the League may apply to be a Service member of the Sub-Branch. 

(a) It shall be a prerequisite to Service membership of the Sub-Branch that the applicant 

declares: 

- I hereby agree if elected a member to be bound by and comply with the Rules 

and Bylaws of the Sub-Branch; and 

- I hereby declare that I am not a member of any other organisation whose 
objectives are incompatible with the objects of the League; and 

- I hereby further declare that I am prepared to swear/affirm loyalty to the 
Commonwealth of Australia and its Head of State and to uphold the 
Constitution of the Commonwealth. 

(b) Lodgement of application to be admitted as a Service member of the League and Service 

member of the Sub-Branch. 

(1) An application to be admitted as a Service member of the League and as a Service 

member of the Sub-Branch must comply with the National Constitution and the 

Branch Constitution and these Rules. An Applicant for Service membership of the 

League and Service membership of the Sub- Branch must be nominated by a 

person who is a Service or Life member of the Sub-Branch and seconded by a 

member who is also a Service or Life member of the Sub-Branch. 

(2) A person who applies to be a Service member of the League and a Service 

member of the Sub-Branch must lodge the application with the Secretary of the 

Sub-Branch in writing in the form from time to time approved. Not less than two (2) 

weeks shall elapse between the date of nomination and the date of election of a 

Service member of the League and a Service member of the Sub-Branch. 

(3) Application for membership of the League and membership of the Sub- Branch 

shall be accompanied by the payment of the Annual Subscription determined by the 

Annual Conference of the Branch and any further subscription as set by the Sub- 

Branch at a General Meeting and hereafter referred to in these Rules. No applicant 

who is admitted to membership shall be entitled to a refund of such amount, but 

where an applicant is not eligible under the National Constitution to be admitted, 

the Sub-Branch must return the Annual Subscription. 
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(4) The Committee may require an applicant for membership to produce such 

evidence, as it thinks fit as to their qualification for membership. 

(5) If the Sub-Branch Committee resolves that an Applicant is eligible under the 

National Constitution to be admitted as a Service member of the League and is a fit 

and proper person to be admitted as a Service member of the League 

(6) then the Applicant must be admitted as a Service member of the League and as a 

Service member of the Sub-Branch within sixty (60) days of the date the application 

was lodged. 

(7) If the Sub-Branch Committee resolves that an Applicant applying to be admitted 

as a Service member of the League and a Service member of the Sub-Branch is 

not eligible under the National Constitution to be admitted as a Service member of 

the League the Committee of the Sub-Branch must within fourteen (14) days from 

the resolution forward the application, supporting documentation, the annual 

subscription and the reasons for the resolution to the Branch and the application 

shall then be dealt with by the Branch under the Branch Constitution. 

(8) If the Branch resolves that the Applicant is eligible under the National Constitution to 

be admitted as a Service member of the League the Branch must direct the Sub- 

Branch to admit the applicant as a Service member of the League and thereupon 

the Sub-Branch must admit the Applicant as a Service member of the League and 

as a Service member of the Sub-Branch. 

(9) If the Branch resolves that the person applying to be admitted as a Service member 

of the League is not eligible under the National Constitution to be admitted the 

Branch must: 

(i) Reject the application; and 

(ii) Within fourteen (14) days of the date of rejection advise the Applicant of 

the decision, the reasons for the decision and their right of appeal to the 

State Branch Tribunal 

(10) A Service or Life member of the Sub-Branch shall be entitled to one vote at the 

election of members of the committee of the Sub-Branch and at any meeting of the 

Sub-Branch in respect of any matter. 
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9.2 Life members 

(a) A Service member of the Sub-Branch who is elected as a Life member of the League in 

accordance with the National Constitution and the Branch Constitution shall 

automatically become a Life member of the Sub-Branch. 

(b) The rights, privileges and obligations of a Service member of the Sub-Branch who 

becomes a Life member of the Sub-Branch under Rule 9.2(a) shall not be disturbed by 

their becoming a Life member of the Sub-Branch save and except that they shall not be 

liable to pay an Annual Subscription either to the League, the Branch or the Sub-Branch 

as the case may be. 

9.3 Honorary members of a Sub-Branch 

(a) A person is entitled to be elected as an Honorary member of the Sub-Branch (for such 

time as the Committee of the Sub-Branch shall determine) if they are eighteen (18) years 

of age or older and are: 

(1) a Service, Life or Honorary member of the League; 

(2) a member of an association or organisation which is a member of the British 

Commonwealth Ex-Services League during their presence in Victoria, but not 

exceeding a period of three months; 

(3) a member of a State parliament, the parliament of the Commonwealth of Australia 

or a Councillor of the municipality in which the Sub-Branch is situated; A current 

serving member of the ADF, upon presentation of a Service Identification Card, 

such honorary membership shall operate whilst the serving member is present on 

the Sub-Branch premises. 

(4) a member of a sporting, social or cultural body visiting the Sub-Branch for the day, 

but subject to the approval of the committee of the Sub-Branch; or 

(5) a person who has applied in writing to become a member of the Sub-Branch shall 

be a temporary Honorary member of the Sub-Branch until the application to 

become a member has been dealt with by the Committee. Such membership 

applications must be dealt with by the Committee in an expeditious manner. 

(b) An honorary member of the Sub-Branch is not entitled to vote: 

(1) at the election of the members of the Committee of the Sub-Branch; or 

(2) on any other matter. 
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(c) An Honorary member shall not be required to pay an annual subscription. 

(d) A person shall not be admitted as an Honorary or Temporary member of the Sub- Branch 

unless the person is of a class specified in the Rules and the admission is in accordance 

with the Rules. 

9.3 A  Temporary Honorary Membership for Visiting League Members 

(a) The Sub-Branch shall grant reciprocal rights to use Sub-Branch facilities as a temporary 

honorary member to any person who is a Service or Life member or Affiliate of the 

Returned & Services League of Australia. The Sub-Branch shall grant to such temporary 

honorary member under this rule the same price discounts as that are given at that time 

to similar classes of members of the Sub-Branch in relation to food, beverage, and 

entertainment. Such person shall be required to establish their entitlement to the right 

by producing a current ‘RSL Card’. 

(b) This right may not be granted to a person who is at the time of the visit suspended 

under the Rules of the Sub-Branch from the Sub-Branch of which they are a member. 

(c) This right may not be granted to a person where the Committee of the Sub- Branch has 

resolved not to grant the right to that person because of the prior conduct of that person. 

9.4 Social members 

(a) The Sub-Branch may, by resolution of the Committee, agree to allow Social members as 

a class of member. 

(b) Subject to Rule 9.4(a), a person is eligible to be a Social member of the Sub-Branch if 

they: 

(1) are not eligible to be a Service member of the League; and 

(2) are over the age of eighteen (18) years; and 

(3) are proposed by the President of the Sub-Branch at the request of at least two (2) 

Service members of the Sub-Branch and is approved at a meeting of the 

Committee of the Sub-Branch; and 

(4) have signed a Social member Application Form, prescribed by the State Branch, 

and has lodged it with the Sub-Branch Secretary; and 

(5) have paid the annual membership subscription, as is determined, including an 

amount equal to the applicable Minimum Subscription Fee as is determined from 

time to time by the State Executive pursuant to Branch Rule 5.19(a) 
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(c) A social member of the Sub-Branch may be a member of the Committee of the Sub- 

Branch provided however: 

(1) A social member of the Sub-Branch may not be elected to any Executive position 

(that is, President, Vice President/s, Secretary and/or Treasurer) on a Sub-Branch 

Committee [subject to the provisions of Rule 18(f)]. Social members may not hold 

more than one position on the Committee of a Sub- Branch. A social member on 

the Committee of a Sub-Branch may only vote on matters relating to the operation 

of Sub-Branch facilities available to Social members of the Sub-Branch. 

(d) Subject to the provisions of these Rules a Service member or Life member or Affiliate or 

social member of the Sub-Branch may nominate a social member for election to the 

Committee of the Sub-Branch (other than an Executive position). A social member is not 

entitled to vote on any matter other than in respect of the election of a social member to 

the Committee of the Sub-Branch. 

(e) A person is eligible to be a student social member if they are aged 18 to 26 years and 

attended a recognized tertiary educational institution. Student social members have the 

same rights and obligations as social members of the Sub-Branch as provided for in this 

rule. The fee for a student social member shall be $11.00,including GST, unless 

otherwise decided by a General Meeting of the Sub-Branch. On attaining the age of 27 

years, a student social member shall become a social member of the Sub-Branch and 

shall subscribe by way of membership fee the amount fixed as a social member’s fee 

by the Sub-Branch. 

9.5 Associate members 

(a) A Service member, Life member or Affiliate, who is also a member of a Sub-Branch, 

shall not be eligible to be a member of another Sub-Branch but may apply to be admitted 

as an Associate thereof. Such an application shall be lodged with the Secretary of that 

other Sub-Branch and if the Committee accepts their application, and they are admitted, 

they shall be known as an Associate of that other Sub- Branch. 

(b) An Associate member of a Sub-Branch may only remain an Associate member of the 

Sub-Branch if they continue to be a Service member, Life member or Affiliate. 

(c)  

(1) A Service member, Life member or Affiliate who is also an Associate member of a 

Sub-Branch, shall only be entitled to hold office, vote and speak on any matter at a 

meeting of not more than one Sub-Branch and at the same time of application to 
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become an Associate member must declare which Sub-Branch they wish to hold 

office, vote and speak at. 

(2) The annual subscription payable by an associate of that other Sub-Branch shall be 

the annual subscription payable by a Service member or Affiliate, of that Sub- 

Branch, less capitation. 

(3) A Service member, Life member or Affiliate, to whom Rule 9.5(c)(1) applies, shall: 

(i) elect in writing the Sub-Branch in which they wish to be eligible to hold 

office, vote and speak; 

(ii) deliver such election to all the Sub-Branches of which they are a member 

and associate with a copy to be lodged with the Company Secretary of the 

Branch. 

(4) Until they have complied with Rule 9.5(c)(3) they shall only be entitled to hold office, 

vote and speak at the Sub-Branch of which they are a Service member, Life 

member or Affiliate, and such election shall not be able to be revoked during the 

membership year in which it is made. 

(d) The Committee of the Sub-Branch may at any time revoke the Associate membership of 

a person and upon such revocation being made such person shall cease to be an 

Associate member of the Sub-Branch. 

9.6 Affiliate of the Branch 

(a) No person who is eligible for Service membership of the League shall be admitted as an 

Affiliate. 

(b) The eligible persons who may be elected as Affiliates are those who do not qualify for 

Service membership and comply with the following: 

(1) a person who is not eligible to be a Service member; 

(2) is eighteen years of age or older; 

(3) a person who is any relative of a person (living or deceased) who is or was eligible 

to be a League member; 

(4) for the purposes of this rule, a relative of a League member shall be any spouse, 

blood relative, step relative or in-law of the person who is or was eligible to be a 

League member (as the case may be); 
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(5) or a person who has been awarded the Certificate of Merit or a National or State 

Certificate of Appreciation for giving valuable service to the League; 

(6) or a person who is, or has been, a member, for at least six months, of one of the 

following: 

A State or Federal Police Force; 
An Ambulance Service or Brigade; 
A Fire Brigade or Fire Authority; 
A State Emergency Service; 
A Bronze Medallion member of a Surf Life Saving Club; 
A Corrections/Prisons Officer; or 
A member of the Commonwealth or allied Merchant Navy; 

(7) and has signed an Affiliate application form, as prescribed by the State Branch and 

has lodged it with the Sub-Branch Secretary. 

(c) The Affiliate application form shall be considered at a meeting of the Committee of the 

Sub-Branch. 

(d) An Affiliate may be a member of the Committee of the Sub-Branch, subject to the 

following: 

(1) a. An Affiliate, may not be elected to the positions of President or Vice 

President (League member), [but may be elected to the position of Vice 

President - Affiliate, (if such a position has been made available 

pursuant to Rule 18), or Secretary or Treasurer]. 

b. That an Affiliate Vice President shall have no right to succeed the President 
of the Sub-Branch in the event that Office becoming vacant. 

(2) An Affiliate on the Committee of a Sub-Branch may speak and vote on all 
matters, save and except the matters referred to in sub-rule (e). 

(e) An Affiliate may speak and vote at a meeting of the Sub-Branch on any Sub-Branch 

matter, including voting for all Sub-Branch Committee positions, save and except that an 

Affiliate may not speak or vote on any matter relating to the alteration or amendment to 

the National Constitution, the Branch Constitution or vote for the elections of Branch 

positions. 

(f) The Annual Subscription Fee payable by an Affiliate is shown in Rule 10. The effect of 

not paying the Annual Subscription is shown in Rule 10A. 

9.7 Reciprocal Rights 

(a) The Sub-Branch shall grant reciprocal rights to use Sub-Branch facilities as a temporary 

honorary member to any person who is a Service member, Life member, Affiliate of any 
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other RSL Sub-Branch, or the HQ Unattached List, under the jurisdiction of the Victorian 

State Branch. The Sub-Branch shall grant to such temporary honorary member under 

this rule the same price discounts as that are given at that time to similar classes of 

members of the Sub-Branch in relation to food, beverage and entertainment. Such 

person shall be required to establish their entitlement to the reciprocal rights by 

producing a current ‘RSL Card’ as issued by the State Branch. 

(b) Reciprocal rights shall not be granted to a person who is at the time of the visit 

suspended under the provisions of Rule 14 or Rule 14B of the Rules of the Sub- Branch of 

which they are a member. 

(c) Reciprocal rights may not be granted to a person where the Committee of the Sub- 

Branch has resolved not to grant reciprocal rights to that person because of the prior 

conduct of that person. 

9.8 Provision of RSL Member Card 
The Sub-Branch shall request the Branch to issue Service members, Life members, 
Affiliates and Social members of the Sub-Branch a “RSL Card” in the format then used by 
the Branch. The Sub-Branch shall make such request to the Branch in relation to Service 
members, Affiliates and Social members as soon as practicable after the said members 
have become financial members of the Sub-Branch. The issued Card remains valid while 
the member remains financial and the Branch will, from time to time, re-issue the Card at 
their discretion. In relation to Life members the Sub-Branch shall make the request to the 
Branch as soon as practicable after this rule comes into effect. 

 
10 SUBSCRIPTIONS AND ENTRANCE FEES 

(a) That the minimum annual subscription payable by: 

(1) Service members and Affiliates shall be such amount as is determined, from time to 

time, by the Annual State Conference of the Branch and shall be not less than the 

Minimum Subscription Fee referred to in Branch Rule 5.19 (a) (1), and 

(2) Social members shall be such amounts as is determined for each class of member, 

from time to time, by the State Executive, pursuant to Branch Rule 5.19(a)(2). 

But the Sub-Branch may impose upon the members such additional amounts by 

way of annual subscription as is determined, from time to time, by a general 

meeting of the Sub-Branch. 

(3) A Service member who is still serving, whether in the regular or reserve Royal 

Australian Navy, Australian Army or Royal Australian Air Force, is not liable to 

annual subscription payments and their membership fee is waived. 
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(b) The Sub-Branch must forward to its member an account for renewal of the Annual 

Subscription at least one month before the end of the Financial Year and the member 

must pay the account by the 31 January of each year. 

(c) The Sub-Branch must forward to its associate member an account for renewal of the 

Annual Subscription less the Minimum Subscription Fee at least one month before the 

end of the Financial Year and the associate member must pay the account by the 31 

January. 

(d) An account forwarded under these Rules must clearly show the Annual Subscription and 

the Minimum Subscription Fee (if any) and may include other fees provided they are 

clearly marked, e.g. Administration Fee/Sporting section (or such like) Fee. 

(e) A receipt must be issued to a member of the Sub-Branch by the Sub-Branch as 

evidence of payment of the Annual Subscription. 

(f) A receipt must be issued to an associate member of the Sub-Branch by the Sub- Branch 

as evidence of payment of the Annual Subscription less the Minimum Subscription Fee. 

(g) Annual subscriptions are due and payable in advance on January 1st in each calendar 

year. 

(h) A member (who is not a Life member or who has paid the life subscription) shall not be 

exempted from the obligation to pay the annual subscription, unless the member is of a 

class specified in the Rules and an exemption is in accordance with the Rules. 

 
10A UNPAID ANNUAL SUBSCRIPTIONS 

(a) A Member of the Sub-Branch (who is not a Life member or a life subscriber) who has 

not paid the annual subscription prescribed in these rules by 31 January in the year they 

fall due shall be refused entry to Licensed Sub-Branch premises and/or facilities, 

including sporting activities, and may be required to sign in as a visitor until such time as 

the said subscriptions are paid in full and details on the members RSL Card have been 

upgraded. 

(b) A member of the Sub-Branch who is not a Life member or a life subscriber who has not 

paid the annual subscription is not eligible to speak or vote at a meeting including 

elections and Committee or nominate for or hold any office in the Sub-Branch. 

(c) A member of the Sub-Branch who is not a Life member or a life subscriber or an 

Honorary member who has not paid the annual subscription shall on 1 May cease to be a 

member and the members name shall be removed from the Register of members. If the 
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member wishes to rejoin the Sub-Branch they are required to make a new application for 

membership. 

 
11 NOTICE OF MEETINGS 

(a) The Secretary shall at least 14 days before any Annual or Ordinary general meeting (or 

as otherwise decided annually by the Committee) and at least 7 days before any Extra- 

ordinary general meeting, save and except a meeting of the nature dealt with in sub- 

clause (c) of this Rule, send in accordance with Rule 12 to each Member [excluding 

honorary members] at their postal, facsimile or electronic transmission address in the 

Sub-Branch register a notice of such meeting stating the time and the place where it will 

be held and the nature of the business that will be brought forward at such meeting. In 

lieu of written notice to each member, that a Sub-Branch may advertise the notice of 

meeting not less than 3 times in the 21 day period prior to the meeting, in the "Public 

Notice" section of the most widely distributed newspaper in the local municipality. Except 

that members who have lodged valid e-mail addresses must also be e-mailed a notice in 

the first week of that period. 

The accidental omission to give any notice as aforesaid to any member shall not invalidate 
any resolutions carried at an Annual, Ordinary or Extraordinary general meeting. 

(b) The nature of the business to be dealt with at such meetings and the manner in which 

they are to be conducted shall be in accordance with these Rules as to the conduct of 

particular classes of meetings. 

(c) In the case of a meeting at which a special resolution is proposed then the Secretary 

shall in relation to such meeting give 21 days notice. 

 
12 NOTICES - MEMBERS 

(a) Every member shall communicate in writing to the Secretary regarding change of 

address. A notice, written request or any other communication under these Rules may be 

served on a person either personally or by sending it by post to their last known address 

or via email to their last known email address provided. 

(b) If a notice or communication is properly addressed, prepaid and posted, it is deemed to 

have been given to the addressee at the time of posting. 

(c) A notice may be served by sending to the member a copy of any magazine/newsletter 

published by the Sub-Branch, which contains a full copy of the relevant notice. 
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13 REGISTER OF MEMBERS 

(a) The Secretary of the Sub-Branch shall keep and maintain on the Sub-Branch premises a 

Register of all persons who are members of the Sub-Branch, which clearly indicates the 

category of membership to which the member has been admitted. The Register of 

members of a Sub-Branch must include the full name, address, qualifying service 

particulars (if applicable), date of entry and date of departure or death (if applicable) of 

each member of the Sub-Branch and the date of the latest subscription payment by each 

Member (if applicable). 

 
14 SUB-BRANCH DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE — SERVICE AND LIFE 

MEMBERS AND AFFILIATES 

(a) If a Sub-Branch Committee has reason to believe that a Service member, Life member 

or Affiliate of the Sub-Branch may be guilty of conduct unbecoming a member, the Sub- 

Branch Committee may resolve to impose a penalty upon them. Any Sub-Branch 

Committee member who has a material personal interest or any relationship which may 

lead to bias in considering whether the Sub-Branch member may be guilty of conduct 

unbecoming a member, must not be present while such resolution is being considered 

and must not have any input in the decision. 

(b) If the Committee of a Sub-Branch have reason to believe that a member may be guilty 

of conduct unbecoming a member it shall give not less than fourteen days notice in 

writing to that member of the date, time and place of its meeting at which it will consider 

whether or not they have been guilty of such conduct. Such notice shall be accompanied 

by a statement in which there shall be set out full and precise particulars of the conduct 

of the member which will be considered by the Committee. 

(c) Either prior to or at the meeting of the Committee the member concerned may request it 

to elaborate upon any of the particulars set forth in the said statement. Such a request 

shall be complied with by the Committee. The said member may put to the Committee 

at the meeting such facts as they may consider relevant and shall be given every 

opportunity to address it. 

(d) The Committee shall decide at the meeting whether the member has been guilty of 

conduct unbecoming a member. If it is satisfied they have been guilty of such conduct, it 

may resolve that they be placed on a warning to improve their conduct, or be 

reprimanded or suspended from membership of the Sub-Branch for a period not 

exceeding 3 months for a Service or Life member and twelve months for an Affiliate, or 
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expulsion from the Sub-Branch for an Affiliate and a recommendation for the withdrawal 

of awards, save for accessing welfare or pension assistance, or it may resolve that the 

matter should be referred to the State Branch for its consideration. If the Committee 

believes that the discipline it can impose is not sufficient the Committee may refer the 

matter to the State Branch Tribunal. 

(e) The substance and decision of the meeting shall be recorded in the minutes of the 

meeting. Written notices, submissions and other correspondence relevant to the meeting 

shall be certified within seven days after the meeting, by its chairman, after conferring 

with the other members of the Committee. 

(f) The Secretary of the Sub-Branch shall notify the member in writing of the Committee's 

decision and their right of appeal within fourteen days after the certification. 

(g) A member aggrieved by resolution of the Committee by which they were reprimanded or 

suspended from membership of the Sub-Branch for a period not exceeding 3 months for 

a Service or Life member and twelve months for an Affiliate or expelled from the Sub- 

Branch for an Affiliate, may appeal to the State Branch Tribunal by notice in writing 

addressed to the Chief Executive Office of the Branch and lodged with the State Branch 

Tribunal. 

(h) An appeal shall be lodged together with the sum of $400 within fourteen days after the 

date of notification in writing and thereupon the decision of the Committee shall be 

stayed, (unless otherwise ordered by the State Branch Tribunal) until the appeal is 

concluded, abandoned or discontinued. Upon application by the member, the State 

Branch Tribunal may waive lodgement of whole or part of the sum of $400 if it considers it 

just to do so. 

(i) An appeal lodged pursuant to this Rule shall be accompanied by a statement in writing 

in which the member shall set out the aspect or aspects of the decision which gave rise 

to the appeal, the grounds of their appeal and the facts upon which they rely. An appeal 

should not be treated as valid unless it complies with this Rule. 

(j) Upon receipt of an appeal the Sub-Branch shall forthwith forward it to its State Branch: 

(1) the appeal and accompanying statement; 

(2) the sum of $400; 

(3) all its papers and documents concerning the member, particularly the notice and 

statement; 
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(4) a copy of its minutes relating to the matter giving rise to the appeal. 

(k) A State Branch Tribunal shall hear and determine an appeal pursuant to this Rule as soon 

as possible after receipt by the Chief Executive Officer of the Branch of the documents. 

(l) The Sub-Branch and the member concerned shall have a right of personally attending 

upon hearing of the appeal or any application to lift the stay by the State Branch Tribunal 

having given proper notice that they wish to do so. The State Branch Tribunal may 

dismiss the appeal, allow the appeal or substitute its own findings and shall make its 

decision based on the information presented at the hearing. The decision is final. 

(m) A resolution passed pursuant to this Rule whereby a member of a Sub-Branch is 

suspended or expelled from membership of that Sub-Branch shall not operate to 

otherwise affect the membership of that member save as otherwise provided in the 

National Bylaws. 

 
14A DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE – SOCIAL MEMBERS 

(a) A Social member of a Sub-Branch may be suspended or expelled from membership of 

the Sub-Branch by the Sub-Branch Committee under the following circumstances: 

(b) A member, who is drunk, violent or quarrelsome, must not refuse or fail to leave the 

premises if requested so to do by the Sub-Branch President or the senior member of the 

Committee present or the senior employee present. 

(c) A Social member of the Sub-Branch who is requested to leave the Sub-Branch under 

Rule 14A(b) may, where suspension is necessary to maintain the proper conduct of the 

Sub-Branch and/or its facilities, be suspended as a result of a joint decision by the Sub- 

Branch President and at least one other member of the Sub-Branch Executive from all 

Sub-Branch facilities. 

(d) A suspension under the provisions of Rule 14A(c) shall not exceed 30 days. 

(e) If the Committee of the Sub-Branch (the “Committee”) has reason to believe that a Social 

member of the Sub-Branch, may be guilty of conduct unbecoming a member, it shall 

give not less than 14 days notice in writing to that member of the date, time and place of 

its meeting at which it will consider whether or not they have been guilty of such conduct. 

(f) The notice referred to in Rule 14A(e) shall be accompanied by a statement in which there 

shall be set out full and precise particulars of the conduct of the member, which will be 

considered by the Committee. 
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(g) Either prior to or at the meeting of the Committee the member concerned may request it 

to elaborate upon any of the particulars set forth in the said statement. Such a request 

shall be complied with by the Committee. The said member may put to the Committee at 

the meeting such facts as they may consider relevant and shall be given every opportunity 

to address it. 

(h) The Committee shall decide at the meeting whether the Social member has been guilty of 

conduct unbecoming a member. If it is satisfied they have been guilty of such conduct, it 

may resolve that they be placed on a warning to improve their conduct or be 

reprimanded or be suspended from membership of the Sub-Branch not to exceed a 

period of twelve (12) months or expulsion from the Sub-Branch. Any Sub-Branch 

Committee member who has a material personal interest or any relationship which may 

lead to bias in considering whether the Sub-Branch member may be guilty of conduct 

unbecoming a member, must not be present while such resolution is being considered 

and must not have any input in the decision. 

(i) The substance and decision of the meeting referred in Rule 14A(h) shall be recorded in 

the minutes of the meeting. Written notices, submissions and other correspondence 

relevant to the matter shall be retained in a collected form for a period of at least twelve 

months. The minutes shall certified within seven days after the meeting by its 

Chairman, after conferring with the other members of the Committee. 

(j) The Secretary of the Sub-Branch shall notify the member in writing of the Committee’s 

decision after the certification period referred to in Rule 14A(i). 

(k) The decision of the Committee shall be final. 

 
14B DISPUTES AND MEDIATION 

(a) That in the event of a dispute, not being a disciplinary matter, between: 

- A Member and their Sub-Branch or the State Branch; 

- Sub-Branches; and 

- A Sub-Branch and the State Branch; 
The following procedures to attempt to resolve the dispute shall apply. 

(1) That all parties to the dispute shall within 14 days after the arising of the dispute 

meet together and attempt to resolve the dispute. 

(2) If the parties fail to meet, or to resolve the dispute, a meeting shall take place in the 

presence of a mediator. 
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(3) In the event of a dispute between a Member and their Sub-Branch or the State 

Branch the mediator shall be the relevant State Executive Liaison member 

appointed by the Region in which the dispute has arisen, as such other person as 

the State President may decide. For disputes between Sub- Branches and a Sub- 

Branch and the State Branch the mediator shall be a Branch Officer appointed by 

the State President. 

(4) The mediator shall conduct the mediation and conciliation so as to give the parties 

a proper opportunity to be heard and to produce written submissions if they desire 

and to ensure that natural justice is accorded to the parties. The mediator shall not 

decide the dispute. 

(5) That the parties to the dispute must in good faith attempt to resolve the dispute by 

mediation and conciliation. 

(6) If the mediation process is unsuccessful the State Branch Tribunal shall hear and 

determine the dispute. 

(7) There is a right of appeal from the determination of the State Branch Tribunal to 

the National Tribunal (Service member and Life member only). 

 
15 CESSATION OF MEMBERSHIP 

(a) A member of the Sub-Branch ceases being a member of the Sub-Branch in the following 

circumstances: 

(1) by giving notice in writing to the Secretary of the member's resignation; or 

(2) if the person is suspended, for the term of the suspension; or 

(3) if the person is expelled from the Sub-Branch or the Branch. 

(b) Should a person cease to be a member in accordance with sub-rule (a): 

(1) if the person is also a Service or Life member ceases to be a member of the 

League or if an Affiliate, ceases to be an Affiliate of the Branch; and 

(2) the Secretary must record in the register of members the date on which the 

member ceased to be a member. 

(c) A member (who is not a Life member or who has paid any life subscription), who does 

not pay their Annual Subscription by 30 April, ceases to be a member of the Sub-Branch 

and, if the person is also a Service member ceases to be a member of the League or if 

an Affiliate, ceases to be an Affiliate of the Branch. 
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(d) A person who ceases to be a member: 

(1) is not entitled to a refund of the annual subscription or the life subscription; 

(2) is liable for all amounts owing by them to the Sub-Branch or the Branch; and 

(3) is to return the League badge to the Secretary of the Sub-Branch. 

(e) Subject to Rule 15(f), a right, privilege, or obligation of a member: 

(1) is not capable of being transferred or transmitted to another person; and 

(2) terminates upon the person ceasing to be a member, whether by death, resignation 

or otherwise. 

(f) The obligations created by Rules 15(d)(3), 17(c), 17(d) and 17(f) do not cease if the 

person resigns or is removed as a member. 

 
16 TRANSFER OF MEMBERSHIP 

(a) A Service or a Life member or an Affiliate, who desires to transfer their membership to 

another Sub-Branch, may do so provided the provisions relating to transfer of a member 

in the Branch Rules are complied with. 

(b) A Service or a Life member or an Affiliate, who wishes to apply for a transfer to another 

Sub-Branch, must inform the Sub-Branch Secretary of their intention to transfer their 

membership to another Sub-Branch. 

(c) The committee of the gaining Sub-Branch or the State Branch may accept or reject the 

transfer of a member to their Sub-Branch. 

(d) A member may not transfer between Sub-Branches more than once in a twelve month 

period without the written approval of the Chief Executive Officer of the Branch. 

 
17 RULES CONSTITUTE TERMS OF A CONTRACT 

(a) These Rules constitute terms of a contract between the Sub-Branch and a member. A 

member agrees that by virtue of their membership of the Sub-Branch to be bound by 

these Rules, the National Constitution and the Branch Constitution. 

(b) A member must not: 

(1) aid, abet, procure or induce a person to breach these Rules or the National 

Constitution or the Branch Constitution; 
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(2) in any way, directly or indirectly, be knowingly concerned in or a party to a breach 

of these Rules or the National Constitution or the Branch Constitution; or 

(3) attempt to breach these Rules or the National Constitution or the Branch 

Constitution. 

(c) A past member must not: 

(1) aid, abet, procure or induce a person to breach these Rules or the National 

Constitution or the Branch Constitution; 

(2) in any way, directly or indirectly, be knowingly concerned in or a party to a breach of 

these Rules or the National Constitution or the Branch Constitution; or 

(3) attempt to breach these Rules or the National Constitution or the Branch 

Constitution. 

(d) A member must do everything in their control to ensure that these Rules and the National 

Constitution and the Branch Constitution are not breached by a person. 

(e) A Branch Bylaw is binding on the Sub-Branch or a member to the same effect as these 

Rules. 

(f) A member or a past member must not use the League name or the League badge 

without the prior written approval of the Branch. 

 
18 SUB-BRANCH COMMITTEE 

(a) The Sub-Branch Committee: 

(1) is to control and manage the business and affairs of the Sub-Branch; 

(2) may exercise all such powers and functions as may be exercised by the Sub- 

Branch other than those powers and functions exercised by the Sub-Branch in 

general meeting; and 

(3) may perform all acts and things that appear to the Sub-Branch Committee to be 

essential for the proper management of the business and affairs of the Sub-Branch. 

(b) The members of the Sub-Branch Committee are: 

(1) the Sub-Branch Officers elected under Rule 19; 

(2) three or more members of the Sub-Branch elected under Rule 19; 

(3) the persons co-opted by the Sub-Branch Committee under Rule 18(d); 
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(4) a member of the Sub-Branch appointed under Rule 18(l); and 

(5) a person appointed under Rule 18(f). 

(c) A Sub-Branch Officer is a member of the Sub-Branch elected or appointed to one or 

more of the following positions: 

(1) the president; 

(2) an immediate past president (if applicable); 

(3) senior vice president— League member (if more than one vice president); 

(4) vice president — Affiliate (if resolved by the Committee to have such a position); 

(5) a secretary; and 

(6) a treasurer. 

The above Sub-Branch Officers are the Executive of the Sub-Branch. 
(d) The Sub-Branch Committee may co-opt up to three persons but a co-opted person is not 

entitled to a vote on the Sub-Branch Committee. 

(e) A member of the Sub-Branch Committee must not be: 

(1) a member of the Committee of another Sub-Branch [except if appointed under Rule 

18(d)]; or 

(2) a member of the Sub-Branch Committee may occupy only one Committee position 

at the one time. 

(f) Subject to the prior approval of the Service and Life members of the Sub-Branch, the 

Sub-Branch Committee may appoint a secretary, treasurer/secretary or treasurer who 

need not be a member or an Affiliate, on such terms and conditions as the Sub- Branch 

Committee from time to time determines: 

(1) Such appointments may only be made providing a Service, Life member or Affiliate, 

is not available to fill the vacancy and the Sub-Branch is to provide a certificate to 

that effect to the Chief Executive Officer. Further, such appointment is only to be for 

the period to the next Annual General Meeting of the Sub-Branch. 

(2) A person so appointed must agree to be bound by these Rules, the Branch 

Constitution and the National Constitution before such appointment is confirmed. 

(g) A person appointed as the secretary, treasurer/secretary or treasurer under Rule 18(f), is 

not entitled to vote at a Sub-Branch Committee meeting. 
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(h) The Sub-Branch shall audit (if required) the financial affairs of the Sub-Branch annually in 

the manner required from time to time by the Chief Financial Officer of the Branch. 

(i) A person ceases to be the immediate past president of the Sub-Branch after the annual 

general meeting of the Sub-Branch next following their retirement as the president, or 

upon the earlier retirement of their successor. 

(j) If the president of the Sub-Branch is absent or their office otherwise becomes vacant, the 

senior vice president (League member) assumes the office of the president. Save and 

except that prior to the senior vice president or the vice president or any other person (as 

the case may be) assuming the office of president they must provide to the Sub-Branch 

Secretary documentary proof of their service record and medal entitlement and until they 

have done so they cannot occupy the office of President. 

(k) If the Senior Vice President (League member) of the Sub-Branch, is absent or their office 

otherwise becomes vacant, the Vice President assumes the office of Senior Vice 

President (League). If a vice president (League member) of the Sub-Branch is absent or 

their office otherwise becomes vacant, the senior member (League) of the Sub-Branch 

Committee (by votes polled) assumes the office of a vice president. Save and except that 

prior to assuming the office of vice president they must provide to the Sub-Branch 

Secretary documentary proof of their service record and medal entitlement and until they 

have done so they cannot occupy the office of vice president. 

(l) If there is a vacancy other than the president or vice president (League member), the 

Sub-Branch Committee may appoint a member of the Sub-Branch to fill the vacancy. 

(m) The office of a member of the Sub-Branch Committee becomes vacant if they: 

(1) cease to be a member or Affiliate, of the Sub Branch; 

(2) become of unsound mind or a person who is, or whose estate is, liable to be dealt 

with under the law relating to mental health; 

(3) become a bankrupt or insolvent or makes an arrangement or composition with their 

creditors; 

(4) are convicted of a serious criminal offence and the Sub-Branch Committee does 

not within one month of that conviction resolve to confirm the appointment or 

election to the office of a member of the Sub-Branch Committee; 

(5) resign by notice in writing to the Sub-Branch Committee; 
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(6) are absent for three consecutive meetings of the Sub-Branch Committee unless the 

Sub-Branch Committee resolves otherwise; 

(7) move their principal place of residence outside Victoria, or if they are a member of 

a Sub-Branch which has members from both sides of the Victorian border, they 

move their principal place of residence outside Victoria and the bordering State; 

(8) is unable to be insured by the Sub-Branch with officers indemnity insurance for any 

reason; or 

(9) are suspended or expelled from membership. 

(n) The secretary of the Sub-Branch must notify the Company Secretary of a change in the 

members of the Sub-Branch Committee within fourteen days of a change. 

(o) At the first meeting of a newly constituted Sub-Branch Committee, the Sub-Branch 

Committee may appoint, from within the Sub-Branch Committee or from the members of 

the Sub-Branch a person to one or more of the following positions: 

(1) a memorial custodian for the care of any local public memorial; 

(2) a membership recruitment officer; 

(3) a welfare officer; and 

(4) an appeals officer. 

(p) The responsibilities and obligations of the President of the Sub-Branch shall include: 

(1) shall be a member, ex-officio, of all Sub-Committees appointed or elected; 

(2) when present shall preside at all General and Sub-Branch Committee meetings; 

(3) may call meetings of the various Sub-Committees as and when they consider the 

occasion requires; 

(4) the Sub-Branch President shall at the meetings of the Sub-Branch, or of a 

Committee or Sub-Committee of the Sub-Branch, possess a vote and where voting 

is equal upon a question shall be entitled, when in the Chair, to a further or casting 

vote; 

(5) ensure that the Sub-Branch discharges its responsibilities, in relation to the Objects 

of the League, particularly welfare, charitable and commemorative roles. 

(q) The duties of a treasurer of the Sub-Branch are, amongst other things to: 

(1) Supervise the receipt and expenditure of all monies; 
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(2) Examine regularly the bank or pass book, pay in slips, accounts, cash and other 

books of the Sub-Branch, and see that such documents, accounts, and books are 

properly kept, and that financial transactions of the Sub-Branch are conducted in a 

regular manner; 

(3) Prepare a report for the Sub-Branch Committee meeting in each month, showing 

the financial position of the Sub-Branch as disclosed by the documents, accounts, 

and books made available by the secretary; 

(4) Examine all accounts submitted for payment by the secretary, and certify to the 

correctness of the account for presentation to the committee where necessary; 

(5) Keep proper accounts by a method appropriate to the size of the Sub-Branch and 

to record all financial transactions; 

(6) In conjunction with the auditor (if applicable) decide upon the system to be adopted 

by the secretary in the keeping of all books relating to the financial transactions of 

the Sub-Branch; 

(7) Preside over any Finance Committee that may be appointed, and advise the Sub- 

Branch Committee upon its financial position and transactions; 

(8) Be a signatory to cheques, or electronic funds transfer documents, drawn upon the 

accounts of the Sub-Branch; 

(9) Cause to be prepared for audit (if required) and submit audited (if applicable) report 

and accounts to the annual general meeting of the Sub-Branch, an annual 

Statement of receipts and expenditure, together with a balance sheet showing the 

assets and liabilities of the Sub-Branch at the balance date; 

(10) Send audited (if required) financial Statements to the Branch by 30 April each 

year; 

(11) If applicable, attend upon the auditor when required and explain anything the auditor 

may require respecting the accounts; 

(12) Prepare a monthly list of disbursements, and obtain approval of the Sub- Branch 

Committee at meeting for payment, except in a matter of urgency or necessity, and 

then by consultation with the secretary or the president to pre- pay such account 

and then have such payment endorsed by the Sub-Branch Committee at its next 

meeting; 
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(13) receive all monies paid to or received by the Sub-Branch and issue receipts for 

those monies in the name of the Sub-Branch; 

(14) ensure that all monies received are paid into the account of the Sub-Branch within 

five working days after receipt; 

(15) make any payments authorized by the Committee or by General Meeting of the 

Sub-Branch from the Sub-Branch's funds; 

(16) ensure cheques are signed by at least two Committee members; 

(17) coordinate and prepare the financial statements of the Sub-Branch and have them 

certified by the Committee prior to the submission to the Annual General Meeting of 

the Sub-Branch; and 

(18) ensure that at least one other Committee member has access to the accounts and 

financial records of the Sub-Branch. 

(r) The duties of a secretary of the Sub-Branch are, amongst other things to: 

(1) attend all meetings of the Sub-Branch; 

(2) record or cause to be recorded accurate minutes of the proceedings of meetings; 

(3) when required, furnish the Sub-Branch, the Chief Executive Officer or their 

representative, with information from Sub-Branch records. 

(4) prepare and sign all notices and other documents required by the Rules of the 

Branch or by the Bylaws and directions of the Sub-Branch; 

(5) give up to the president or to the Sub-Branch Committee, or to any authorised 

committee, when requested so to do, all documents, monies, property belonging to 

the Sub-Branch, and upon the Sub-Branch becoming defunct, and upon request, 

give up to the Chief Executive Officer or their representative, to hold on behalf of 

veterans' interests in the district, all documents, monies, property in their 

possession belonging to the late Sub- Branch, and deliver such documents, 

monies and property to the president, the Sub-Branch Committee, or to the Chief 

Executive Officer within twenty- four hours of receiving a notice so to do; 

(6) prepare all returns and Statements required by the Branch, and forward same to 

the Company Secretary forthwith; 



Bylaw 10C - 28 

V1.4(SC 27/07/2024) 

 

 

(7) at the commencement of each Sub-Branch meeting draw the chairperson's 

attention to the presence of any person not entitled to be present, and advise them 

of the requirement of a quorum; 

(8) under the direction of the president or the Sub-Branch Committee, conduct all 

correspondence of the Sub-Branch; 

(9) perform such other duties as the Sub-Branch Committee may from time to time 

require; 

(10) be a signatory to cheques, or electronic funds transfer documents, drawn upon the 

accounts of the Sub-Branch; 

(11) keep custody of the common seal if applicable; 

(12) maintain the register of members; 

(13) keep custody of all books, documents and securities of the Sub-Branch securely; 

and 

(14) provide members with access to the register of members, the minutes of General 

Meetings and other books and documents. 

(s) A social member of the Sub-Branch may not be elected to any executive position (that is, 

president, vice president/s, secretary and/or treasurer) on the Sub-Branch Committee 

(subject to the provisions of Rule 18(f)). Social members may not hold more than one 

position on the Committee of the Sub-Branch. A social member on the Committee of a 

Sub-Branch may only vote on matters relating to the operation of 

Sub-Branch facilities available to members of the Sub-Branch 
(t)  

(1) A member of the Sub-Branch Committee who has a financial or material interest in 

a contract or arrangement made or proposed to be made with the Sub-Branch must 

disclose this interest at the first Committee meeting at which the contract or 

arrangement is first considered. 

(2) A member of the Sub-Branch Committee is not entitled to vote in respect of any 

contract or arrangement with the Sub-Branch in which the member has a financial 

or material interest and if the member does vote, the vote is not to be counted. 

(3) A member of a Sub-Branch or the State Branch must not, whilst holding any Office 

in a Sub-Branch or the State Branch, provide a service for a fee or reward or 

advantage to any member of a Sub-Branch or the State Branch, for which a facility 
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or service is provided for or available from a Sub-Branch or the State Branch for 

no fee. 

(u) The Sub-Branch Committee must meet at least four times in each year at the dates, 

times and places determined by the Sub-Branch Committee. The Committee must 

ensure that minutes are taken and kept of each Committee meeting. The minutes must 

record; 

(1) the name of the members in attendance at the meeting; 

(2) the business considered at the meeting; 

(3) any resolution on which a vote is taken and the result of that vote; 

(4) any material personal interest disclosed; and 

(5) an action item list or table. 

(v) A meeting of the Sub-Branch Committee must be held in camera unless the Committee 

resolves otherwise. 

(w) A vote of a member of the Committee is to be given personally. 

(x) 

(1) The Sub-Branch Committee shall have power to appoint from among the members 

such other Sub-Committees for such purposes it shall deem necessary and shall 

have full power to delegate thereto such power, as it deems appropriate. 

(2) All Sub-Committees shall report in writing upon their proceedings at the next 

meeting of the Sub-Branch Committee. All such Sub-Committees shall be 

subordinate to the Sub-Branch Committee, which may allot, vary or amend the 

duties of such Sub-Committees. Each Sub-Committee shall appoint a Convenor, 

who shall convene meetings as may be directed by the Sub- Branch Committee or 

the president of the Sub-Branch. Each Sub-Committee shall keep a minute book 

containing a true record of all proceedings. 

(y) The Sub-Branch Committee may act notwithstanding any vacancy on the Sub- Branch 

Committee. 

(z) 

(1) Any five members of the Sub-Branch Committee shall constitute a quorum for the 

transaction of the business of a meeting of the Sub-Branch Committee. 



Bylaw 10C - 30 

V1.4(SC 27/07/2024) 

 

 

(2) No business shall be transacted at a Sub-Branch Committee meeting unless a 

quorum is present and if within half an hour of the time appointed for a Sub- Branch 

Committee meeting a quorum is not present the Sub-Branch Committee meeting 

shall stand adjourned to the same place and at the same hour of the same day in 

the following week. 

(aa) The position held by members of the Sub-Branch Committee elected or appointed under 

Rule 18(b) are honorary positions, [except if appointed under Rule 18(f)]. 

(bb) The Sub-Branch Committee shall undertake such training, in relation to its 

responsibilities and duties, including Sub-Branch corporate governance, financial 

management matters, and as shall be directed by the State Executive from time to time. 

 
18A DUTIES OF THE SUB-BRANCH COMMITTEE 

(a) The members of the Sub-Branch Committee must not knowingly or recklessly make 

improper use of information acquired by virtue of holding that office: 

(1) to gain advantage for themselves or any other person; or 

(2) to cause detriment to the Sub-Branch. 

(b) The members of the Sub-Branch Committee must not knowingly or recklessly make 

improper use of that office: 

(1) to gain advantage for themselves or any other person; or 

(2) to cause detriment to the Sub-Branch. 

(c) The members of the Sub-Branch Committee must exercise their powers and discharge 

their duties with the degree of care and diligence that a reasonable person would if that 

person: 

(1) were an officeholder of the Sub-Branch in the circumstances applying at the time of 

the exercise of the power or the discharge of the duty; and 

(2) occupied the office held by, and had the same responsibilities within the Sub- 

Branch as, the officeholder. 

(d) The members of the Sub-Branch Committee must make any decision to take or not take 

action in respect of a matter relevant to the operations of the Sub-Branch: 

(1) in good faith for a proper purpose; and 

(2) without a material personal interest in the subject matter; and 
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(3) after informing themselves about the subject matter to the extent that it is believed 

appropriate; and 

(4) in the rational belief that the best interests of the Sub-Branch have been 

considered. 

(e) The members of the Sub-Branch Committee must exercise their powers and discharge 

their duties: 

(1) in good faith and in the best interest of the Sub-Branch; and 

(2) for a proper purpose. 

 
19 ELECTIONS OF THE SUB-BRANCH COMMITTEE (SEE BRANCH BYLAW 23 

FOR VOTING DETAIL) 

(a)  

(1) Positions on the Sub-Branch Committee become vacant at the Annual General 

Meeting of the Sub-Branch as provided for in Rule 19(a)(2). 

(2) That the members of the Sub-Branch Committee shall be elected for a term of two 

years for all Committee positions. 

a. Persons co-opted under Rule 18(d) shall be appointed for a term not 

exceeding the term of office for the Committee as provided for in Rule 

19(a)(2). 

b. If a casual vacancy occurs in any committee position the person 

appointed to fill that position shall hold that office for the term set down for 

the particular office or position. 

(3) The members of the Sub-Branch Committee shall be elected for a term as provided 

for in Rule 19(a)(2) by members of a class of membership that is entitled to vote at 

a general meeting. 

(b)  

(1) At least six (6) weeks prior to the date of the proposed Sub-Branch Annual General 

Meeting, the Committee of the Sub-Branch may resolve to select from the Service 

and Life Members and Affiliates of the Sub-Branch or from other persons who shall 

within one (1) month of the nomination and prior to the Annual General Meeting 

become members of the Sub-Branch in the class of Service Member or Affiliate, up 
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to three (3) persons who at the time of the selection shall not be members of the 

Committee, to serve on the incoming Committee of the Sub-Branch to be installed 

after the Annual General Meeting. 

(2) The outgoing Committee shall designate the positions that the selected persons 

shall hold on the Committee being any of the Secretary, Treasurer, or Committee 

member. 

(3) Subject to the consent in writing of each of the selected persons, the Sub- Branch 

Committee shall nominate and recommend to the Annual General Meeting that the 

selected persons be elected to the incoming Committee and to the position on the 

Committee or as office bearer as decided by the outgoing Sub-Branch Committee. 

There shall, at the Annual General Meeting, be no other election for such Sub- 

Branch Committee positions. 

(4) In the event of the Annual General Meeting not electing a person that has been 

nominated by the Sub-Branch Committee pursuant to this clause, the Sub-Branch 

Committee shall be able to fill that vacancy as a casual vacancy pursuant to clause 

18(l) of these Rules. The person so appointed shall hold office until the next Annual 

General Meeting; save that a person during that year has nominated to the Annual 

General Meeting for appointment pursuant to this Rule and not elected by the 

Annual General Meeting shall not be eligible to be appointed to the casual vacancy. 

(5) Further to the above, the Committee may resolve to recommend any of the 

selected person(s) to the Annual General Meeting in subsequent years, but in each 

year after the first term the Committee must advise the Members of their intention 

to do so, prior to the date of the closure of nominations for the particular office for 

Committee. This advice will indicate that if there are other eligible Members who 

wish to nominate for that Sub-Branch Committee position, and have the skills to fill 

that position, then a ballot for that position will be conducted. In the absence of any 

other such eligible and suitable candidates, the Committee nominee shall be duly 

elected vide Rule 19(i). 

(c) Subject to Rule 19(b), the Sub-Branch Committee must, at least six weeks prior to its 

annual general meeting determine the manner in which an election (and if necessary, 

the conduct of a ballot) is to be held. 

(d) Subject to clauses 19(e), 19(o)(4) and 9.6(d)(1), a Service member, Life member or an 

Affiliate, of the Sub-Branch, may nominate or be nominated for one or more positions on 

the Sub-Branch Committee. 
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(e) A Life, Service, or Affiliate member who has been suspended by or from the Sub- 

Branch or the League by the Sub-Branch Committee or the State Branch or National 

Tribunal since the previous Sub-Branch AGM shall not be eligible to nominate for the 

Sub-Branch Committee for a period of 12 months following the completion of the 

suspension. 

(f) If the number of nominations for a position on the Sub-Branch Committee exceeds the 

number to be elected to that position, there is to be an election by secret ballot. 

(g) If a member is elected to a position on the Sub-Branch Committee, any other nominations 

the member has, lapses. 

(h)  

(1) For the purposes of conducting the ballot, a returning officer and not less than two 

scrutineers are to be appointed by the Sub-Branch Committee from among the 

Service or Life members or Affiliates. 

(2) The ballot shall be conducted in the following descending order: 

president; 
senior vice president - League member [if more than one vice president]; 
vice president - League member; 
vice president - Affiliate; 
secretary; 
treasurer; 
committeeman [the senior of whom shall be the member polling 

the most votes, or if no vote is necessary, then a 

method as determined by the meeting] 

(3) If there is a tied vote, the name drawn from a hat by the returning officer in the 

presence of the scrutineers, is the person elected. 

(4) If for any reason, the Sub-Branch Committee resolves that they are unable to 

appoint a returning officer then they shall apply in writing to the State Executive for 

a League member to be appointed. The State Executive will then appoint a League 

member to be the returning officer. 

(5) The returning officer of the Sub-Branch must not be an employee of the Sub- 

Branch or a candidate for Committee or office. 

(i) If the number of nominations for a position on the Sub-Branch Committee does not 

exceed the number to be elected to that position, the nominees are duly elected to the 

position. 
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(j) The secretary of the Sub-Branch must notify the Company Secretary within fourteen 

days of the meeting that appointed or elected the Sub-Branch Committee the members of 

that Sub-Branch Committee. 

(k) Subject to the provisions of these Rules a Social member may be elected to the 

Committee of the Sub-Branch but not an executive position. A Service member, Life 

member, Affiliate or social member of a Sub-Branch may nominate a social member for 

election to the Sub-Branch Committee other than an executive position. 

(l) A social member of the Sub-Branch is not entitled to vote on any matter other than in 

respect of the election of a social member to the Committee of the Sub-Branch. 

(m) Canvassing is not permitted for any elected position in the Sub-Branch, subject to Branch 

Rule 4.9. 

(n)  

(1) Any officer or member of the Committee of the Sub-Branch may be deposed upon 

a resolution carried at a specially summoned General Meeting of the Sub-Branch 

convened by the president for the expressed purpose of considering the 

deposition, and of which at least fourteen (14) days notice shall be given to all 

members (excluding honorary members) of the Sub- Branch at the address shown 

in the Sub-Branch register. The notice is to state the time and place of such 

meeting and the nature of the business to be transacted at that meeting. 

(2) The meeting deposing the officer or member of the Committee shall forthwith 

proceed to elect a member to fill the vacancy created. Such casual vacancy shall 

hold office until the next Annual General Meeting. 

(o)  

(1) At the meeting referred to in Rule 19(b) the Committee shall determine whether the 

elections are to be formal nominations or nominations from the floor at the Annual 

General Meeting. 

(2) Nominations, whether formal or from the floor, of persons who are not Life 

members or life subscribers, who have not paid the annual subscriptions for the 

current year, must be rejected [see Rule 10A(b)]. 

(3) Formal nominations shall be in accordance with the following Rules 19(o)(4) to 

19(o)(8). 
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(4) Nominations for Committee shall be in writing, contain the name and address of the 

nominated member, be signed by at least two (2) members entitled to vote and 

shall be delivered to the returning officer at least fourteen (14) days before the date 

fixed for the Annual General Meeting, or the date of the election (ballot) if held 

separately, and shall be posted on the notice board by noon on the day following 

receipt of each such nomination. 

(5) The name of any person proposed for election as a member of the Sub-Branch 

Committee shall be displayed in a conspicuous place in the Sub-Branch premises 

for not less than one (1) week before the date of the election. 

(6) The nomination form for election and the record of the Sub-Branch Officers and 

Committee shall be in accordance with Branch requirements. 

(7) Any withdrawal of a nomination by a candidate shall be in writing and submitted to 

the returning officer and shall be posted on the notice board by the returning officer 

at the earliest opportunity. 

(8) Notwithstanding other provisions in these Rules, a candidate for the office of Sub- 

Branch President or Senior Vice President (League member) or Vice President 

(League member) must provide to the Sub-Branch Secretary and the Returning 

Officer documentary proof of their service record and medal entitlement and until 

they have done so the Returning Officer must reject the nomination. If after the date 

and time of the close of nominations the required proof has not been provided then 

the nomination lapses. 

 
20 MEETINGS OF THE SUB-BRANCH 

The Committee must ensure that minutes are taken and kept of each meeting of the Sub- 
Branch. The minutes must record: 

(a) the name of the members in attendance at the meeting, 

(b) the business considered at the meeting, 

(c) any resolution on which a vote is taken and the result of that vote, 

(d) the financial statements submitted to the members including the certification that the 

financial statements are true and fair, and 

(e) if applicable, any auditor's accounts and auditor's report. 
 
20A ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 



Bylaw 10C - 36 

V1.4(SC 27/07/2024) 

 

 

(a) The Sub-Branch must hold an Annual General Meeting (AGM), which is the governing 

body of the Sub-Branch, before the end of April each year on such date, time and place 

as the Committee of the Sub-Branch shall determine. Notice of the annual general 

meeting is to be provided to all members (excluding honorary members) of the Sub- 

Branch in accordance with Rule 11. 

(b) At the annual general meeting of the Sub-Branch: 

(1) the president of the Sub-Branch must present their report on the Sub-Branch for the 

preceding year. 

(2) the treasurer of the Sub-Branch must submit the audited (if required) financial 

statements of the Sub-Branch, in accordance with Rule 18(h), for the preceding 

year. 

(3) the Sub-Branch Committee are to be elected or the returning officer declare the 

results of an election previously conducted in a manner determined by the Sub- 

Branch under the provision of Rule 19(b). 

(4) the auditor (if applicable) of the Sub-Branch is to be appointed. 

(5) other business of which notice has been given or which the chairperson deems 

important is to be dealt with. 

(6) the returning officer of the Sub-Branch must not be a candidate for office or 

Committee for which an election is necessary. 

(c)  

(1) Until otherwise determined by the Sub-Branch, the quorum for the annual general 

meeting shall comprise those Service and Life members and Affiliates present at 

the appointed time for any meeting, subject to the proviso that the number of 

Service and Life members (who are not Sub-Branch officers or Committee 

persons) present exceeds the number of Sub-Branch officers and Committee 

members present. 

(2) If within half an hour after the appointed time for the commencement of the annual 

general meeting a quorum is not present, the chairperson must adjourn the annual 

general meeting to a date not less than twenty one (21) days from the original 

meeting and to a time and place as the chairperson decides and if at the adjourned 

meeting the quorum is not present within half an hour after the appointed time for the 
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commencement of the annual general meeting the Service and Life members 

present are the quorum. 

(3) The Sub-Branch Secretary must give written notice to all members (excluding 

honorary members) of the Sub-Branch of the adjourned annual general meeting at 

least fourteen (14) days before the adjourned annual general meeting. 

(d)  

(1) The president of the Sub-Branch is to be the chairperson of the annual general 

meeting but if the Sub-Branch president is not present within fifteen (15) minutes 

after the time appointed for the commencement of the annual General meeting, or 

is unwilling or unable to act as the chairperson, the Sub- Branch senior vice- 

president, is to be the chairperson of the annual general meeting. 

(2) If the Sub-Branch senior vice president is not present within fifteen (15) minutes 

after the time appointed for the commencement of the annual general meeting, or is 

unwilling or unable to act as the chairperson of the annual general meeting, the 

Service and Life members of the Sub-Branch present shall elect one of their 

number to preside as chairperson of the meeting. 

(e)  

(1) The only business to be transacted at the annual general meeting is that included 

on the agenda, unless the chairperson decides that it is in the interests of the Sub- 

Branch that business not included on the agenda be transacted. 

(2) The annual general meeting shall determine if an honorarium is to be paid in the 

following financial year to Sub-Branch officers and if so the amount to be paid. 

(f) A quorum must be present at the annual general meeting before any business is to be 

transacted except for the election of a chairperson and the adjournment of the annual 

general meeting under Rule 20A(c)(2). 

(g) A question arising at the annual general meeting is to be decided by a majority unless 

otherwise required by the National Constitution or the Branch Constitution or these 

Rules. 

(h) Save for the election of the Sub-Branch Committee which shall be conducted in 

accordance with Rule 19(b), a question arising at an annual general meeting is to be 

determined on a show of hands and unless before or on the show of hands a poll is 

demanded, a declaration by the chairperson that a resolution has, on a show of hands, 
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been carried or carried unanimously or carried by a particular majority or lost and an 

entry to that effect is made in the minute book, that entry is evidence of that fact, without 

proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of, or against, that 

resolution. 

(i) At an annual general meeting of the Sub-Branch a member of the Sub-Branch entitled to 

vote under these Rules has one vote only. A member of the Sub-Branch entitled to vote 

at an annual general meeting may only vote in person, by postal or absentee voting, as 

determined by the Committee under Rule 19(b). Proxy voting is not permitted. 

(j) In the case of an equality of voting on a question, the chairperson is entitled to exercise a 

casting vote. 

(k) A poll at an annual general meeting may be demanded by no less than five members of 

the Sub-Branch entitled to vote at the annual general meeting. 

(l) If a poll on any question is demanded, it is to be taken at that meeting in such manner as 

the chairperson directs and the resolution of the poll is to be deemed to be a resolution of 

the annual general meeting on that question. 

(m) If a poll is demanded on the election of a chairperson or on a question of an adjournment 

under Rule 20A(c)(2) it is to be taken immediately. 

(n) A poll that is demanded on any other question is to be taken at such time before the close 

of the annual general meeting as the chairperson directs. 

(o) Subject to Rule 10A(b), a member of the Sub-Branch is not entitled to vote at the annual 

general meeting unless all moneys due and payable by the member to the Sub-Branch 

have been paid. 

20B ORDINARY GENERAL MEETINGS 

(a) The Sub-Branch Committee shall, subject to Rule 11, convene not less than one 

ordinary general meeting (OGM) of the members [excluding honorary members] of the 

Sub-Branch between Annual General Meetings. 

(b) One such ordinary general meeting shall be held within sixty days immediately preceding 

the Annual Conference under the Branch Constitution to: 

(1) Determine the votes of the Sub-Branch for Branch Officers. 

(2) Instruct the Sub-Branch delegates to the Annual Conference on how to vote on 

matters listed in the Agenda for the Annual Conference. 
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(c)  

(1) Until otherwise determined by the Sub-Branch, the quorum for an ordinary general 

meeting shall comprise those Service and Life members and Affiliates present at 

the appointed time for any meeting, subject to the proviso that the number of 

Service and Life members (who are not Sub-Branch Officers or Committee 

persons) present exceeds the number of Sub-Branch Officers and Committee 

members present. 

(2) If within half an hour after the appointed time for the commencement of the ordinary 

general meeting a quorum is not present, the chairperson must adjourn the 

ordinary general meeting to a date not less than twenty one (21) days from the 

original meeting and to a time and place as the chairperson decides and if at the 

adjourned meeting the quorum is not present within half an hour after the 

appointed time for the commencement of the ordinary general meeting the 

Service and Life members present are the quorum. 

(3) The Sub-Branch Secretary must give written notice to all members of the Sub- 

Branch of the adjourned ordinary general meeting at least fourteen (14) days 

before the adjourned ordinary general meeting. 

(d)  

(1) The president of the Sub-Branch is to be the chairperson of the ordinary 

general meeting but if the Sub-Branch President is not present within fifteen 

(15) minutes after the time appointed for the commencement of the 

ordinary general meeting, or is unwilling or unable to act as the chairperson, 

the Sub- Branch senior vice-president, is to be the chairperson of the ordinary 

general meeting. 

(2) If the Sub-Branch senior vice president is not present within fifteen (15) 

minutes after the time appointed for the commencement of the ordinary 

general meeting, or is unwilling or unable to act as the chairperson of the 

ordinary general meeting, the Service and Life members of the Sub-Branch 

present shall elect one of their number to preside as chairperson of the 

meeting. 

(e) The only business to be transacted at the ordinary general meeting is that included on 

the agenda, unless the meeting resolves that it is in the interest of the Sub-Branch that 

the business not included on the agenda be transacted. 
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(f) A quorum must be present at an ordinary general meeting before any business is to be 

transacted except for the election of a chairperson and the adjournment of the ordinary 

general meeting under Rule 20B (c)(2). 

(g) A question arising at the ordinary general meeting is to be decided by a majority unless 

otherwise required by the National Constitution or the Branch Constitution or these 

Rules. 

(h) A question arising at an ordinary general meeting is to be determined on a show of 

hands and unless before or on the show of hands a poll is demanded, a declaration 

(i) by the chairperson that a resolution has, on a show of hands, been carried or carried 

unanimously or carried by a particular majority or lost and an entry to that effect is made 

in the minute book, that entry is evidence of that fact, without proof of the number or 

proportion of the votes recorded in favour of, or against, that resolution. 

(j) At an ordinary general meeting of the Sub-Branch a member of the Sub-Branch entitled 

to vote under these Rules has one vote only. A member of the Sub-Branch entitled to 

vote at an ordinary general meeting may only vote in person. Proxy voting is not 

permitted. 

(k) In the case of an equality of voting on a question, the chairperson is entitled to exercise a 

casting vote. 

(l) A poll at an ordinary general meeting may be demanded by no less than five members of 

the Sub-Branch entitled to vote at the ordinary general meeting. 

(m) If a poll on any question is demanded, it is to be taken at that meeting in such manner as 

the chairperson directs and the resolution of the poll is to be deemed to be a resolution 

of the ordinary general meeting on that question. 

(n) If a poll is demanded on the election of a chairperson or on a question of an adjournment 

under Rule 20B(c)(2) it is to be taken immediately. 

(o) A poll that is demanded on any other question is to be taken at such time before the close 

of the ordinary general meeting as the chairperson directs. 

(p) Subject to Rule 10A(b), a member of the Sub-Branch is not entitled to vote at an ordinary 

general meeting unless all moneys due and payable by the member to the Sub-Branch 

have been paid. 



Bylaw 10C - 41 

V1.4(SC 27/07/2024) 

 

 

20C EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETINGS 
(a) Subject to the provisions of Rule 20C(t), the Sub-Branch Committee must, on the written 

request of ten per cent of the Service and Life members of the Sub-Branch, convene an 

extraordinary general meeting. 

(b) The request under Rule 20C(a) must state the business for which the extraordinary 

general meeting is required. 

(c) The extraordinary general meeting shall be called within thirty days from the receipt of the 

request, such meeting to be held within forty-nine days of the date of the receipt of the 

request. 

(d) If the Sub-Branch Committee does not convene an extraordinary general meeting 

pursuant to Rule 20C(a) in the time required under Rule 20C(c), the extraordinary 

general meeting may be convened by the members who had made the request under 

Rule 20C(a). 

(e) The Sub-Branch Committee or, if proceeding under Rule 20C(d), the requesting 

members, must serve on the members (excluding honorary members) of the Sub- 

Branch a notice of the extraordinary general meeting together with details of the business 

to be transacted at least seven (7) days before the extraordinary general meeting. 

(f)  

(1) Except for a meeting convened under Rule 20C(t), the quorum for an extraordinary 

general meeting shall comprise those Service and Life members and Affiliates 

present at the appointed time for the meeting, subject to the proviso that the 

number of Service and Life members (who are not Sub-Branch officers or 

Committee persons) present exceeds the number of Sub-Branch officers and 

Committee members present. 

(2) If within half an hour after the appointed time for the commencement of the 

extraordinary general meeting a quorum is not present the meeting, if convened 

upon the requisition of members, shall be dissolved. 

(3) If within half an hour after the appointed time for the commencement of the 

extraordinary general meeting a quorum is not present the meeting, if convened by 

the State Executive, shall be adjourned by the chairperson to a date not less than 

twenty-one days from the original meeting and to a time and place as the 

chairperson decides and if at the adjourned meeting the quorum is not present 

within half an hour after the appointed time for the commencement of the 
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Extraordinary general meeting the Service and Life members present are the 

quorum. 

(4) The Secretary of the Sub-Branch must give written notice to all members 

(excluding Community and honorary members) of the Sub-Branch of the adjourned 

extraordinary general meeting at least seven days before the adjourned 

extraordinary general meeting. 

(g) Subject to Rule 20C(v) hereof: 

(1) The president of the Sub-Branch is to be the chairperson of the extraordinary 

general meeting but if the Sub-Branch president is not present within fifteen 

minutes after the time appointed for the commencement of the extraordinary 

general meeting, or is unwilling or unable to act as the chairperson, the Sub- 

Branch senior vice-president, is to be the chairperson of the extraordinary general 

meeting. 

(2) If the Sub-Branch senior vice president is not present within fifteen minutes after 

the time appointed for the commencement of the extraordinary general meeting, or 

is unwilling or unable to act as the chairperson of the extraordinary general 

meeting, the Service and Life members of the Sub- Branch present shall elect one 

of their number to preside as chairperson of the meeting. 

(h) The only business to be transacted at the extraordinary general meeting is that included 

on the agenda. 

(i) A quorum must be present at the extraordinary general meeting before any business is 

to be transacted except for the election of a chairperson and the adjournment of the 

extraordinary general meeting under Rule 20C(f)(3). 

(j) A question arising at the extraordinary general meeting is to be decided by a majority 

unless otherwise required the National Constitution or the Branch Constitution or these 

Rules. 

(k) A question arising at an extraordinary general meeting is to be determined on a show of 

hands and unless before or on the show of hands a poll is demanded, a declaration by 

the chairperson that a resolution has, on a show of hands, been carried or carried 

unanimously or carried by a particular majority or lost and an entry to that effect is 

made in the minute book, that entry is evidence of that fact, without proof of the number 

or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of, or against, that resolution. 
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(l) At an extraordinary general meeting of the Sub-Branch a member of the Sub-Branch 

entitled to vote under these Rules has one vote only. A member of the Sub-Branch 

entitled to vote at an extraordinary general meeting may only vote in person. Proxy voting 

is not permitted. 

(m) Except for an extraordinary general meeting convened under Rule 20C(t), in the case of 

an equality of votes the chairperson of the meeting is entitled to exercise a casting vote. 

(n) A poll at an extraordinary general meeting may be demanded by no less than five 

members of the Sub-Branch entitled to vote at the extraordinary general meeting. 

(o) If a poll on any question is demanded, it is to be taken at that meeting in such manner as 

the chairperson directs and the resolution of the poll is to be deemed to be a resolution 

of the extraordinary general meeting on that question. 

(p) If a poll is demanded on the election of a chairperson or on a question of an adjournment 

under Rule 20C(f)(3) it is to be taken immediately. 

(q) A poll that is demanded on any other question is to be taken at such time before the close 

of the extraordinary general meeting as the chairperson directs. 

(r) Subject to Rule 10A(b), a member of the Sub-Branch is not entitled to vote at an 

extraordinary general meeting unless all moneys due and payable by the member to the 

Sub-Branch have been paid. 

(s) Unless called by the State Executive under Rule 20C(t), there shall only be one 

extraordinary general meeting of the Sub-Branch in any one calendar year. Should 

circumstances prevail that members require an additional extraordinary general meeting, 

the request referred to in Rule 20C(a) shall be directed to the Chief Executive Officer 

who shall refer the matter to the State Branch Tribunal, which shall provide a written 

report and recommendation to the State Executive within forty-nine days of receipt of 

the request. 

(t) The State Executive may: 

(1) convene an extraordinary general meeting of a Sub-Branch, either as a result of 

the deliberations of the State Branch Tribunal under Rule 20C(s) or of its own 

volition; and 

(2) determine the quorum of the extraordinary general meeting. 

(u) When the State Executive convenes an extraordinary general meeting of the Sub- 

Branch the State Executive shall appoint a person to chair the meeting. 
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(v) The State Executive must serve a notice on the members (excluding honorary members) 

of the Sub-Branch of the extraordinary general meeting convened under Rule 20C(t) 

together with the business to be transacted at least seven (7) days before the 

extraordinary general meeting. 

(w) At the Sub-Branch extraordinary general meeting, however convened, a State officer, the 

Chief Executive Officer or representative appointed by resolution of the State Executive, 

shall have the right to attend and speak at the meeting. 

 
21 SUSPENSION OR DISSOLUTION OF THE SUB-BRANCH 

(a) If the Sub-Branch contravenes or fails to observe or perform any of the provisions of the 

National Constitution, fails to be bound by or promote the standing policy of the League or 

has been guilty of conduct prejudicial to the interests of the League, the Branch may deal 

with the matter in accordance with National Bylaw 8. 

(b) The provisions contained in National Bylaw 8 apply, mutatis mutandis, if the Sub- Branch 

contravenes or fails to observe or perform any of the provisions of these Rules or has 

been guilty of conduct prejudicial to the interest of the Branch. 

(c) If the charter of the Sub-Branch is suspended, the State Executive is to control the affairs 

of the Sub-Branch. 

 
22 SIGNING OF CHEQUES & ELECTRONIC FUNDS TRANSFER 

(a) A cheque, or an Electronic Funds transfer, drawn on an account of the Sub-Branch is to 

be signed by any two executive members of the Committee; duly minuted as signatories 

by the Sub-Branch Committee. 

The procedure for urgent electronic funds transfers where no signatories are available 

shall be determined by the Sub-Branch Committee. All Electronic Funds transfers are to 

be presented by the Treasurer at the next Sub-Branch Committee Meeting. 

 
23 SUB-BRANCH BOOKS 

(a) Except as otherwise provided in these Rules, the secretary or the secretary/treasurer of 

the Sub-Branch is to keep in their custody or under their control all the books, accounts, 

minutes books, statutory registers kept under any law (if any), records and securities 

maintained by the Sub-Branch. 
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(b) The Sub-Branch must, if required by the Branch, produce for inspection all books, 

accounts, minutes books, statutory registers kept under any law (if any), records and 

securities and supply such returns and other information as the Branch may from time to 

time require. 

(c) Any member may have access to the minutes of General Meetings and the register of 

members. A member must not make improper use of information about a person 

obtained from the register of members and access to personal information of a person 

recorded in the register of members may be restricted by the Committee. 

(d) Those funds generated by, or for a Sub-Committee of the Sub-Branch, a Sporting 

Section or a Subsidiary Association or Section (as defined in Branch Rules Part 16), 

remain under the control of the President and members of the Sub-Branch Committee. 

 
24 ACCOUNTS OF THE SUB-BRANCH 

The audited (if required) accounts of the Sub-Branch must be provided to the Branch by 30 
April each year. 

 
25 MONEY RECEIVED 

All money raised, collected or otherwise received by any person or persons where the 
name of the Sub-Branch is used or inferred must be paid into the Sub-Branch bank account 
and a receipt issued. 

 
26 COMMUNICATIONS WITH GOVERNMENTS, THE LEAGUE AND BRANCHES 

A League matter raised by the Sub-Branch or a member of the Sub-Branch for the attention 
of any Government of the Commonwealth, State or Territory, the League or any of its 
Officers or the Branch or any other State Branch, must be directed through the Chief 
Executive Officer, unless otherwise approved in writing by the State Executive. 

 
27 NO AMALGAMATION 

The Sub-Branch must not amalgamate with any other body, including another Sub-Branch, 
without the prior written approval of the State Executive. 

 
28 LIMITATIONS ON THE SUB-BRANCH 

The Sub-Branch does not have the power to borrow or raise money or to secure the 
repayment of any debt, liability or engagement incurred, undertaken or entered into by the 
Sub-Branch by the issue of bonds, debentures, bills of exchange, promissory notes or other 
obligations or securities of the Sub-Branch or by way of overdraft or by mortgage or charge 
on all or any part of the property and assets of the Sub-Branch. 
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29 SUB-BRANCH MILITARY MEMORABILIA 
A Sub-Branch must not dispose of any military and historical memorabilia it has in its 
possession or power without the prior written approval of the State Executive. 

 
30 BYLAWS 

(a) The Sub-Branch may draw up Sub-Branch Bylaws for its administrative activities. The 

Sub-Branch Bylaws must not be inconsistent with the National Constitution, the Branch 

Constitution or these Rules. Insofar as the Sub-Branch Bylaws are inconsistent with the 

National Constitution or the Branch Constitution or these Rules they are invalid. 

(b) The Sub-Branch Bylaws are to be submitted to the Branch for approval and are not 

operative until approved in writing by the State Executive. 

 
31 APPLICATION AND DISPOSAL OF ASSETS 

(a) The income and property of the Sub-Branch is to be used and applied solely in 

promotion of its purposes and the exercise of its powers. 

(b) Subject to Rules 31(c) and (d), the income and property of the Sub-Branch is not to be 

distributed, paid or transferred directly or indirectly by way of dividend, bonus or 

otherwise by way of profit to a member. 

(c) The Sub-Branch may pay, in good faith, interest to a Member in respect of money 

advanced by the member to the Branch or otherwise owing by the Sub-Branch to the 

member or of remuneration to a Sub-Branch Officer or for services rendered to the 

Sub-Branch by a member. 

(d) The Sub-Branch may pay or repay a Member for out of pocket expenses, money lent, 

reasonable and proper charges for goods hired by the Sub-Branch from a member or 

reasonable and proper rent for premises demised or let to the Sub- Branch from a 

member. 

(e) In the event of the Sub-Branch being wound up and there remains after the satisfaction 

of all of its liabilities any property or money, it shall not be paid to or distributed to the 

members of the Sub-Branch, but shall be transferred or paid to the Branch to be applied 

by the Branch in fulfilment of the objects of the Branch. 

 
32 SOURCES OF FUNDS OF THE SUB-BRANCH 

The funds of the Sub-Branch shall be derived from entrance fees, annual subscriptions, 
donations and such other sources as the Sub-Branch Committee determines. 









































1. Introduction

Branch Bylaw 12 

Sexual Harassment (Volunteers) 

Bylaw12 

1.1 The Returned & Services League (RSL) recognizes it is the right of every employee and volunteer 

to be able to attend work and to perform their duties without being subjected to any form of 

sexual harassment. 

1.2 Equally it is the obligation and responsibility of every employee and volunteer to ensure that the 

workplace is free from sexual harassment. For the purposes of this policy the workplace includes 

all areas where employees and volunteers would normally conduct their work whether that work 

is paid employment or undertaking a volunteering role. 

1.3 The RSL is fully committed to its obligations to eliminate sexual harassment in the workplace. The 

State Branch Headquarters and Licensed Sub-Branches already have a policy in place in relation to 

employees in this regard. This policy further informs the Branch Headquarters Policy covering 

employees and is provided as further guidance to Licensed Sub-Branches in relation to their 

extant employee policy. 

2. Purpose

2.1 The purpose of this policy is to outline the RSL's Victorian Branch position on sexual harassment in 

relation to volunteers and to document the process to be followed should any grievances arise 

within Victorian Branch Headquarters or within traditional Sub-Branches. Licensed Sub-Branches 

have an extant Sexual Harassment Policy in place in relation to employees which will now also be 

used to encompass volunteers in Licensed Sub-Branches through the additional requirement that 

the application of this Sub-Branch Policy in relation to Volunteers must be over sighted by the 

Sub-Branch Executive, and a member of the Sub-Branch Committee is to be appointed as the EEO 

Contact Officer (Volunteers) and receive appropriate training for that role. Traditional Sub­

Branches are to refer matters involving sexual harassment, as defined in the following Policy, to 

the Branch EEO Coordinating Officer, through the CEO, for resolution. Secretaries of traditional 

Sub-Branches are to act as the Sub-Branch EEO Contact Officer. 

3. Policy

3.1 The RSL will not tolerate sexual harassment under any circumstances. Responsibility lies with all

employees and volunteers to ensure that sexual harassment does not occur.

V 1.0 (State Executive 20
th 

Octaber 2011) Page 1 of 7 
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VICTORIAN BRANCH RETURNED & SERVICES LEAGUE OF AUSTRALIA 

BRANCH BYLAW 15 

FIREARMS & CONTROLLED WEAPONS 

 

PREAMBLE 

Before 1997, individual RSL Sub-Branches across Victoria were responsible for obtaining 
and maintaining their own firearms licences. Each Sub-Branch that possessed a firearm had 
to apply for and manage its own licence. However, following the tragic events of the Port 
Arthur massacre, firearm regulations in Australia underwent significant tightening, and RSL 
Victoria was not exempt from these changes. 

In the wake of these reforms, it initially appeared that Victorian RSL Sub-Branches would be 
required to surrender their firearms. However, through the intervention of licensed firearms 
dealer Mr. Russell Pearson on behalf of the State Branch, an agreement was reached with 
the Victorian Government and Victoria Police. This agreement allowed RSL Victoria to retain 
its firearms under the condition that a centralized registry be established. Additionally, all 
firearms held by Sub-Branches would be registered under the State Branch, which would be 
responsible for ensuring compliance with the strict regulations imposed by Victoria Police. 
This led to the introduction of Branch Bylaw 15. 

To facilitate this arrangement, the State Branch was issued a Class 1 Firearms Dealer’s 
Licence. Although the licence is held under the name of the State Branch, it must be 
assigned to an individual licence holder. Over the years, this responsibility has been carried 
out by various volunteers or RSL Victoria staff, with Mr. Vaughan Atherton being the current 
licence holder. Mr. Atherton is a volunteer, not a State Branch employee, but he bears full 
legal responsibility for all firearms across the Victorian RSL network. Any breach of the 
licence conditions carries severe penalties, including a $5,000 fine and up to 25 years in 
prison. If a Sub-Branch violates these conditions, the individuals responsible will also be 
subject to these legal consequences. 

It is important to note that the requirements outlined in Branch Bylaw 15 are not set by the 
Victorian State Branch but by Victoria Police. However, since the licence holder is 
personally accountable for every firearm within the RSL network, compliance with these 
requirements is non-negotiable. 

Failure to follow directives issued by the licence holder or their appointed nominee will result 
in the immediate removal of firearms from the non-compliant Sub-Branch.  
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This is not a matter of discretion, the continued ability of RSL Victoria to retain its firearms 
and controlled weapons depends on strict adherence to the law. Victoria Police have already 
acted once due to non-compliance, and they have made it clear that any further breaches 
will result in the permanent loss of this privilege. 

While firearms are physically housed by individual Sub-Branches, they are legally registered 
under the State Branch. Additionally, this is the only arrangement that allows RSL Victoria 
and Sub-Branches to maintain possession of its controlled weapons. Sub-Branches that 
remain fully compliant with Branch Bylaw 15 have no reason for concern regarding potential 
seizures by the Victorian RSL State Branch. 

INTRODUCTION 

As a result of discussions with the Compliance Enforcement Regulation Support Unit of 
Victoria Police, NO firearm is to be at, or held by, any Victorian RSL Sub-Branch unless it is 
registered to the RSL Victoria Class 1 Firearm Dealer’s License, including if a person wishes 
to loan or display a firearm at a Victorian RSL Sub-Branch. Firearms and controlled weapons 
must be recorded on a local register within the relevant Sub-Branch and managed by the 
Sub-Branch Responsible Person or committee. The following requirements will apply: 

RESPONSIBLE PERSON 

A Sub-Branch holding firearms or controlled weapons must appoint a person to be 
responsible (hereinafter referred to as the "Responsible Person") for those firearms or 
controlled weapons and for maintaining the requirements of this policy. If no Responsible 
Person is appointed, the Sub-Branch Secretary will assume the role of the Responsible 
Person. If the Sub-Branch Secretary role is not filled, the responsibility will fall directly onto 
the Sub-Branch President. 

FIREARM 

For the purpose of Branch Bylaw 15, a firearm is any device, whether assembled or in parts, 
designed, adapted, or capable of being modified to discharge shot, a bullet, or any other 
missile by the expansion of gases produced through the ignition of highly combustible 
materials or by compressed air or gases. This applies regardless of whether the gases are 
stored in pressurized containers within the device or generated mechanically and whether 
the device is operable, inoperable, complete, or incomplete, either temporarily or 
permanently. While not classified as firearms, flare pistols and dischargers must also be 
recorded in Sub-Branch registers. 
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CONTROLLED WEAPON 

For the purpose of Branch Bylaw 15, a controlled weapon is a weapon that can be used for 
legitimate purposes but require regulation due to the potential danger they pose to the 
community. Controlled weapons include edged weapons, clubs and body armour. All 
requirements contained in this Branch Bylaw for firearms apply equally to these other items. 

ORDNANCE OR EXPLOSIVE DEVICE 

For the purpose of Branch Bylaw 15, ordnance or an explosive device is a grenade, 
ammunition, explosive, artillery shell, bomb or mortar round or rocket launcher and includes 
explosive related devices including booby trap switches, smoke grenades, flash bangs or 
distraction devices, detonators, flares and grenade simulators. 

Ordnance and explosive devices, both historical and currently used by the ADF, can be 
hazardous if handled improperly. If a Sub-Branch receives such an item and is uncertain 
about its status, they must immediately contact the State Branch Firearms Officer for 
guidance. 

PROHIBITED WEAPON 

Prohibited weapons are weapons deemed unsuitable for general possession and use 
without a Governor-in-Council Exemption Order or the Chief Commissioner's approval. RSL 
Victoria holds a Governor-in-Council exemption for certain items that may be displayed, 
such as bayonets, swords, or body armor. 

RECEIPT OF FIREARMS OR CONTROLLED WEAPONS 

On taking procession of any firearms either through a donation or other means, the 
Responsible Person must notify the State Branch Firearms Officer in writing via the 
approved Notification of Newly Acquired Firearm Form (as attached to this Branch Bylaw) 
within two days via email to firearmsofficer@rslvic.com.au. It is also recommended that a 
copy of the Donation Form (as attached to this Branch Bylaw) be completed to ensure the 
terms and conditions of such donation of firearms or controlled weapons are fully 
understood by the donor.  

Additionally, a certificate of registration of the firearm should be obtained from the previous 
owner if possible and sent with the completed Notification of Newly Acquired Firearm Form.  

The State Branch Firearms Officer will then record these details in the State Branch 
Register, as well as including them in the monthly class Firearms Dealers License Return.  

Their inclusion in the monthly Firearms Dealers Return will ensure that the firearms are 
transferred from any previous ownership and registered under the RSL licence. If the firearm 
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does not have a serial number, Firearms Registry will assign one and the Sub-Branch will be 
notified in writing.  

On receipt of such notification, the Sub-Branch must ensure that the allocated serial 
number is stamped onto the firearm. No other action is required from Sub-Branches 
regarding registration and changes of ownership.  

The State Branch Firearms Officer will review all donated firearms and may choose to 
dispose of any that are not of military origin or lack military provenance. 

HANDLING OF FIREARMS, CONTROLLED WEAPONS OR ORDNANCE 

Safety to staff, volunteers and members must always be the priority when handling firearms, 
controlled weapons or ordnance.  They must be treated as a “dangerous” item until they have 
been cleared of any ammunition or placed into a box if a bladed weapon. Clearing of firearms 
must be completed by either the Sub-Branch Responsible Person or someone who has been 
trained and authorized to carry out such actions by the Sub-Branch. Sub-Branch staff and / 
or volunteers are not to accept any firearms, controlled weapons or ordnance donations 
unless there is a Responsible Person or Sub-Branch Authorised Person available to handle 
the item.  

DISPOSAL OF FIREARMS  

Should a Sub-Branch wish to dispose of or donate any firearms or controlled weapons, they 
must not do so independently.  

If a Sub-Branch determines that it no longer wishes to possess firearms or controlled 
weapons, the State Branch Firearms Officer must be contacted to arrange removal, 
storage, or redistribution to another location. The State Branch Firearms Officer will 
provide the Sub-Branch with a receipt for any surrendered items. In the case of donations to 
other Sub-Branches or organizations, the same process applies. The State Branch Firearms 
Officer will confirm the details and legalities of the donation and, if appropriate, oversee the 
transfer, including notification to the Firearms Registry.  

Should any loss or theft of firearms occur, the State Branch Firearms Officer must be 
notified immediately both by phone and email. 

 

A person who has previously loaned or displayed a firearm at a Sub-Branch and wishes to 
have it returned, the owner must lodge a Permit to Acquire (PTA) application with Victoria 
Police. If the PTA is issued, the person will then coordinate with the State Branch Firearms 
Officer for the return of the firearm, and managing the appropriate dealer returns. 
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All firearms removed from a Sub-Branch will be handled by the State Branch Firearms 
Officer or a nominated person approved by Victoria Police LRD as an assistant State Branch 
Firearms Officer, ensuring compliance with the Firearms Act 1996. 

STORAGE AND DISPLAY  

RSL Victoria or Sub-Branch is responsible for ensuring that all firearms have been rendered 
inoperable. This must be completed by a competent gunsmith, and a certificate confirming 
the firearm has been made innocuous must be supplied to the State Branch Firearms 
Officer. 

All premises holding firearms must be equipped with an alarm system that complies with 
Australian Standard 2201.1:2007 (as amended from time to time). The alarm system must 
be installed, maintained, and operated to ensure that, in the event of an intrusion, it 
activates both an audible alarm warning device and an external visible alarm warning light. 

Premises holding handguns, semi-automatic, and automatic firearms must have externally 
monitored alarms. Some alarm systems can be connected to a personal mobile phone for 
monitoring purposes; however, this should only serve as a backup to a fixed monitored 
alarm. 

When in storage, firearms must be locked in an approved gun safe. The firearm must be 
stored in a purpose-built steel storage receptacle that: 

(a) is at least 1.6 mm thick and complies with Australian/New Zealand Standard 
1594:2002 (as amended from time to time); 
(b) if weighing less than 150 kilograms when empty, must be securely bolted to the 
structure of the premises where the firearm is authorized to be kept; and 
(c) is locked with a sturdy lock when the firearm is stored inside. 

When on display the following applies: 

• All firearms must be affixed in a manner that prevents their easy removal. In effect 
this means that should a thief attempt to remove the firearm from its display, it 
will take them at least 20 minutes to do so.  

• In addition to the above, every firearm must be secured with a steel cable running 
through the trigger guard and attached to the structure on which the firearm is 
mounted using a security screw. The cable should have an eye at each end, 
allowing one eye to be passed through the other before securing the remaining 
eye at the attachment point. These cables can be obtained from hardware stores 
or manufactured using stainless steel wire and crimping tools. 
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• Handguns and sub-machine guns must be displayed behind a minimum 6mm 
plate glass and fitted with wall mounted trigger locks or tethered with a steel cable 
as described above. 

• It is not sufficient to have firearms displayed in showcases without being secured 
in the manner described above, regardless of whether the showcase is locked or 
not.  

• All firearms on display at RSL Victoria or Sub-Branch must have the serial number 
visible or a mounted plate identifying the firearm make, model and serial number 
on the board to assist in audits of firearms. 

• A tag shall be attached to the trigger guard of each firearm with its specific serial 
number.  Brass or key tags are acceptable. 

• Signs stating that 'All firearms on display in RSL Victoria or Sub-Branch have been 
irreversibly de-activated ', to be displayed prominently within the Sub-Branch. 

• Controlled Weapons - such as swords, machetes and trench knives - are also to 
be affixed to the show case of structure where possible. 

• All ammunition on display to be clearly visible, being inert and incapable of being 
reloaded, this is usually achieved by the drilling of a visible hole into the side of 
the shell casing. 

• In the event of any suspicious activity or individuals potentially ‘casing’ the 
premises, the incident should be reported to local police and the State Branch 
Firearms Officer. 

RECORD KEEPING AND REPORTING OBLIGATIONS 

RSL Victoria or Sub-Branch holding firearms must maintain accurate and up-to-date records 
of their firearms and controlled weapons, including the serial number, make, model, and 
storage location within the Sub-Branch. Additionally, they must keep digital photo records of 
all firearms and controlled weapons in their possession to aid in identification. 

The Committee, in coordination with the Sub-Branch Secretary / Responsible Person, must 
conduct a bi-annual stocktake of all firearms. It is recommended that the corresponding 
audit forms attached to this Bylaw be used to conduct the stocktake or firearms or controlled 
weapons (Edged Weapons). A copy of the audit forms must be submitted to the State 
Branch Firearms Officer. All returns should be emailed to firearmsofficer@rslvic.com.au 
or provided to a regional RSL Victoria representative via a regional meeting. 

Should there be any change in the Secretary’s position, a handover will be required for the 
new Secretary. This handover should include providing the new Secretary with a copy of this 
policy and the required audit forms of all firearms and controlled weapons, both of which 
must be signed for on the audit sheet as supplied to this Bylaw. A handover must also be 

mailto:firearmsofficer@rslvic.com.au
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conducted when there is a change of Responsible Person within a Sub-Branch, which must 
include a joint stocktake of all firearms and controlled weapons held. 

Controlled and Prohibited Weapons 

All rules of the RSL Victoria Governor-In-Council Exemption dated 5 June 2014 must be 
adhered to. 

 

Conditions: 

1. Use: Prohibited weapons and body armor specified in this Order may only be used 
for the purposes for which the exemption was granted. 

2. Storage: When not in use for the specified purpose, prohibited weapons and body 
armor must be stored safely and securely. 

o "Stored safely and securely" means: 

 (a) Ensuring that the prohibited weapon or body armor: 

 (i) Is not readily accessible to anyone other than the exempt 
person. 

 (ii) Is not available for possession, carriage, or use by anyone 
who is not a holder of an approval issued by the Chief 
Commissioner of Police or who does not fall within an exempt 
class. 

 (b) When being transported between storage and approved use 
locations: 

 (i) It must not be readily accessible to unauthorized persons. 

 (ii) It must be concealed from plain sight during transportation. 

3. Inspection on request: A person, branch, or Sub-Branch relying on this exemption 
must permit a member of the police force to inspect their storage arrangements at 
any reasonable pre-arranged time. 

4. Record of possession: A person, branch, or Sub-Branch relying on this exemption 
must maintain a record of the quantity and type of prohibited weapons or body armor 
in their possession. These records must be retained for the duration of the exemption 
and made available for police inspection upon request. 
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5. Display: (This section refers to swords only, not other controlled or prohibited 
weapons) A person within the exempt class displaying a sword of historical or cultural 
significance must ensure the display occurs: 

o At their residential home, 

o At an official RSL club or venue, or 

o At an official RSL-associated event, 

o And must be genuinely associated with the study and collection of such 
items for purposes. 

6. Prohibited persons: This Order does not apply to any person classified as a 
prohibited person under section 3 of the Control of Weapons Act 1990, regardless 
of their RSL membership status. Additionally, a person must not have been convicted 
of a serious offense or be subject to any intervention order, firearms prohibition 
order, or other legal restriction that would disqualify them from possessing 
prohibited weapons or body armor under Victorian law. 

PENALTIES  

Whilst the State Branch carries the responsibility of informing Sub-Branches of the legal 
requirements for the storage and display of firearms and controlled and prohibited weapons 
it is not responsible for the actions of individual Sub-Branches should they not comply with 
those requirements. At the Sub-Branchlevel, the identified 'Responsible Person', and / or the 
Sub-Branch Secretary, will be responsible for any breaches of the stated requirements. 
Maximum penalties for individuals convicted of an offence against the Firearms Act are a 
$24,000 fine and 5 years in jail.  

AUDITS  

From time to time, both the Victoria State Branch and representatives of Victoria Police 
will carry out audits on Sub-Branches regarding the number of firearms held, serial numbers 
of the weapons, and necessary security requirements. Failure to comply with such audits 
and any resulting recommendations will result in the possible permanent removal of the 
weapons held by the Sub-Branch. All audits conducted by either the Victoria State Branch 
or Victoria Police are to be recorded and maintained for future references.  

 

Additionally, a bi-yearly inspection must be undertaken by every Sub-Branch, even if no 
items are held or on hand. The audit reports (Edges Weapons or firearms Audit Form), as 
attached to this Branch Bylaw, must be emailed via firearmsofficer@rslvic.com.au by the 
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1st of February and the 1st of August each year. Failure to complete these audits will 
result in firearms and controlled weapons being removed from the Sub-Branch. 
Additionally, the audit reports can be provided to the Regional STEX Representative at any 
State Region meeting. 

 

STATE BRANCH FIREARMS OFFICER  

The State Branch Firearms Officer, Mr. Vaughan Atherton, can be contacted through ANZAC 
House as the primary point of contact on 0411 575 239 or via email at 
firearmsofficer@rslvic.com.au. 

Additionally, the Firearms Officer is supported by volunteers Robert Ferguson (0400 852 
653), Michael Davis (0430 574 463), and STEX Member Peter Swandale 
(pswandale@rslvic.com.au). These volunteers act on behalf of the Firearms Officer and the 
State Branch in the day-to-day management and oversight of all firearms and controlled 
weapons. 

 



  

BYLAW 15 - NOTIFICATION OF NEWLY AQUIRED FIREARM FORM 

Notification of Newly Acquired Firearm Form V1 

 

SERIAL NUMBER  

 

MAKE eg. Lithgow, BSA, Remington. etc. 

 

MODEL 

 

ACTION eg. revolver, automatic, bolt action, semi-automatic 

 

MAGAZINE CAPACITY 

 

CALIBER 

 

PREVIOUSLY REGISTERED - YES/NO 

 

PREVIOUS OWNERS NAME & ADDRESS 

 

 

PREVIOUS OWNERS’ FIREARM LICENCE NO. 

 

POLICE REGISTRATION NUMBER (PRN) 

 

DATE OF ACQUISITION 

 

OPERATIONAL – YES/NO  

 

 



  

BYLAW 15 - NOTIFICATION OF NEWLY AQUIRED FIREARM FORM 

Notification of Newly Acquired Firearm Form V1 

 

 

IF RENDERED NON-OPERATIONAL – HOW? 

 

 

FOR HANDGUNS, LENGTH OF BARREL -MEASURED ON THE INSIDE FROM THE CHAMBER TO END OF 
BARRELL 

 

 



 
 
 

 

                     BYLAW 15 – COLLECTION DONATION FORM 
 

Artifacts within RSL Victoria or a local Sub-Branch collection are at the heart of the stories we 
tell. Your generous donations of photographs, medals, service equipment, diaries, letters, maps, 
uniforms, souvenirs and works of art, all help us to connect with our veterans and family and tell 
deeper, more nuanced stories. 
 

We are actively looking to expand our collection and greatly appreciate all offers of items that have 
stories of their own that are just waiting to be told. However, we do suggest that prior to approaching 
us you discuss your intention to donate the items with your family to ensure that you are all in 
agreement regarding the donation 

 

 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS: 
1. RSL Victoria or Sub-Branch reserves the right to assess and determine the suitability 

of the donation for inclusion in its collection – acceptance of an item will depend on 
various conditions being met, including: condition of item(s), surplus to 
requirements, storage requirements, display space etc. 

2. If accepted, RSL Victoria or Sub-Branch will provide a copy of the signed Donation 
Form to you and will retain the original copy for our own records. 

3. The donor is responsible for any costs related to the transportation and delivery of 
the items to RSL Victoria or Sub-Branch. 

4. Items donated are given in perpetuity to the collection. We will not accept items on 
loan, or with conditions attached. 

5. RSL Victoria or Sub-Branch has an obligation to care for the item(s) against theft, 
damage, and climate conditions. 

6. RSL Victoria or Sub-Branch may use the donated items for exhibition, educational, or 
research purposes, as deemed appropriate by its staff or volunteer. When on display 
the donor(s) name will be displayed. 

7. Items will not be guaranteed to be on permanent display. 

8. RSL Victoria or Sub-Branch may deaccession items in accordance with its policies 
and procedures. 
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DONATION INFORMATION: 

If you agree to the above Terms and Conditions, please provide the following information: 
 

 
NAME(S) 

  
ADDRESS 

 
PHONE NUMBER 

  

 
EMAIL ADDRESS 

 

 

DONATION DETAILS: 

Who was the original owner of the item(s)? 
 
 

NAME 
 

REGIMENT 
NUMBER/UNIT 

 

 
OTHER RELEVANT INFORMATION ABOUT THE ITEM/COLLECTION YOU ARE DONATING: 

 

 

 

List each item you are donating in the table below: 
 

 
BRIEF DESCRIPTION 

OF ITEM(S) 

HISTORY OR PROVENANCE RELATING TO THE DONATION 
(E.g. anecdotes you have about the item, date of creation, materials, 

associations to other objects etc.) 
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                           BYLAW 15 - COLLECTION DONATION FORM 
 

  

  

 

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT: 

I understand that by donating these items, I am transferring ownership to 
RSL Victoria or Sub-Branch, and I will not have any claim or control over 
the items once the donation is complete. 

 

CERTIFICATION 
I hereby certify that I am the legal owner of the donated item/s and that I have the authority to 
transfer ownership to rsl Victoria or Sub-Branch and by signing this form I agree to the Terms 
and Conditions detailed above. 
 
 

DATE 
  

SIGNATURE OF DONOR 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

       DEED OF ACCEPTANCE 
   The above item(s) have been accepted into the RSL Victoria / Sub-Branch collection 

This deed shall be binding upon the donor and RSL Victoria / Sub-Branch, and it constitutes 
the entire agreement between the parties concerning the donation of the items specified 
herein. 

 
DATE 

 
SIGNATURE OF RSL 

VICTORIA OR SUB-
BRANCH REP. 

 

 

 



BYLAW 15 - FIREARMS AUDIT FORM 

 

Firearms Audit Form V1 

SUB-BRANCH       DATE       AUDIT UNDERTAKEN BY                      POSITION                           SIGNATURE 

………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

SERIAL NO.   MAKE     MODEL       PRN       STOCK NO.          COMPLIANT                           COMMENTS 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
…………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 

Date of last audit completed by Victoria Police?  ………………………………………………………….. 

PAGE        OF      



 BYLAW 15 - EDGED WEAPONS AUDIT FORM 

 

Edged Weapons Audit Form V1 

SUB-BRANCH       DATE       AUDIT UNDERTAKEN BY                  POSITION                     SIGNATURE 

………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 

MAKE     MODEL/TYPE        LENGTH OF BLADE              COMPLIANT                        MARKINGS                            COMMENTS 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
……………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………
………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………………… 
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1. The Role of the State Executive 
 

The State Executive is responsible to the State Branch for the management and operation of 
the Branch in the achievement of its objects1, taking account of and managing risk. 
From the Rules: The role of the State Executive is to direct the activities of the Victorian 
State Branch in order to fulfil its objects. 

 
2. The Functions of the State Executive 

 
The functions of the State Executive are: 

 
(A) Strategy and Policy 

• Develop and review the Branch’s strategic directions, including 
defining the Branch's vision, mission and values 

• Monitor the implementation of the Branch's strategy 
• Evaluate proposals from Members to facilitate the objects of the Branch 

 
(B) Governance and Management 

• Review and approve the Branch's business plan 
• Monitor the implementation of the Branch's business plan 
• Approve budgets and other performance goals 
• Approve the financial and administrative governance framework for the Branch 
• Review and approve the Branch's approach to managing the Branch's business risk 
• Develop performance indicators for projects requiring State Executive budgetary 

delegation 
• Monitor Branch performance against agreed budgets and take corrective 

actions where   necessary. 
• Cultivate a climate amongst Members and stakeholders that nurtures a 

common sense of direction and commitment to achieving the Branch's 
objects and strategy. 

• Selection, approval, appointment and – where applicable – 
performance management, of the Chief Executive Officer, 
defining their delegations and remuneration package. 

• Approve the terms of reference for State Executive Committees. 
 

(C) Regulatory Compliance 
• Ensure, to their complete satisfaction, that Branch compliance efforts are fully 

aligned with its responsibilities under the Veterans Act 2005 (Vic), the Associations 
Incorporation Reform Act 2012 (Vic), the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Act 2012 (Cth) and all applicable regulations and laws relating to its 
activities 

• Review and approve the Branch’s compliance framework and programme 
• Require and monitor regulatory compliance by the Branch 
• Ensure that the Branch has adequate internal controls and appropriate 

monitoring of compliance activities 
• Ensure that satisfactory arrangements are in place for auditing the Branch’s 

financial affairs 
• Respond to, and cooperate with, external compliance agencies where 

applicable on behalf of the Branch  
 

(D) State Executive Effectiveness 
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• Regularly review and assess the performance of the State Executive, its composition 
and appointed responsibilities 

 
3. Membership of the State Executive 

 
The membership and composition of the State Executive will be in accordance with the 
Returned & Services League of Australia (Victorian Branch) Inc.  Rules (‘the Rules’, ‘the 
Constitution’). 

 
 
 
 
 

1 As specified in the the Constitution 
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4. State Executive Members 
 

(A) Duties 
In accordance with common law and statutory responsibilities, the duties of a 
State Executive Member include the following: 

 
• Duty to act in good faith in the best interests of the RSL and in 

particular the Victorian Branch Inc; 
• Duty to act with care and diligence; 
• Duty to avoid a conflict in the position of a State Executive Member 

and/or any interest that a State Executive Member may have. 
• State Executive Members owe a fiduciary duty, in accordance with the 

Act2 and common law, to the Branch. 
• State Executive Members are to exercise their respective duties and 

responsibilities in accordance with this Charter and the State Branch 
Constitution. 

 
(B) Conduct as a State Executive Member 
In execution of their duties as State Executive Members are required to meet the standards as 
set-down in ACNC Governance Standard 4: Suitability of Responsible Persons, and, pursuant 
to this requirement, must: 

 
• exercise independent judgment at all times; 
• obtain enough information to be satisfied with the State Executive's 

conclusions on the matters put before the State Executive; 
• keep confidential any information obtained as a result of their position 

as a State Executive Member; 
• observe "collective responsibility" once a decision is reached by the State Executive; 
• recognise that their actions may reflect on the Branch and their conduct 

must not be called into question; and 
• adhere to all codes of ethics, codes of conduct and standards of behaviour 

that apply to employees and members of the Branch. 
• Participate in any probity checks in regard to their appointment as a State 

Executive member 
 

(C) Statutory Compliance 

State Executive Members have an active and ongoing responsibility to ensure that they 
and the Branch are aware of, and comply with, all regulatory, legislative and legal 
requirements, including: 

 
• Incorporations Law; 
• Charities Law; 
• Tax and revenue laws; 
• Employment laws; 
• Trade practices and fair trading laws; 
• Environmental laws; 
• Criminal law; and 
• Other relevant codes. 

 
(D) Business Judgement 
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As a State Executive Member, business judgement is to be exercised in making 
decisions in relation to the business operations of the Branch. Business judgement 
requires State Executive Members to: 

 
 

2 Incorporated Associations Act 
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• make decisions in good faith for a proper purpose; 
• ensure they do not have a material, personal or business interest in the 

subject matter of a decision; 
• take steps to inform themselves on the subject matter of the decision to the 

extent that they reasonably believe to be appropriate; and 
• reasonably believe the decision is in the best interests of the Branch. 

 
(E) Training 

• State Executive Members should undertake appropriate training and 
professional development with respect to their responsibilities and 
accountabilities as Branch State Executive Members. 

• Where the State Executive Member does not receive remuneration from the 
Branch for duties as a State Executive Member, the Branch may pay for 
appropriate training and professional development (as approved by the State 
President or the Chief Executive Officer). 

• State Executive Members who do receive remuneration from the Branch 
for their duties as a State Executive Member, and undertake any training 
and professional development do so at their own expense. 

 
(F) State Executive Member Induction 
The Chief Executive Officer will provide to each new Member of the State Executive 
Member on their appointment, the following Branch documentation: 

 
• Victorian Branch and National Constitutions 
• State Executive Charter; 
• Branch Business Plan; 
• Branch’s most recent annual report; 
• Branch Code of Conduct; 
• details of the other State Executive Members and the Chief Executive 

Officer/Secretary; 
• State Executive Member Declaration of Personal and Business Interest 

Proforma (for completion and return); and 
• the forward meeting schedule of the State Executive and State 

Executive Committees. 
• New State Executive Members will also receive briefing from the State 

President and the Chief Executive Officer to ensure that the State Executive 
Member is fully conversant with the strategies and objectives of both the 
Branch and State Executive as well as any other relevant issues. 

• The Chief Executive Officer will brief the new State Executive Member on 
Branch statutory and administrative responsibilities and accountabilities, and 
ensure that all relevant documentation related to the appointment of a new 
State Executive Member is completed in accordance with statutory 
requirements. 

 
5. Meetings of the State Executive 
The following arrangements should apply to meetings of the State Executive: 

 
(A) Frequency of Meetings 
The State Executive will meet at least ten times a year on days and dates to be specified. 
The schedule of meetings for the ensuing year will normally be provided by the 30th 
November of the previous year. 
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Meetings at any other time may be convened by the State President in accordance with 
the State Branch Rules. 

 
(B) Cycle of Meetings 
The State Executive will follow a cycle of meetings on a financial year basis, 
concluding on the last day of June following the year of election of the State Executive. 

 
The cycle will commence with the State Executive's consideration of the strategy for the 
Branch for the year ahead. This would normally occur in the last quarter of the financial 
year immediately preceding the new business/financial(?) year. The process of strategy 
setting would normally involve the State Executive: 

 
• reviewing performance over the past year against agreed targets; 
• considering the operating environment for the Branch for the forthcoming year; 
• agreeing the strategies that need to be employed by the Branch to achieve its 

goals in the coming year; 
• setting the performance indicators and targets. 

 
(C) Regular Meetings of the State Executive 
The State President will settle the agenda for each meeting with the Chief Executive 
Officer. The Chief Executive Officer will consult with the State President and the other 
State Executive Members about items to be included on the agenda. 

 
Since July 2017, the State Executive has met as three distinct bodies. The first in its 
capacity as Trustee of the Sub-Branch Trusts; the second in its capacity as Trustee of 
the State Branch Trusts and the third as the Committee of Management of RSL Vic 
Branch Inc.  

 
The agenda for regular meetings of the State Executive will cover: 

 
• Confirmation of the agenda 
• Confirmation of the Minutes of the previous meeting 
• Matters arising from the Minutes 
• Review of State Executive Action Items 
• Review of financial performance 
• Business development issues 
• Strategic issues 
• Other issues 

 
(D) Meeting Papers 
Responsibility for coordinating meeting papers rests with the Chief Executive Officer. 
State Executive papers will be concise, stand-alone documents that present the 
information the State Executive will require to fully understand the issues being raised 
and, where required, to make an appropriately informed decision. 

 
The purpose of each State Executive paper should be clearly stated. This is particularly 
important in assisting State Executive Members to understand the author’s requirements 
and be appropriately prepared for State Executive meetings. State Executive papers are 
to be allocated into one of three distinct categories: 
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o information - papers aimed at keeping the State Executive informed of matters 
o decision - matters put forward that require the State Executive's decision 
o discussion and input - discussion of matters prior to final 

recommendations, for example, concept papers seeking the State 
Executive's input in the planning phase, rather than simply when a final 
decision is required. 

 
State Executive papers will: 

 
• be concise, accurate and easy to read, using "plain English" little or no 

technical jargon and a font size no less than 12 pt; 
• be carefully structured to provide all the required information in a 

succinct and logical manner; 
• utilise bullet points, which reinforce a concise writing style, in preference 

to long paragraphs; 
• utilise indicators tailored to the needs of the Branch which are reported 

consistently month on month; 
• include graphical and tabular analysis to summarise information, to 

facilitate understanding and to focus the readers attention; and 
• utilise titles on any graphs to reflect the message illustrated in the graphical 

analysis, for example, "Continuing favourable trends in revenue growth”. 
 

Papers are to be circulated electronically to State Executive Members no less than seven 
days prior to the scheduled meeting. 

 
(E) State Executive Secretary 
The Branch’s Chief Executive Officer is the State Executive Secretary. The State 
Executive Secretary will attend all meetings, and whilst having no voting rights in 
respect of State Executive decisions, will have the following responsibilities in respect 
of the State Executive's operations: 

 
• Provide assistance to the State Executive in ensuring statutory compliance 

with all regulatory, legislative and legal requirements by both the Branch 
and the State Executive; 

• Coordination, under the guidance of the State President, of State Executive 
meetings including time and location; 

• Coordination, under the guidance of the State President, of the State 
Executive agenda and papers, including their circulation to State 
Executive Members; 

• Recording of the discussions and decisions of the State Executive and the 
preparation of the draft State Executive minutes, amending as directed by 
the State President and State Executive; 

• Recording of action items arising from State Executive meetings and 
reporting on their completion to the State Executive; 

• Ensuring the attendance/availability of non-State Executive Members as 
may be required by the State Executive, including the Branch’s 
management team and advisers; 

• Sourcing and making available specialist advice; 
• Advising on and working with the State President to enhance State 

Executive practices and procedures; 
• Maintaining statutory records and forms in accordance with legal requirements; 
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• Keeping abreast of and informing State Executive Members of any 
changes to legislative requirements or governance expectations; and 

• Retention of the papers and minutes of the State Executive. 
(F) Minutes 
The State Executive Secretary shall arrange for minutes to be taken of each State 
Executive meeting Minutes will include the: 

 
• Branch’s name and ABN; 
• meeting location; 
• date and opening and closing time of the meeting, 
• list of all attendees at the meeting (including observers and advisers and 

whether they were present for all or part of the meeting); and 
• details of all resolutions and discussions. 

 
Minutes are to be clear, concise, well structured and unambiguous and must clearly set 
out the decisions the State Executive, or Committee, made during the course of the 
meeting and reflect the consensus nature, or otherwise, of State Executive decisions. 
They should also clearly evidence the process the State Executive has worked through 
in reaching its decisions, including any additional information requested or on which the 
State Executive relied which is not included in the State Executive papers. It is not 
normally expected that minutes will be a verbatim record of the meeting. 

 
Draft minutes will be prepared by the Chief Executive Officer and submitted to the 
State President for review and amendment as appropriate. Subsequent to review by the 
State President, the draft minutes will be circulated to Members of the State Executive 
within fourteen days after the conduct of a meeting. Minutes will be certified at the next 
meeting, with any amendments agreed by the State Executive, at the next meeting of the 
State Executive. 

 
(G) Meetings Action Items 
The State Executive may identify additional information it requires, initiatives it would 
like management to implement or other matters for management action or attention. 

 
In order to keep track of these matters, an action items list should be maintained by the 
State Executive Secretary, updated after each meeting and distributed along with the 
minutes of the meeting. The list will include a brief description of the action to be taken, 
cross referenced to the relevant item in the minutes, the responsible person and the date 
by which the action is to be completed. 

 
(H) Meetings Not Involving the Chief Executive Officer 
The appointed Members of the State Executive may meet to discuss issues without the 
Chief Executive Officer being present when this is appropriate. This would include 
meetings to discuss the performance of the Chief Executive Officer . 

 
During such discussions, the State President will delegate a State Executive Member to 
minute the discussion and any decisions reached. 

 
(I) State Executive Papers and Minutes Retention 
All papers and certified minutes of the Branch State Executive will be retained by the 
Chief Executive Officer at the Headquarters of the State Branch for a period of not less 
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than seven years from the date of the meeting. The certified minutes are to be bound and 
retained in perpetuity. 
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6. State Executive Member Conflict of Interest 
 

State Executive Members must exercise their power and discharge their duties in good faith in 
the best interests of the Branch and for a proper purpose. 

 
(A) Disclosure 
A State Executive Member who has a material, personal or business interest in a matter, 
which relates to the Branch or a Sub-Branch, must give the other State Executive 
Members notice of that interest. 

 
(B) Annual Declaration 
A State Executive Member, upon election/appointment as a State Executive Member 
and annually thereafter, will provide to the Chief Executive Officer, a declaration of 
personal, business and pecuniary interests. The Chief Executive Officer will table the 
declarations at the next State Executive meeting and will ensure that the extent of the 
disclosures is included in the minutes of the State Executive meeting. 

 
The Chief Executive Officer will arrange for an annual questionnaire to be circulated to 
all State Executive Members to ensure that all general disclosures are kept up to date. 

 
(C) Changes in Personal or Business Interest 
Where a State Executive Member's personal, business and pecuniary interests, or the 
nature and extent of interest change, the State Executive Member is to provide a written 
notice to the Chief Executive Officer before the next State Executive meeting. The State 
Executive Secretary will ensure that the written details of the disclosure are distributed 
immediately to State Executive Members and then tabled at the next State Executive 
meeting. He will also ensure that the nature and extent of the disclosure is recorded in 
the minutes of the State Executive meeting. 

 
(D) Voting Where there is a Personal or Business Interest 
If a State Executive Member has a material, personal or business interest in a matter, 
then that State Executive Member must not be present whilst the matter is being 
considered at the meeting or vote is being taken in relation to that matter. The State 
Executive Member must leave the meeting prior to any discussion in relation to the 
subject and the Chief Executive Officer must have previously ensured that the State 
Executive Member has not received the relative State Executive papers. 

 
A State Executive Member may present a proposal, such as an investment or property 
proposal, to the State Executive, but must not be present at the meeting when any 
discussion or vote in relation to the proposal takes place. 

 
A State Executive Member may be present and vote if the State Executive Members 
who do not have a material, personal or business interest in the matter have discussed 
the matter and passed a resolution that the disclosed interest should not disqualify the 
State Executive Member from either the voting or being present. The State Executive 
Member with the interest is not to be present during such discussion and vote. 
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(E) Access to State Executive Papers Where there is a Personal or Business Interest 
Where a State Executive Member is aware that a matter in which they may have a 
material, personal or business interest, they must advise the State President of that 
possibility. The State President must then advise the Chief Executive Officer that the 
State Executive papers which relate to the material, personal or business interest are not 
released to that State Executive Member until the remainder of the State Executive 
resolves otherwise. 

 
7. Meeting Attendance 

 
State Executive Members are required to attend all meetings of the State Executive in person. 
Where a State Executive Member is unable to attend the meeting in person, he may attend, 
with prior approval of the State President, by means of an alternative method of 
communication, such as telephone or other telecommunication medium. 

 
If a State Executive Member is unable to attend a State Executive meeting, the State 
Executive Member is to advise the Chief Executive Officer by no later than an hour before the 
scheduled commencement of the meeting. 

 
Observers or advisers may only attend State Executive or State Executive Committee 
meetings (including where a State Executive Member attends via telephone) with the prior 
approval of the State President. Such approval is to be sought at least twenty-four hours prior 
to the scheduled commencement of the meeting. 

 
Observers or advisers may be asked to leave a State Executive meeting by the State President 
during discussion of any particular matter and they shall comply with all such requests. 

 
8. State Executive Decision Making 

 
All decisions of the State Executive will be on the basis of a simple majority of State 
Executive Members present at the State Executive meeting, with each present State Executive 
Member having a single value vote. Votes will be undertaken by a show of hands. 

 
State Executive Members with a declared conflict of interest are not to be present during 
voting on matters.   

 
Once a motion is passed or defeated, the State Executive will act as one in accordance with 
the resolution of the State Executive outside the State Executive meeting. 

 
9. State Executive Confidentiality 

 
Unless the State President advises in writing prior to a meeting, or it is resolved by the State 
Executive at a meeting, all discussions and papers of the State Executive will be deemed 
"State Executive-in-Confidence" and all papers of the State Executive will be marked 
appropriately. 

 
This does not preclude Members of the State Executive discussing matters with non-State 
Executive Members to assist them in determining a position on a particular matter, but State 
Executive papers are not to be distributed to others (including consultants and advisers) or 
State Executive discussions reported without the expressed approval of the State President. 
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The State Executive is not a General Meeting of the RSL Victorian Branch. The State Executive 
have determined that its minutes will not be widely distributed but a summary of them will be 
available to the RSL network within three weeks of the State Executive meeting.  

  
10. Representation of the Branch 
The State President will make all media and public statements representing the State 
Executive and Branch, unless the State President delegates this responsibility to another State 
Executive Member, the Chief Executive Officer or other member of the Branch’s 
management. 

 
A State Executive Member, other than the State President, may not make any statement to the 
media or public – including via social media – as a representative of the Branch without the 
prior approval of the State President. No member of the management of the Branch may 
make any statement to the media or public, as a representative of the Branch without the 
prior approval of the State President. 
 
Should a State Executive Member, other than the State President, be found to have made any 
statement in regard to the Branch – including social media – this may result in disciplinary 
procedures as defined by the Constitution.  

 
11. Developing the Strategic Business Plan for the Branch 
The Branch requires a strategic business plan with a five year planning horizon which 
provides annual performance targets for the Branch and which is reviewed and revised 
annually. The State Executive should establish a business planning process that: 

 
o Reviews strategic options in a challenging environment; 
o Assesses the operating environment covered by the planning period, with a strong 

focus on the changes which the Branch will encounter and the identification of the 
critical strategic issues; 

o Develops appropriate key performance indicators which will measure the success of 
the Branch; 

o Develops and applies an effective budget and financial control framework 
o Is sufficiently robust to consider an appropriate range of alternatives and to assess 

them fully; 
o Involves key stakeholders and people critical to successful implementation; 
o Addresses the implementation issues and processes; 
o Develops an appropriate process for monitoring implementation, including agreed 

metrics related to the key performance indicators; 
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12. Engagement of Specialist Advice 
 

The State Executive membership is not currently skill based but representative based and as 
such the State Executive and State Executive Members will require additional specialist 
advice from time to time. 

 
Specialist advisers or consultants to the State Executive cannot be engaged (at the cost of the 
Branch) without the approval of the State President. Where an engagement will exceed fifty 
thousand dollars, the engagement must be approved by the full State Executive. Advisers and 
consultants, who are approved, will be engaged by the Chief Executive Officer on the State 
Executive's behalf. 

 
At the discretion of the State President, written advice on a matter will be circulated to all 
State Executive Members. 

 
13. Identification and Management of Business Risks 

 
The State Executive should ensure that the Branch has in place an appropriate framework for 
the identification and management of business risks. A formal risk assessment should be 
undertaken at an early stage, with appropriate involvement from the Chief Executive Officer, 
State Executive Members, the Branch’s management and other relevant stakeholders. The 
State Executive should ensure that: 

 
o The risks to achieving the Branch’s business objectives/goals are identified, assessed 

and managed in accordance with the Australian Standard on Risk Management; 
o Specific action is taken to manage significant risks identified in this process; and 
o Risks are monitored and reviewed on a regular basis. 

 
14. Development of Policies for the Branch 
The State Executive should assure itself to its complete satisfaction that the activities of the 
Branch are covered by appropriately  documented policies for the governance and 
management of RSL Victoria and its related head office entities.   The State Executive 
requires that all policies are included in the Branch’s standard operating procedures and are 
freely available, understood in their application and are subject to bi-annual review by the 
relevant sub-committee.  

 
 

ROB WEBSTER OAM  
State President  































Bylaw 22-1 
 

Repealed 29/5/25 

Branch By-Law 22 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(Reserved) 
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